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PREFACE.

As the history of even the most uneventful life, when
faithfully recorded, must always contain some matter de-
serving notice, I venture, with all humility, to express a
hope that in the following plain unvarnished sketch of the
career of an Indian Officer from Cadet to Governor, there
may be found some scenes described, some incidents related,
which may be deemed of sufficient interest to induce its
readers to pardon my presumption in presenting it to the

Public.






TO MY DEAR WIFE

This BHook 1s Dedicated,

GRATEFUL RECOLLECTION OF THE DEVOTED CARE TO WHICH,
AIDED BY THE PROFESSIONAL SKILL AND
UNREMITTING ATTENTION OF A MUCH LAMENTED COMRADE,
I OWE MY RESTORATION TO HEALTH,

AFTER HAVING BEEN TWICE DANGEROUSLY WOUNDED BY ROUND SHOT

ORFEUR CAVENAGH.

Long DitToN, 22 July, 1882,
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My Indian career was the result of a conversation which I
casually overheard, in which a lady visitor, who had been
in the East, depicted in glowing terms all the pleasures of
an Indian life, and descanted upon the opportunities for
advancement which the East India Company’s service
offered to the soldier. Instead, therefore, of waiting to be
admitted to Woolwich, for which my name had been placed
on the list of the Master-General of the Ordnance, in July,
1835, being then fourteen years of age, through the kindness
of the late Mr. Stewart Marjoribanks, I obtained a nomina-
tion to the Company’s military college at Addiscombe, which
I almost immediately entered as a gentleman cadet.
B
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Except as regards the study of classics and of foreign
languages, viz., French and Hindustani, of which we really
learnt little or nothing, the education imparted at Addis-
combe was of a sound and useful character, well fitted for
youngsters about to enter a military service. But the time
spent at the college, four terms, was too short to admit, as
a rule, of any cadet, who had not previously gone through
the course at a preparatory school, obtaining one of the two
great prizes given at each examination, viz., commissions in
the Engineers. Promotion in the Indian Artillery was, at
that time, so slow that it was considered a question whether
there was any advantage in joining that corps. A small
detachment of Sappers and Miners was attached to the
College, and the cadets were practically, as well as theoreti-
cally, instructed in all branches of military engineering
science. They were also well drilled both as artillery and
infantry, and discipline was strictly enforced on parade, an
hour’s extra drill being the punishment for the slightest
irregularity. The only defect in the management of the
cadets was the system of espionage established over them
when outside the grounds, by the means of staff sergeants.
Many a youngster who, when out on a long boating or
walking excursion and needing refreshment, would have
cone to some respectable hotel and quietly taken a biscuit and
glass of ale, to which there could not have been the slightest
objection, was induced to enter some second-rate public house,
toss off a glass of spirits, and rush out again, partly out of
fear and partly out of bravado, in defiance of the sergeants,
who in this matter were looked upon as the cadet’s natural
enemies. If smoking, moreover, had been simply dis-
couraged instead of prohibited, in all probability, as regards
the junior cadets, it would have been effectually checked by
the good sense of the seniors, many of whom were young
men between nineteen and twenty. The age of admission
was from fourteen to eighteen. Perhaps it would have
been better in some respects if the limit had been from six-
teen to eighteen; but if a boy is to adopt the military pro-
fession, it is advisable to bring him under the trammels of
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discipline at an early age; if subjected to them for the first
time later in life, they often become irksome, and the
necessity for strict obedience to orders is not duly recog-
nised ; hence a spirit of discontent is engendered which is
certainly not advantageous either to the individual or to the
service. A lad of eighteen or nineteen can be well grounded
in all the principal subjects which comprise what is styled
a liberal education, whilst there is nothing to prevent his
completing his studies by a course of reading after he has
entered the service.

Although the limits of age were never changed, with the
view of inducing youngsters to defer entering the College
until they were sixteen years of age, latterly the Court of
Directors sanctioned all time after that age passed at Addis-
combe being counted as actual service in India. After re-
maining four terms at Addiscombe, where I distinguished
myself chiefly as an actress, Ophelia in Hamlet having
been one of my parts, I passed out second in the list for the
infantry, at the public examination held on the 12th June,
1837, and the September following embarked for India in
the good ship Duke of Buccleugh, fully resolved to win my
way to the rank of General and K.C.B. “L’homme pro-
pose mais Dieu dispose;”’ in my case the disposing power
would seem to have been a Secretary of State, apparently
caring little for justice orlegality, provided he could indulge
his love of patronage.

The voyage passed without the occurrence of any incident
of special interest. Of course a shark was duly caught,
we were becalmed on the line, and passing round the Cape
there was a good deal of firing at albatrosses and Cape
pigeons.

On the 16th of December we anchored off Fort William,
and it is something to be said for the much abused climate
of India that of nine young officers who then landed at Cal-
cutta six are still alive, two only died from disease, and one
was killed at Cawnpore. We duly reported our arrival to
Major C—————, the fort adjutant, of whom the following
story is told. He was out with a party on a shooting ex-
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pedition, when leaning forward to fire at a tiger, either the
front of his howdah gave way, or he overbalanced himself
and fell upon the infuriated beast. IBefore his companions
could fire, the tiger seized him just above one ankle, threw
him over its back as a fox seizes a goose, and carried him
off into the depths of the jungle. For the moment he lost
his senses, but upon regaining his consciousness he remem-
bered that he had two small pistols in his pocket; he took
out one, and placing it to the tiger’s side, fired. An extra
craunch of the foot was the only result. He now had but
one more chance. He coolly felt for the beating of the
animal’s heart, and having ascertained its exact position, dis-
charged his second pistol, this time with good effect. The
tiger fell dead. The Major fainted, and was found by his
friends lying by his enemy’s dead body ; although much
shaken and incurably lamed, he lived for many years, and
retired from the service.

After making our bows to the Major, we were conducted
by a sergeant to the cadets’ barrack, and shown our rooms.
These each consisted of four bare walls, with one corner
divided off by a brick partition, about two feet in height,
to serve as a rather primitive bath room. Here certainly
there was no appearance of Eastern luxury. Our cabin fur-
niture having been transferred to these gorgeous apartments,
we repaired to the mess room, which was furnished with
chairs and tables, and where three plentiful meals were pro-
vided daily at the rate of two rupees per diem. No super-
vision was exercised over the cadets. The Fort Adjutant,
who was also superintendent, never made his appearance
amongst us, and considering that the majority were mere
boys, it was very creditable that the proceedings were so
orderly and the mess so well regulated.

At the expiration of mearly a month’s residence in the
fort, during which, through the kindness of friends of one
or two of my brother cadets, I had some experience of old
Indian hoépitality, and also enjoyed an occasional ride on
the gay Calcutta course, which, owing to the numerous
military uniforms and the mixture of Asiatic and European
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costumes, was in those days, and I presume still is, a most
picturesque scene, the roadway being thronged with hand-
some equipages, amongst them, however, here and there a
most primitive vehicle, filled with Bengali Baboos,and dash-
ing equestrians, whilst the river along which it runs was
crowded with stately Indiamen and native craft of every
description, on the 9th of January I embarked with three
others on a two months’ voyage to Allahabad, in the Upper
Provinces, where we were to do duty until finally posted to
our regiments. We had engaged two DBudgerows, boats
having a raised poop divided into three compartments—
pantry, dining saloon, and sleeping cabin, with venetian
blinds to be raised or lowered at pleasure, well suited for a
tropical climate. They were propelled by oars or sails, or
if the current was strong and there was no breeze, towed by
their crews from the bank.

Considering how utterly new we were to the country, and
that we were all mere thoughtless boys full of life and spirit,
it was wonderful how well we progressed, and that no acci-
dent befell us. The journey was somewhat monotonous,
being only diversified by the appearance of a passing
steamer, an occasional shot at an alligator, or an expedition
i search of game, never very successful, as we could not
leave the immediate vicinity of the river, where Paddy
birds alone were to be seen.

Our first day’s journey brought us to Barrackpore, an ex-
tensive cantonment for native troops, close to the Governor-
General’s country residence. Then passing Burhampore,
where we were hospitably received by the officers of the
65th regiment, Rajmahal, where we wandered about the
ruins, and Monghyr, where we invested in specimens of
native cutlery for which it used to be famous, on the 11th
of February we safely moored off Dinapore, a large military
station.

On reporting our arrival we were informed that we had
all been posted to regiments, and that three of us, myself
included, would have to retrace our steps, our corps being
in the Lower Provinces. After a couple of days’ rest I started
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on my fresh journey, and on the lst of March arrived at
the old town of Daceca, in the neighbourhood of which my
regiment, the 32nd, was stationed.

The town, including the greater number of the residences
of the European community, is situated on the bank of a
broad river, the Borhi Gunga, and has a very imposing
appearance ; the cantonments were then about a mile inland,
and close to the edge of a swamp, which rendered them
unhealthy and eventually led to their removal.

I was kindly welcomed by my brother officers, and met
with a hospitable reception from the colonel, in whose house I
remained until the arrival of a fellow ensign, with whom I
arranged to hire a small bungalow, where, with the aid of our
cabin furniture and a few camp chairs and tables procured
in the bazaar, we were soon comfortably established.

During my stay at Dacca I was fortunate in enjoying an
opportunity of taking a part in a grand battfue. A large
herd of wild buffaloes had taken up their quarters in an
extensive island up the river. Our party landed at one end,
where about 100 elephants had been assembled, eight carried
howdahs, the remainder acted as beaters. A line having
been formed, we proceeded steadily through the long grass,
the herd retreating before us until they reached the other
extremity of the island. Some took to the water and swam
to the main land, but about fifty turned and resolutely
charged our line. The scene was most exciting as, mad
with rage and fear, they came dashing towards us through
the grass and reeds. Their rush was splendid, and one of
our elephants was actually brought down on its knees. A
few of the buffaloes escaped, but the majority were disabled
and subsequently despatched. Although tigers were known
to exist in the neighbourhood of the station, and I accom-
panied one or two expeditions in search of them, they were
not successful.

In addition to the performance of my ordinary military
duties, I was, on three occasions, despatched to the neigh-
bouring station of Tipperah on treasure escort duty. As
roads were almost unknown in lower Bengal, communica-
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tion was by water. The company to which I was attached
consequently embarked in a small fleet of native boats, and
sailing down the river, crossed the Megna near its mouth,
where it becomes a perfect sea, and cventually entered the
Goomti, a narrow and winding stream with picturesque
native villages on its banks. In some places it was so tor-
tuous that, after journeying all day, we never seemed to
lose sight of our starting-place. So long as the detach-
ment had no treasure under its charge, the trip was a very
pleasant one. After detailing a guard every morning for
each boat, there was no necessity for remaining with the
fleet, and I strolled inland with my gun, feeling perfectly
certain that, in the event of my coming to any obstacle,
such as a swamp or deep nullah, which I should have diffi-
culty in crossing, I should find some of my men, who used,
if they did not accompany me, to keep a good look out to
prevent my meeting with any accident, in readiness to carry
me over. Of course, when once the boxes of treasure, duly
weighed and counted, were delivered into my charge, shoot-
ing expeditions were at an end, and I remained on perpetual
duty until I resigned them, the process of weighing and
counting being repeated, into the safe custody of the col-
lector at the Dacca treasury.

Although the practice of remitting surplus revenue from
one district to another, in specie instead of by bills, seems
rather an antiquated proceeding, the duty of escorting
treasure afforded a good training to the officers of the
Indian army. A young subaltern, if in charge of a com-
pany, found himself flung completely upon his own re-
sources, whilst he was placed in a position of serious
responsibility, for he had not only to adopt proper military
measures to secure the safety of his charge, in the event of
an attack, but also, when travelling by water, to see that
due precautions were taken to prevent the loss of any of
his boats through being caught in a squall whilst crossing
the large rivers, or being driven from their moorings when
seeking shelter under the lee of the bank.

Having prosecuted my studies in the native languages
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with the aid of the Regimental Instructor, a very prosy
old gentleman, who generally went to sleep whilst I was
reading, but woke up in time to correct my exercises, on
the 3rd May, 1841, I obtained leave for the purpose of pro-
ceeding to Calcutta to undergo my examination at the
College of Fort William. The commencement of my voyage
was certainly unpropitious. Whilst crossing a broad river,
called the Delaserry, I was caught in a most violent storm,
and compelled to return to the side I had just left, but this
being the lee shore, the boat was exposed to the full fury of
the wind and waves, and was swamped and sunk just as I
reached the shallow water. Fortunately, when the violence
of the storm somewhat abated, I was enabled to get it
hauled up on terra firma, and having caused the water to
be bailed out, again embarked, and, crossing the river,
sought shelter for the night in a small creck. Kvery
article on board was completely saturated, books, bonnets,
ladies’ dresses, and other things, which I had taken charge
of to convey for friends to Calcutta, utterly ruined. No
dry clothes to put on, nor a dry bed to sleep upon; whilst,
among other annoyances, when solacing myself with the
thoughts of obtaining a cup of good tea from the contents
of my canteen, I found that my stupid servant had left the
tin canisters, belonging to the canteen, and expressly in-
tended to preserve the tea and sugar from suffering from
exposure to damp, at my bungalow at Dacca, placing paper
packages in its vacant compartments. Both tea and sugar
were therefore utterly unfit for use, and I passed a somewhat
uncomfortable night. Fortunately, the next day was fine, and
I therefore occupied myself in opening my boxes, and spread-
ing out all my clothes to dry. The third day I reached the
station of Furreedpore, where I met with a hospitable recep-
tion from an old friend, and, after two days’ rest, was
enabled to continue my journey in somewhat better plight
than when I arrived.

In due course I reached Calcutta, and made my appear-
ance before the examiners at the college, and in the month
of June I had the satisfaction of receiving an official mis-
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sive, informing me that I was considered duly qualified to
discharge the duties of interpreter to a native regiment.
As there was no prospect of the interpretership becoming
vacant in the 52nd, I accordingly waited on the Commander-
in-Chief, Sir Jasper Nicholls, and boldly urged my claims to
succeed to a vacancy, which I knew must soon occur in
another corps. The old gentleman seemed rather astonished
at my request, and told me that I was very young to ask
for a staff appointment; and when I represented that I
hoped he would consider my fitness, not my age, he was
evidently amused, and our conversation ended by my receiv-
ing a favourable reply. At the same time a brother officer,
my senior, found himself posted as interpreter to the Sth
Light Cavalry in Afghanistan. He was mnot desirous of
leaving the Provinces, and would have resigned in my favour,
as I rather liked the idea of crossing the Indus; but he was
afraid lest his resignation might prove detrimental to his
future interests. We accordingly decided the question by
tossing up a rupee; fate decided against the change. He
proceeded to Caubul, and was supposed to bave been killed
at the massacre in the Jugdulluck pass. I rejoined my corps
at Dacca, and the following month was appointed interpreter
to the 41st Regiment at Benares, the corps for which I had
applied. :

The judge at Dacca, a kind-hearted and courteous old
civilian, the type of the ancient Qui Hai, was much liked
and esteemed by the natives, and, indeed, by all classes.
The magistrate, an active, energetic man, was, however,
very apt to act in a high-handed and arbitrary manner;
owing, if I remember right, to several robberies having
been committed, and the offenders remaining undetected,
he issued an order that mo native was to be allowed out
of his house after a certain hour of the night, on pain of
being taken up by the police. Ome of the first persons
arrested under the operation of this rule was the judge’s
valet. On being asked his excuse for disobeying the order,
he stated that he was simply proceeding to his home, after
assisting his master to undress, and that he could not, there-
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fore, leave sooner; upon which the magistrate coolly re-
marked, ¢ In that case, your master must go to bed earlier.”
This led to the matter being brought to the judge’s notice,
and the order had at once to be rescinded.

During my residence at the station, a lady having lost
a valuable ring, under circumstances which left no doubt
as to its having been stolen by one of: her servants, was
advised to have them subjected to the ordeal by rice. A
diviner was accordingly summoned, but his services were
not needed, for, upon his arrival, when the servants were
called to appear before him, the ring was suddenly produced
by the lady’s maid, whose loud asseverations as to her inno-
cence had previously excited suspicion. She declared she
had just found it in the dirty clothes bag, where it was
generally supposed she had previously placed it, being afraid
to submit to the proposed test. The ordeal consists in
requiring all the persons suspected of theft to chew a
small quantity of rice, made over to them after certain
incantations. Kach person is then called upon to deposit
the contents of his mouth upon a tray in a distinct heap.
The heaps are then inspected by the wise man, who, from
this examination, is believed to be able to point out the cul-
prit ; the real secret being that, as a rule, the guilty party
1s 8o terrified that his mouth becomes parched, and his rice
is found to be nearly dry from the want of saliva to
moisten it.

Early in August I quitted Dacca, where my sojourn had
been a very pleasant one ; at that season the whole of lower
Bengal was under water, the villages appearing like small
islands in the midst of a great sea. For days together I
sailed through or over a wide expanse of rice fields, and it
was not until I approached Rajmahal that I was enabled to
land. Wherever I found sufficient dry ground to admit of
my taking a ride I indulged in a gallop, which my horse
enjoyed as much as myself. He was always eager to start,
and became quite proficient in jumping in and out of his
boat. It was not until the 22nd of October, the monotony
of the voyage having been, however, broken by two short
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visits to friends at Bhagulpore and Dinapore stations en
route, that I arrived at Benares. Hardly had I taken up
my appointment when the corps was warned for field ser-
vice on the Nepal frontier, and ordered to Goruckpore. My
time was therefore fully occupied in preparing the necessary
indents for camp equipage, carriage, provisions, &c. I was,
however, enabled to pay a visit to the Holy City. It was on
the occasion of a Hindoo festival. The houses were all
lighted up, and the inhabitants seated in their verandahs or
thronging the narrow streets. The effect was very strik-
ing.

My new commanding officer was one of the old school.
He was a gallant soldier, and at the assault of Bhurtpore,
whilst suffering from an attack of gout, he took his place at
the head of his company, accompanied the storming party,
and was literally carried up the breach by the sepoys. On
parade he was often very choleric. On one occasion he
applied to the second in command an expletive, which the
latter, a first rate officer, most efficient in the discharge of
his duty, was determined not to allow to pass unnoticed.
When the parade was dismissed and officers called to the
front, he addressed the colonel, and in the most respectful
manner pointed out that no gentleman could submit to such
language as he had used towards him, and consequently he
felt it incumbent on him to make a representation on the
subject to higher authority. The old gentleman was some-
what taken aback. He was not, however, easily discon-
certed, and to our astonishment at once asserted that Captain
H — was labouring under a mistake, as the remarks that
had given him umbrage had been addressed to himself, upon
which the Captain quietly observed, * Of course, sir, if you
d d your own eyes, and not mine, I have nothing further
to say on the matter.” The rebuke had a good effect, and
the langnage on the parade ground became much more
guarded.

As may be supposed, the Colonel was of a hasty tempera-
ment, and consequently apt to issue verbal orders without
sufficiently weighing the consequences. I soon discovered
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that it was often essential to remember the old proverb
“ Litera scripta manet.” On one occasion, shakoes of a new
pattern having been ordered to be gradually introduced into
the service, he directed me, when writing for a few required
for recruits, to order a supply for the whole regiment. 1
pointed out that they could not be issucd to the men, as
their old ones were still serviceable, whilst 1 could not be
responsible for their safe custody in my store room, as I had
neither sufficient space for their reception nor a sufficient
establishment to take proper care of them during the rainy
season. He recognised the validity of my objection, but
stated that they could be deposited in the different bells of
arms, where they would be under the charge of captains of
companies, who would be held responsible for them. On my
return to my own quarters I embodied his instructions in a
note, which I forwarded to him, stating that to prevent mis-
conception I should be glad to know whether I had rightly
interpreted his wishes. The reply was in the affirmative.
Some time after my connection with the regiment had
ceased I received a note from my successor, calling npon me
to pay a large sum to replace shakoes that had been found
damaged by moth and rust. He stated that at the Colonel’s
suggestion he wrote privately to prevent any public record
of what might appear to be neglect on my part. In answer,
I requested that he would address me officially, when I
would supply him with a copy of the correspondence between
the colonel and myself on the subject of the shakoes. No
further communication ever reached me.

The sergeant-major of the regiment was a plucky little
Irishman, who had displayed great coolness when with the
Nusseeree battalion. He was drilling some recruits, when a
tiger charged across the parade ground straight at him. He
immediately dropped on one knee, and prepared to receive
cavalry. The beast, not relishing the point of the bayonet,
made a spring over it, cleared the sergeant, merely knocking
off his shakoe with one of its hind paws, and continued its
course into the neighbouring jungle.

On the 15th of November we commenced our march,



March to Nepal Frontier. 13

and as the task of marking out the encamping grounds,
procuring supplies, and seeing that proper arrangements
were made for crossing the different rivers devolved upon
me as quarter-master, I soon became initiated in a very
important branch of a staff officer’s duties. During the
cold weather a march in India was full of enjoyment;
it combined the pleasures of a daily picnic and change of
scene with the comforts of home life. Married officers
generally had two tents, whilst two bachelors chummed
together, so as to admit of one tent being always sent
on in advance to the mnext halting-place. The first bugle
ordinarily sounded between two and three in the morn-
ing; then sleep was at an end, for a perfect babel of
sounds commenced; elephants trumpeting, camels lugu-
briously groaning as a protest against being burthened with
their loads, horses neighing, or occasionally screaming, when
some pugnacious pony got loose, dogs howling, tent-pegs
resounding with the blows showered npon them, cart-wheels
creaking, and, over all, the hum of a busy crowd, inter-
spersed occasionally with the shrill cries of women and
children, or the hoarse emanations from some manly throat,
whose owner indulged in objurgations against his domestics
for failing to bring the coffee and biscuit necessary to sus-
tain the inner man before enduring the fatigues of the
march, or upon finding, when about to don his martial
attire, that some necessary article had been mislaid; how-
ever, by degrees order springs out of chaos and quiet
prevails. The regiment is formed up, and the march com-
mences. Until dawn the air is sharp and bracing, for pools
by the wayside have a thin covering of ice ; mounted officers
are, therefore, glad to dismount and keep up the circulation
by a brisk walk. After marching six or seven miles there
is a short halt. By this time it is daybreak, and the sun
soon becomes powerful. A further trudge for two hours,
and one is glad to hear the welcome sound of the dugdugi,
a small drum played by the Fakir, who ordinarily accom-
panies a native regiment, and seats himself by the side of
the road, about a quarter of a mile from camp. Ranks are
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now re-formed and, in parade order, the regiment rcaches its
new ground, and is dismissed.

After hasty ablutions there is a rush to the mess-tent,
where a plentiful repast is provided, and done justice to, for
the fresh morning air gives every one an appetite. Kven
on a bare plain a native cook manages, with the aid of
some primitive cooking utensils and a few holes scooped in
the ground, to prepare a meal that would not disgrace a
professed chef, with all -the appliances of close range, hot
stove, and a grand array of pots and pans, and certainly far
superior to that sent in by the plain cook of ordinary
English households.

After the postprandial cheroot—the hookah disappeared
soon after I entered the service—some lounge about, write
letters, or play chess, whilst the sportsmen sally out in
search of game to add to the contents of the larder. In
most parts of India quail, partridges, and hares are to be
found amongst the fields under cultivation, and snipe and
wild duck in the neighbourhood of the nearest piece of
water, which is generally not very far off, whilst in some
districts florican are to be met with. The natives of Upper
India, though tenacious of their rights, if treated with
kindness and civility, not only do not object to officers
shooting on their lands, but will often take the trouble to
point out the spots where game is likely to be discovered.
Good sportsmen rarely return with an empty bag. Tired
after the day’s work, all are glad to hear the dinner call,
which sounds at an early hour, and by nine o’clock the
camp is plunged in deep reposs, disturbed only by the
challenge of a sentry, the snoring of native servants, who,
with their heads enveloped in numerous wraps, whilst their
bodies are scantily clothed and exposed to the cold air,
stretch themselves under the flys of their masters’ tents,
or perhaps the howling of some wretched cur, who amuses
himself by baying at the moon, until, amidst a volley of
curses, both loud and deep, and a shower of missiles of every
description, he is induced to shift his quarters.

On our arrival at Goruckpore we received instructions
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to halt until further orders. We therefore remained under
canvas until March, when, matters having been satisfactorily
arranged with the Nepal Durbar, the corps moved into
the cantonments then vacated by the 4th Regiment Native
Infantry. During the period we were in camp the troops
were inspected by the General of the division, and, at the
review of our regiment, an accident occurred which shows
that blank ammunition cannot always be encountered with-
out some risk. An officer, riding some little distance in
front of a line of skirmishers, was struck with the head of
a cartridge containing a small portion of gunpowder, which,
probably owing to its being damp, had not ignited. A clean
hole was made through his coat, and the cartridge pene-
trated into the flesh, inflicting a painful wound.

From one of the villages we passed on the march a hand-
some pariah dog followed the regiment, and attached him-
self to the corps. He became a favourite with the officers;
and after we had been halted for some days, we were sur-
prised at hearing that he had disappeared. A short interval
elapsed, when he returned, bringing with him a companion.
Leaving the latter outside, to make friends for himself,
which he proceeded to do by fawning in the most abject
manner upon all our canine pets, he boldly entered the
mess-tent, and took up his old position. It was clear that,
finding himself well treated, he had returned to his home,
crossing two large rivers on his journey, and persuaded his
friend to accompany him, and then, having conducted him
to the proper spot, he considered that his task was com-
pleted, and left him to make his way by his own merits.

A Christian village, of which the inhabitants consisted
principally of persons who, as children, had been rescued
from starvation during the famine, had been established in
a not very healthy locality in the district. The charge of
this village devolved upon the Missionary, a very quiet little
man, who performed the duties of chaplain; on Bishop
Wilson’s visiting Goruckpore, he was waiting at the
magistrate’s residence to receive his chief. To his astonish.
ment, he was saluted with the remark—‘The devil is
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looking after you, Mr. L .7 His Lordship then con.
tinued, “The devil sees that you are a good man, and
making a strong fight against him. He therefore wishes to
get rid of you, and consequently induces you to pay fre-
quent visits to the Christian village, in the hope that you
may suffer from the malaria, be attacked with fever, and
die. But you must do the devil. Don’t go so often into
the jungle, and always take proper precautions to guard
against illness.”

As there was fine sport of every description, including
unmistakably good coursing, to be found in the neighbour-
hood, whilst the residents of the station were extremely
hospitable—what with shooting and boating excursions,
picnics to Doman Ghur, a picturesque island some few miles
from cantonments, and charades in the evening, we passed
our time very agreeably. My duties not being very onerous,
I occasionally prepared translations of criminal papers for
the Thuggee officer. Omne of the cases which thus came
under my cognizance was certainly an instance of the
engineer being hoist by his own petard.

A sepoy from aregiment in Bengal, whilst travelling home
on furlough, when entering a village on the banks of the
Ganges, was accosted by one of the inhabitants, a man of
his own caste, who asked him to rest during the heat of the
day in his hut. He accepted the offer; his food was drugged,
and he became stupefied, and only recovered his senses to
find himself in the middle of the night, lying stripped at
the bottom of an old dry well, overgrown with jungle. At
day dawn he managed to scramble out, and, fearing the
fate that might befall him at the hands of his deceit-
ful friend and his fellow-villagers, hurried off, thankful
to have escaped with his life. Years after, his treacherous
host had a quarrel with a neighbour. He proceeded to the
nearest police-station, and accused him of having murdered
a Sepoy, asserting that he had seen him dragging away the
corpse into the forest, but that, as he was a violent man, he
had been afraid to denounce him. His conscience, however,
would notallow him to remain any longer silent. His infor-
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mation was so precise, that the accused was apprehended,
and his house searched. In the thatch a waist-strap with
a brass plate, bearing the number of a regiment, was found
concealed. The commanding officer was written to, to ascer-
tain whether any man was missing from the corps during
the year in which the alleged murder must have occurred.
His answer being in the negative, he was asked to inquire
whether in that year any sepoy had visited the village. The
man then came forward and told his story; at the request
of the Thuggee officer, he was sent to Goruckpore, but
his arrival was not made known either to the prisoner or
to his accuser.

The day of the trial the latter came forward and repeated
his accusation. When his statement was concluded, the
sepoy entered the court and immediately recognized him
as the person who lad attempted to commit the crime
with which he now charged an innocent man, having evi-
dently placed the strap in the thatch, in order that its dis-
covery might confirm his accusation, and enable him to get
rid of a man against whom he had a grudge. The tables
were now turned. Whilst the prisoner was released, the
accuser was placed in the dock, tried, and punished.

Another singular case was that of a man who had been
charged with murder and sentenced to death, but the sen-
tence commuted to penal servitude for life. The magistrate
was one evening walking through the gaol without the pri-
soners being aware of his presence, and overheard one of
them ask a new-comer why he had been imprisoned. The
latter stated that he had been guilty of no crime, and was
perfectly innocent.

““ Ah I remarked his interrogator, * that is what we all
say ; though it is true there is a prisoner here,” mentioning
his name, “ who never committed the crime for which he
has been punished.”

This remark excited the magistrate’s interest, and he ob-
tained a copy of the record of the man’s trial, from which it
appeared that he was one of three brothers whose sister had
been seduced by a messenger attached to one of the public

C
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offices at Allahabad. They determined to kill the seducer,
and drew lots to settle which of them was to take the matter
in hand. It fell to his lot, and early one morning he lay in
wait for his intended victim, armed with a hatchet. He
was observed by several persons pursuing him with the
hatchet in his hand, both running towards the river. When
they succeeded in overtaking him he was standing on the
bank alone. It was supposed that the seducer had been
struck down and thrown into the water, and the corpse
carried away by the current. After reading the record the
magistrate believed that it was possible that the man’s denial
of the murder was true. He commissioned a trustworthy
detective to make inquiries on the subject, and, after a lapse
of several months, the man believed to have been murdered
was discovered alive in a distant town in Central India. It
appeared that he had reached the river before his pursuer,
plunged in, and by diving, escaped his notice. He eventually
landed on the opposite bank some distance down the stream,
but being afraid of the vengeance of the brothers of the
girl he had so cruelly injured, he did not return to the
station, but started off in disguise for a distant part of the
country. The matter was duly represented to the Govern.
ment, and the prisoner was released. The magistrate had
a high opinion of the natives as detectives, their powers of
observation being very keen. I was driving with him one
day, when a man passed carrying a bamboo over his
shoulder, on which he had thrown his blanket. He looked
like an ordinary traveller. My friend asked a policeman
who was with us whether he knew him. He stated that he
did not, as he was a stranger to the district; but-that he
was evidently a runner in the service of some banker.
Upon being questioned as to how he spoke so positively to
this point, he replied that, as the traveller passed, he noticed
that the bamboo was slightly curved, that the weight of the
blanket was not sufficient to cause it to bend, and there
must be some heavy weight, such as a bag of specie, under
it. This proved to be the case.

It is not an unusual occurrence for a native to trump up &
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false accusation against any one towards whom he bears
enmity, making use of the juice of a species of Euphorbia to
simulate the severe injuries said to be the results of violence,
and even counterfeiting death ; in one instance, I believe, the
proposed application of boiling water to wash the supposed
corpse had a wonderful effect; the previously alleged inani-
mate body suddenly jumping on its feet and rushing out of
court. This remark applies more particularly to the people
of Bengal proper, who, though often endowed with acute
intellects are, as an effeminate race, naturally prone to gain
their ends by deceit, and who, moreover, never experience
any difficulty in supporting their false charges by well-
trained evidence, false witnesses being always available.

Murders are sometimes committed by placing a heavy
weight on the victim’s breast, the skin being protected by a
pad, so that no mark of a bruise is apparent. Malays
fling chcpped hair into an enemy’s food ; this is not assimi-
lated, and produces constant irritation of the coats of the
stomach, eventually causing death. There is in the Malay
Peninsula a very quick-growing palm, and it is said that, in
some of the native States, death is caused by tying a person
to the tops of the young plants, in such a manner that he
cannot extricate himself, and is gradually pierced by their
sharp points. '

At the end of 1841 a volunteer battalion was formed to
join the expeditionary force to China. One company was
taken from the 41st. As interpreter, I was ordered to ex-
plain the purport of the order to the men, preparatory to
calling upon them to volunteer. I was surprised at the
willingness with which the Hindus came forward to serve
beyond the sea; but, on my making an observation to that
effect, an old non-commissioned officer remarked that they
were not going to allow the Mahomedans alone to enjoy the
chances of obtaining prize-money, and all the other advan-
tages of foreign service. It was clear, therefore, that they
would notallow their caste prejudices to interfere with their
embarking on board ship when sufficient inducements were

offered to them to do so. The company was rapidly com-
c 2
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pleted, and left in capital spirits. As I had some articles of
equipment to issue to men who were absent from head-
quarters, I accompanied the party for the first thirty miles,
riding back after the necessary distribution had been made.
Whilst T was still in camp a sepoy was struck down by sun-
stroke. There was no medical officer with the detachment;
but a water-carrier was ordered to pour a stream of water
on the back of the patient’s head until he regained his
senses, and subsequently a purgative was administered. This
treatment had the desired effect, and he was able to accom.
pany his comrades on the following morning.

About this time an ensign who had exchanged from
another corps, and who had apparently outrun the constable,
obtained leave to proceed into the district. He took advan-
tage of his Iecave to hurry down to Calcutta, where he led
his creditors to believe that he had come into a large for-
tune, and that his colonel had been supplied with funds to
liquidate all claims against him. The colonel’s amazement
may be imagined at receiving numerous heavy letters, pos-
tage unpaid, all containing long bills, with earnest requests
that they might be speedily paid. Before the several trades-
men could be undeceived, the young gentleman had em-
barked for England, and he was shortly after dismissed from
the service.

On the 7th of April, 1842, T had the satisfaction of killing
my first tiger. He had been heard of in some dense jungle,
about fiftcen miles from the Station, and with two friends I
drove out early in the morning to the neighbourhood of his
lair, where a tent had been pitched for our accommodation.
We had several elephants, and commenced beating the jungle
about ten o’clock. As we passed through the high grass and
brushwood, wild boar, jackals, hysenas, deer of every de-
scription, with magnificent pea and jungle fowl were to be
seen on all sides darting forward or rising in the air; but,
of course, they escaped unscathed, as, however tempting
the opportunity, no shot was allowed to be fired for fear of
disturbing our intended prey. It was nearly 2 r.m. before
he was discovered endeavouring to steal away unnoticed,
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struck, however, by a shot fired by one of my companions,
he immediately turned and came down straight upon our
line of elephants, some of which became frightened and
bolted, but those carrying the howdahs remained staunch.
The tiger’s charge was splendid, although again wounded
he succeeded in reaching the close vicinity of my elephant,
when a ball from my gun gave him the coup de grace. The
body was soon placed upon a pad elephant, and we returned
to our tent, and after a short rest drove back to cantonments
well pleased with our day’s sport.

The lines at Goruckpore having proved extremely
unhealthy, the Government determined upon moving the
troops from the Station, and I was accordingly instructed to
select a site in the neighbourhood for the new cantonments.
I could not, however, discover any suitable locality ; more-
over, it occurred to me that the object might be met and a
great saving of expense effected by a simple re-arrangement
of the existing cantonments. The Sepoy lines, which were
situated between the officers’ quarters and the parade ground,
beyond which there was a large swamp, contained several
fine trees, and I had remarked that although the men were
suffering, there was no sickness among the officers or their
servants, except in the case of the inmates of a house on the
extreme right flank, which obtained no protection from
the foliage in the lines, and consequently, when the wind
blew over the swamp, was exposed to the effects of any
miasma arising from it. Some little distance to the left of
the parade there was a belt of trees. I accordingly proposed
that whilst the officers’ bungalows should remain unchanged,
the sepoys’ huts should be removed to the rear of this belt
so as to shelter them from the effects of the malaria. My
proposal was acted upon, and the regiments quartered in
the new lines remained perfectly free from fever until, after
the lapse of several years, unfortunately, the trees were cut
down and immediately disease again made its appearance.
At Prome in Burmah, one company of the 18th Foot was
almost perfectly free from disease, whilst their comrades
suffered severely. This was owing to their being sheltered
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from the prevailing malaria by a mound covered with trees,
which interposed between their barrack and the neighbour.
ing swamp.

Having been appointed to act as Adjutant to the 2nd
Regiment Irregular Cavalry, I was kindly invited by the
officers of the 41st to a farewell party. In proposing my
health the President referred to my approaching departure
in the following flattering terms :—* I rise to propose the
health of one whom I regret to say is about to leave us.
The person I allude to is Ensign Cavenagh. Itis useless for
me to dwell upon his good qualities as a soldier, a com-
panion and a friend ; suffice it to say, that in 1840 he joined
the 41st Regiment in the chequered garb of an interloper.
He leaves the corps now in the bright robes of amity and
friendship, and you will, I am certain, all cordially unite
with me in wishing that into whatever situation the hand
of fate may guide him, it may always prove an index to
his future happiness and prosperity.”
~ Although, as in the case of many native corps at that
time, the officers of the 41st may be said to have been
divided into two parties, those of the old and those of the
new school, the most cordial good feeling existed between
them. Amongst the juniors there were officers thoroughly
acquainted with the duties of their profession. The corps
was smartly handled on parade, and that it was well led
was shown by its conduct at Sobraon, where it lost one
officer killed and seven wounded. The system of command
however in force, was that then coming into vogue in the
Bengal Army—a system under which the authority of
officers commanding companies was weakened ; and the great
tie that connected them with their men materially affected,
and which ultimately proved fraught with disastrous results.

In the 32nd, under the orders of Colonel Stacey, the
veteran who, to use Lord Gough’s phrase, took the rough
edge off the Seikhs at Sobraon, whilst you felt that he com-
manded the regiment, you equally felt that you commanded
your company, and were held strictly responsible for its
efficiency. Every officer was required to have once a week
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a private inspection of his company, the inspection was
minute, and if he was not satisfied, he would have the
company paraded a second time. After the inspection, the
company was put through a few movements to test its
steadiness, and when the men were broken off the oppor-
tunity was taken of entering into conversation with
the native commissioned and non-commissioned officers on
topics in which they might have an interest. Thus a kindly
feeling was induced which was productive of good in
many respects.

On joining the 41st, and falling into the command of a
company, with the view of making myself acquainted with
my men, I directed it to parade for my inspection. In the
course of the day, however, I received a letter from the
adjutant desiring me to countermand the parade, and in-
forming me that when the colonel wished the companies
to be inspected, the necessary regimental order would be
issued. In fact, the colonel and the adjutant commanded the
companies as well as the regiment, and on one occasion a
young sepoy, a favourite of the latter, was appointed pay-
havildar to a company without the officer commanding
having ever been consulted on the subject, although the
appointment was one for which his nomination was abso-
lutely necessary ; an earnest, though respectful, remonstrance
against the apparent slight of his legitimate authority could
not, however, be disregarded, and the order was cancelled.

There is no doubt that at that time, possibly owing to his
liability to be employed upon detached duty, when he was
necessarily left to his own resources, the Indian officer, as a
rule, was more self-reliant than his comrade of the Line. On
one occasion, two officers came to me for orders, the one, a
subaltern, a mere boy, having arrived in Calcutta by steamer
on treasure escort duty, had to rejoin the headquarters of
his regiment by land, a march of about 300 miles; the
other, a captain commanding a European detachment under
orders for a station about 100 miles distant. Upon giving
them their instructions, I enquired whether I could render
them any assistance. The former simply said, that as for
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days he would be distant from any station where medical
aid could be obtained, he would be glad of a small supply of
medicines with a few instructions as to their use in case of
sickness, these I procured for him from the medical depart-
ment, and he started the following day. The latter had no
knowledge of the course to be pursued in order to obtain
carriage, provisions, &c., and I accordingly ordered all the
necessary indents to be prepared in my office and forwarded
to the different authorities. On taking my morning’s ride
however, I was surprised to find that his detachment had
not left, although he was furnished with a native guard, he
had omitted to place sentries over his bullock carts, and all
the drivers had consequently absconded during the night,
and I had to make another requisition upon the collector for
fresh men to supply their places.
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CHAPTER 1II.

Join the 2nd Regiment Irregular Cavalry —March after Insurgents—Trans-
ferred to the 4th Regiment—Indian Field of the Cloth of Gold—Look
before you Leap—Parade at Delhi—Visit to the Kootub Minar—
Abolition of a System of Favouritism—=Station of Bareilly—March to
Agra—Advance on Gwalior and passage of the Chumbal—Battle of
Mabarajpore —Severely wounded and horse killed-—A Wounded Soldier
—@Gallant conduct of men of the 4th Regiment Irreguiar Cavalry—
Treaty of Peace—@ood feeling between European and Native Soldiers—
Return to Bareilly—Religious Disturbances amongst the men of the
Regiment—The Self-accusation of the Native Adjutant—The General
and his A.D.C.—System of receiving Petitions at Head-quarters of the
Army—March to the Frontier—Outpost Duty on the Sutledge—March
to Loodianah and Action of Buddiwal——Again dangerously wounded—
Reappearance of my friendly Soldier—A Military Mark Tapley—
The Private and the General—State of the Native Sick and Wounded—
Remarks on the Irregular Cavalry.

O~ the 6th May I left Goruckpore to join my regiment at
Saugor. I reached my destination on the 18th, after a rather
fatigning journey, the heat having been excessive, whilst I
had been glad one day to take shelter in an old cowshed, no
other accommodation being available. I was, however, for-
tunate in meeting with no interruption, the district throngh
which I latterly passed being in a very disturbed state.
Although the insurgents always avoided meeting our
troops in the field, they surprised and overpowered several
small outlying posts, and on one occasion attacked the rear
guard of a larger party, of which the commanding officer
was killed.

On the 7th July ‘a detachment, consisting of the 2nd
Regiment Irregular Cavalry and 50th Regiment Native
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Infantry, left cantonments with the view, if possible, of
bringing to action a body of rebels that had attacked and
plundered the village of Damouni. After marching all
night, about eight o’clock the following morning, on reach.-
ing the vicinity of the village, we learnt that our enemy had
retreated. The halt was accordingly sounded, but some
hours elapsed ere our tents and baggage arrived, and we
were glad to lie down under some low bushes to escape from
the action of the sun’s rays, the heat being intense. We
made another march and then halted to enable the Political
Authority, who accompanied us, to visit some of the neigh-
bouring chiefs. In the meanwhile the rains set in, and,
from the nature of the soil, the camp soon became a sea of
mud. As it was clear that the time for military operations
was over, we received orders to return to cantonments.
My regiment left the camping ground about eight A.m., and
did not reach Saugor before two in the afternoon. The
rain was incessant; the country is undulating; and: the
mountain streams had become perfect torrents; in one, a
mere rivulet when we had previously passed, the water
being over the saddle-girths, and rushing down with great
violence. It was with difficulty the cavalry crossed ; the
infantry did not attempt the passage, but halted for some
days. Not very long before, an officer, attempting to cross
such a stream, was, with his horse, swept away and drowned.

Shortly after our return to cantonments I was greatly
surprised at finding myself in orders as posted to the 7th
Regiment Irregular Cavalry at Bareilly. I had, therefore,
to retrace my steps in the height of the rainy season. To
avoid being intercepted by the rebels, or stopped by the
floods, I travelled night and day, in crossing the streams
en route my bearers being frequently obliged to place my
palanquin on their heads instead of their shoulders. For-
tunately there was little rain for three or four days, and I
succeeded in reaching Mirzapore without hindrance, here
I embarked on board a river steamer for Dinapore, having
applied for leave to visit that station. Hardly, however,
had I arrived, when I received an official communication
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to the effect that the march of the 7th into Bundelcund, for
which my services had been required, having been counter-
manded, I had been transferred to the 4th Regiment at
Ferozepore, and must join forthwith. Hence I had another
long journey to accomplish; and it was not until the 14th
October that I reached my destination.

The corps to which I was now attached had formerly been
the Second Regiment of Skinner’s Horse. They were well
known as the “ Yellow Boys,” from the colour of their
uniform. As a body, they looked remarkably well, though
the dress was not so well suited for individuals as that of
my first corps, of which the green and silver tunic was very
handsome. One of my first duties was to attend a com-
mittee appointed to investigate claims for compensation for
the loss of their horses on the part of the men of the 3rd
Troop, who had survived the retreat from Caubul. Many of
these poor fellows had suffered terribly from the cold; their
feet were frost-bitten, and it seemed as if the flesh had
literally melted away from the bones, which were left bare.
Under their gallant commander, Captain Walker, who was
killed at their head, the troop had behaved remarkably
well. .

On the 15th November the regiment moved into camp to
form part of the Army of Reserve, which was then assem-
bling on the plains round Ferozepore. We were brigaded
with the 16th Lancers, the 7th Light, and 6th Irregular
Cavalry, the whole under the command of that fine cavalry
officer Brigadier Cureton, with General Sir J. Thackwell as
our Divisional Commander. Reviews and field days were
of constant occurrence. On the morning of the 9th of
December the whole army was paraded to receive the
Governor-General, Lord Ellenborough ; and in the after-
noon there was a display of feats of skill and horsemanship
before his lordship, on the part of the men of the Irregular
Cavalry, in which the greater number of the prizes bestowed
fell to the troopers of the 4th Regiment.

On the morning of the 17th the Army of Reserve was
drawn up in review order to receive the illustrious garrison
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of Jellalabad. Our line was a magnificent one, extending
from the bridge of boats over the Sutledge for miles along
the left-hand side of the road leading to Ferozepore. About
eight o’clock the gallant brigade defiled across the bridge,
and moved in service marching order in the direction of
their encamping ground, every regiment of the Army of
Reserve saluting as the heads of the respective corps
arrived opposite their right flank. It was certainly a
splendid sight to witness the steadiness with which these
veteran troops marched past the fine force assembled to do
them honour. On the 18th and 19th General Pollock’s
two divisions crossed the river. On the first day they were
met by the Governor-General, who directed the 26th Regi-
ment Native Infantry to be halted and formed into a square,
when he addressed the corps, and informed the sepoys that,
in consequence of their conspicuous gallantry, he had
ordered the regiment to be made Light Infantry.

On the 23rd General Nott's army passed the Sutledge,
and moved into camp on the parade ground at Ferozepore.
It was accompanied by the famous gates of Somnath. I
was much struck with the appearance of the troops com-
posing this force. The soldiers looked like hardy veterans,
and had the air of men confident in their own powers, and
flushed with victory. A regiment of Bombay cavalry and
a troop of horse artillery were attached to General Nott’s
command. The native troopers were certainly better set
up, and had a more soldierlike appearance than those of the
Bengal army, although smaller men. The horses of both
branches of the service were superior to the Bengal stud-
bred cattle. They were generally in good condition, and did
not appear to have suffered from the hardships of the cam-
paign ; in this respect they offered a great contrast to those
of the Bengal troops. On the 28th the Governor-General
received the Seikh Embassy ; and on the 30th a large body
of Seikh troops, under Rajahs Pirthab Sing and Dhyan
Sing, crossed the Sutledge, and encamped in British
territory.

On the 31st the whole of the troops in the vicinity of
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Ferozepore were reviewed by his Excellency the Commander-
in-Chief. We moved out of camp about half-past eight,
and arrived upon our ground at ten A.M. At that time corps
were in motion in every direction; as far as the eye could
reach nothing could be seen but de¢nsc masses of artillery,
cavalry, and infantry, with their standards waving and
sabres and bayonets glittering. It was a beautiful day; a
few clouds occasionally obscured the sun and moderated the
excessive glare of an Indian noon, but otherwise there was
a bright blue sky, and the air was keen and pure. After a
few manceuvres the order was given to march past in review
order, when 102 guns and 22,500 men defiled in front of
the saluting flag, where were assembled the Governor-
General and Commander-in-Chief, with their respective
staffs, besides the whole of the cortége in attendance on the
Seikh Rajah Pirthab Sing, as well as numerous other
native chiefs. In the evening a grand ball was given by
the Governor-General. In returning from this ball an
accident happened to an officer, which, although rather
laughable, might have proved fatal. Forgetting the old
proverb, look before you leap, he sprung over a little mud
wall which formed the boundary of the camp of his regi-
ment, but, unfortunately, on the other side was a well, down
which he disappeared, and encumbered as he was with his
full dress and cloak, it was with difficulty that he kept him-
self above water; and when calling for assistance, for he
was close to his own tent, he distinctly heard his servants
remark that they supposed some drunken European was
making a noise. However, help at last arrived, and he was
rescued from his unpleasant predicament.

On the 2nd of Janmnary the Governor-General returned
Rajah Pirthab Sing’s visit, and after the termination of the
Durbar the Seikh troops were reviewed. The words of
command were given in French. They changed position
apparently with great steadiness, rapidity, and precision ;
and the fire of their artillery was very quick. On the 3rd
Pirthab Sing, with his magnificent Sowari, again visited
our camp, and had a farewell audience with the Governor-
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General ; and, on the 5th the days of the Indian Field of
the Cloth of Gold came to an end. The 4th Regiment
Irregular Cavalry received orders to march to Bareilly vid
Delhi, which latter station we reached on the 3rd of
February. We had a pleasant march down, the more
especially as in many places we found good shooting. On
one occasion we suffered from heavy rain, and our tents and
baggage did not reach the halting ground until late in the
afternoon. The regiment in front of us, however, having
balted, were able to afford us temporary shelter. At night,
when returning to our own camp, I calculated, at all events,
upon the enjoyment of a dry bed, as my bedding was well
protected by a wax-cloth cover. I calculated, however,
without my host, for my companion in the tent had several
small dogs. These had arrived dripping wet, and in their
search for a dry spot upon which to take up their quarters,
no sooner did they see the cover taken off my bed than,
with one accord, before they could be prevented, they jumped
upon it. The result may be imagined.

At Delhi there was a repetition, on a smaller scale, of the
scene at Ferozepore, parades and Durbars being the order
of the day. At the grand review, whilst my regiment was
charging up the parade ground in following squadrons, it
being too narrow to admit of our moving in echelon, as the
leading squadron turned a corner a native woman was seen
walking along in its immediate front; there was no time to
halt, fortunately, she squatted down, and the several
squadrons, one after the other, passed over her, when she
arose perfectly unhurt. One day we took the opportunity
of proceeding through the city. We visited the beautiful
Jumma Musjid, and were kindly invited to ascend one of the
minarets, 150 feet in height ; the scene from the summit, em-
bracing the city and the whole of its environs, was superb.
On another occasion we were able to devote a day to an
expedition to the Kootub Minar. In the first instance
leaving the city on our left, we proceeded to inspect the
Observatory of Jye Sing, situated about two miles distant;
the remains, some of which were in good repair, were most
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interesting. Our next stage was the tomb of Sufdur Jung
a handsome edifice ; thence on to the Kootub Minar. This
splendid tower is 62 feet in diameter and 256 feet in height;
it is built of fine hard red sandstone. Not many years be-
fore it had a tendency to diverge from the perpendicular,
consequent on a subsidence of the foundation, and the
engineer officer entrusted with the duty of repairing this
defect actually managed to support the mass of the build-
ing with scaffolding whilst he caused the necessary altera-
tions to be made to the base of the structure—a marvellous
triumph of engineering skill. After ascending the Minar
we walked through the grounds attached, containing the
famous pillar of iron, known as Feroz Shah’s Lat, and
several ruins, beautifully embellished with inscriptions in
the Arabic character taken from the Koran; and then
visited the large Baoli, or cistern, to witness the exploits
of the divers, who fling themselves from an immense height
into the water below to secure the small silver coins flung
down as the reward for their dexterity. We were soon
tired of this exhibition, and started for the ruined city of
Toglukabad, from which we returned to camp, taking the
mausoleum of Humayoon Shah on our way back. Altogether
this was a most interesting trip.

On the 19th of February we recontinued our march to
Bareilly, where we arrived on the 7th of March. When passing
through the small district belonging to the Nawab of Ram-
pore one evening I entered into conversation with a villager,
who stated that he would prefer being under the rule of the
Company to that of the Nawab, as, although our regulations
might press hard upon the peasantry, they were not liable
to change, and a subject could therefore enjoy the profits
of his own industry, in the event of a good harvest, with-
out being called upon to pay a higher rate of revenue.

At Bareilly we passed our time pleasantly enough. The
residents were all very sociable, and civil and military pulled
well together. In a quiet way there was no want of society,
and we were enlivened by an occasional ball. Good quail
and snipe shooting was to be found in the neighbourhood ;
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and a large house standing in extensive grounds, and situated
at some distance from cantonments, was the scene of many
a pleasant picnic. Up to this time the régiine in force in
the Regiment, as was formerly the case in many Irregular
Corps, was one of favouritism. This was so opposed to my
idea of military discipline that I determined to introduce a
new system, and accordingly prepared proper rosters for
command and leave, every one being detailed for one or the
other in his proper turn. The old native officers at first did
not approve of the change, as they could no longer take all
their friencs with them when they were sent on detached
duty, or went away on leave; but eventually they told me
my plan was a great improvement on the old arrangement,
as there was certainty, and every one, when his turn for
command or leave would come round, could prepare accord-
ingly, whilst before, his going might depend upon the caprice
and pleasure of the adjutant or commanding officer.

In October the regiment was warned to join the army of
exercise to be assembled at Agra, and on the 9th of
November we commenced our march to Muttra, where our
Brigade was to be formed.

In the course of the first day’s march we had to cross the
River Gogra, a deep and rapid stream, by a ford. Two
troopers, known to be good swimmers, took off their uniform
and accoutrements, and with their horses bare-backed, pre-
ceded the column, one on its right and the other on its left
flank, thus pointing out the course of the ford ; and although
at times some of our horses were swimming, we passed without
any accident. On another occasion of our passing a river
by a ford one squadron got into some confusion. The
commanding officer immediately ordered it to retrace its
steps and again cross the river, whilst he watched the pro-
ceeding from the bank. The second time the squadron
moved as steadily as if on parade. There can be little doubt
that men and officers profited by the lesson.

We crossed the Ganges in boats, which were few in
number. It was noon before the last squadron crossed ;
owing to the admirable arrangements of Major Oldfield
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the passage was effected with only a few slight injuries to
some of the horses. Whilst crossing the water an unfortunate
grass cutter, who had been bitten by a dog at Bareilly, was
suddenly attacked with hydrophobia. He was immediately
taken to hospital, and, under the doctor’s skilful treatment,
he became quieted, and seemed to have shaken off the attack.
When we were visiting the hospital in the evening a rather
stupid orderly, turning to the patient, remarked to us that
he was much better; that, in fact, he was no longer mad.
No sooner had the words escaped from his mouth than the
poor fellow had a relapse, fell into violent convulsions, and
died in the course of the night. I have often wondered how
far the mind affected the body, and the fact of his having
been reminded of his state prevented his recovery. The only
other incidents of mnote that occurred on our march to
Allyghur, were the absolute refusal at one stage of the
inhabitants to accept any payment for the provisions sup-
plied to the regiment, treating us as their guests; and at
another the appearance of thieves in camp, a box contain-
ing my marching kit, close to which my orderly was sleeping,
was opened, and some of the articles were taken out; but
immediately that the cry of thief was heard the mounted
patrol galloped up, and the robbers were so closely pursued
that they dropped most of their plunder before they were
able to gain the shelter of a mneighbouring ravine. They
succeeded, however, in retaining possession of my coffee-pot,
which was no great loss, though they evidently mistook the
tin for silver. The Major was extremely annoyed with the
conduct of the sentries, although perhaps they were hardly
to blame, it being almost impossible at night to discern an
Indian thief crawling along the ground at any distance from
you.

Almost the whole way between Allyghur and Muttra,
which latter place we reached on the 24th, literally clouds
of locusts were seen daily on the horizon, and in the morning,
when they were benumbed by the cold, the roads were com-
pletely covered, and we trampled them down by thousands.

- Throughout the march we could not but contrast the
D
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appearance of the country, with its open hamlets, smiling
fields, and unarmed peasantry, with that we had in January
passed through in the Protected Seikh States, where the
villages were all surrounded by high walls, and the culti-
vator still needed weapons for his protection from acts of
violence, showing that whatever might be the faults of
administration on the part of the British Government it at
all events extended and secured to its subjects the blessings
of peace.

At Muttra, where we halted a few days, we joined the
16th Lancers and 10th Regiment Light Cavalry. A {riend
having kindly lent us an elephant we were able to-visit the
city, which abounds with Hindoo places of devotion, amongst
them the shrine of Krishna. Thereis also a handsome mosque,
ornamented with a species of beautiful enamelled work,
which is no longer obtainable, as the secret of its execution
is said to have been lost.

Between Muttra and Agra the only place of interest is
Secundra, where is situated the beautiful mausoleum erected
over the remainsg of Akbar the Great. It is a magnificent
building. The ashes of the deceased monarch are deposited
in a vault, whilst the tomb to his memory is placed on the
summit of the edifice, a mere canopy its sole protection from
the violence of the elements. It is of pure white marble,
ornamented with inscriptions in the Arabic character. In
the vicinity there is a school, established by the Missionaries
for the education of the numerous orphans that fell into their
hands during the famine of 1837. Here they were brought
up in the precepts of Christianity, and also instructed in
those employments which might prove useful to persons in
their sphere of life, and enable them to gain their own
livelihood.

Shortly after our arrival at Agra the 16th Lancers and
4th Regiment Irregular Cavalry were reviewed by his
Excellency the Commander-in-Chief. It was a hard test
for the 4th, as we had several recruits and’young horses,
and the corps had been scattered throughout the hot weather,
some of our detachments only rejoining head-quarters a day
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or two before our march, so that there had been no oppor-
tunity of putting them through their drill, whilst that fine
corps the 16th was in excellent order. We knew, however,
that our able Brigadier would make allowances for us, and
not cause the trial to be too severe. During the review the
Commander-in-Chief left the saluting flag, and took up his
position on our flank, necessitating a complete change in the
manceuvres, and giving us rather a difficult movement to
perform, but the Brigadier skilfully drew off attention from
us, and covered us with a charge from the 16th. When
that was over we were well in line, and advanced to our
charge, which was admirably executed, and received praise,
whilst our previous unsteadiness escaped notice.

On the 15th December the regiment commenced its
march en route to the Chumbul, ;having previously dis-
patched four troops on escort duty with the battering train.
After halting for two or three days at Dholpur, during
which all sorts of rumours were prevalent as to the intention
of the Gwalior Durbar, on the 22nd we crossed the river
by a narrow but good ford, and reached our encamping
ground near the village of Sehora about 2 p.m. The right
bank of the Chumbul is extremely steep, and for about two
miles the road winds through perfectly impassable ravines,
and then suddenly emerges into a fine plain, extending for
several miles. Had the Gwalior army any intention of
opposing our progress they should never have permitted us
to reach our position without hindrance ; by drawing up the
mass of their troops on the plain, protecting their guns with
entrenchments sufficiently strong to prevent their being
captured by a sudden rush of cavalry, and, at the same time,
occupying the ravines with strong bodies of infantry skir-
mishers, they might have precluded our columns from
debouching into the open country from the rugged ground,
without, at least, suffering considerable loss, for, although
our infantry might have succeeded in dislodging their assail-
ants on both flanks, a work of some little difficulty, owing
to the nature of the country, they would have been shattered

by the Artillery fire ere they could have formed for attack,
D 2
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whilst even, if by clearing the narrow causeway it would
have been possible to have brought our guns to the front,
as they could only move in column of route, they must
have experienced heavy loss before they could have un-
limbered and prepared for action—besides which the
Mahratta Artillery would have been of much heavier
calibre, in fact, we might have been compelled to have
attempted to carry their batteries by a coup de marn similar
to that which proved successful under Napoleon at the
Somo Sierra; and, if it failed, we should have been in an
unpleasant position, as no other ford existed for miles, so
that the enemy’s position could not have been turned,
whilst, considering the defenceless position of our North-
West Frontier and the state of anarchy in the Punjaub, the
slightest check to our force might have led to serious results,
the more especially as the Mahratta leader, occupying a
central position, might have fallen with his whole weight
upon General Grey, who, with his Division, was advancing
in force from Cawnpore. ‘

The Governor-General and Commander-in-Chief arrived
in camp on the 23rd. The following morning, whilst the
latter, attended by his staff, was taking his ride in advance
of our line of sentries, he came suddenly upon a picket of
the Gwalior troops, the men of which abused and insulted.
his Excellency, and threatened to attack him ; fortunately
their arms were piled, and Major Grant, Deputy Adjutant-
General, took advantage of their moving forward to dash
between them and their muskets. In the meantime a
foraging party of our cavalry, which happened opportunely
to be within hail, galloped up, when the tables were turned,
and the Mahrattas sued for pardon. The affair was repre
sented to the Durbar, who, I believe, expressed their readi-
ness to punish the offenders in any way that might meet
the wishes of the British Government.

On the 25th I received orders to turn out a party of one
native officer and thirty men to be stationed at the village
of Motipore, about three miles to our front. The detach-
ment was soon mounted, and, as neither the field officer of
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the week nor our brigadier-major could speak a word of the
language, I volunteered to accompany them. Crossing the
nullah 1n front of the camp, we visited the lancer vidette,
stationed at the village of Dunaree, whence it was deter-
mined to establish a chain of communication to the ad-
vanced post; I consequently selected suitable spots for
placing my videttes at intervals along the road until we
reached Motipore, where we stationed the main body, with
two videttes flung still further forward in the direction of
the Mahratta army. The position appeared to me to be
altogether false for so small a detachment, but Major Smyth,
whilst concurring with me, stated that his orders were im-
perative, and he had no discretionary power. I therefore
warned the native officer to be on the alert, and to keep a
good look out that his retreat was not cut off by any party
starting out of a nullah some distance in his rear. We then
returned, and upon reaching the identical nullah came upon
three horsemen, who evidently belonged to the Gwalior
Force. As, however, they gave a plausible excuse for their
appearance, and hostilities had not been declared, it was not
deemed advisable to detain them. Towards evening the
picket was recalled by the brigadier, it having been, as I sup-
posed, placed at the wrong village.

On the 27th a reconnoitring party was fired upon. The
escort was composed of a party from the 4th Regiment I.C.
Galloping back under the cannonade, one of the officers
dropped his forage cap, when a trooper quietly pulled up,
dismounted, picked it up, and returned it to him. As nego-
tiations with the Durbar had not proved very successful, the
next day the orders were issued for the advance on Gwalior,
the following being the plan of the proposed operations :—

The 4th Infantry Brigade, consisting of the 14th, 3lst,
and 43rd Native Infantry, supported by a brigade on each
flank to attack the main position of the enemy, supposed to
have been in the rear of the village of Maharajpore. One
brigade, 3rd Cavalry, strengthened by the body guard, and
accompanied by Grant’s and Alexander’s troops of horse
artillery to move through Motipore, threatening the
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Mahratta left, and after driving in his cavalry and pre-
venting him from harassing the baggage and camp-fol-
lowers, or annoying the right of our infantry, to cross the
Asun river, thus cutting off his retreat upon the capital.
The 4th Cavalry Brigade, with Lane’s troop of horse artil-
lery, to take up ground on the left, so as to save the infantry
from any attack on that flank, and to act against the enemy
as opportunities might offer. Nos. 10 and 17 Light Field
Batteries to be attached respectively to the 3rd and 4th
Infantry Brigades. The train and park bringing up the
rear, escorted by the 6th Infantry Brigade. As, in addition
to having six troops absent on detached duty, the 4th
Irregular Cavalry had been called upon to furnish a detach-
ment of 100 picked troopers, to be employed as a body guard
to the Governor-General, the strength of the corps was
reduced to two weak troops.

On the morning of the 29th we paraded at gun-fire, and
joined our brigade. Whilst we were drawn up, previous to
moving out of camp, General Churchill rode past our line;
he held in his hand a small riding-whip, with which, when
asked if we should have any fighting, he said he would drive
the Mahrattas off the field. He was amongst the killed
before evening. Our column was soon put in motion, and
we advanced slowly along the Gwalior road. About half-past
seven A.M. we arrived opposite the walled village of Omedgurh,
and I was directed to station one of our troops so as to
defeat any attempt to plunder the baggage or to take us in
rear, on the part of any body of the enemy by which it
might be occupied. I accordingly posted the main body out
of musket shot, and in front of the only gateway through
which cavalry could have made their exit, with videttes
placed at intervals so as to command a view of the four
sides of the village. I had hardly stationed the last
vidette, when the Mahrattas opened fire upon our advancing
columns, and, anxious to overtake the regiment, I made a
short cut, and, followed by my orderlies, dashed under the
walls, which I then discovered to be crowded with match-
lock men, and was therefore delighted when I found myself
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again on the high road with a whole skin. I speedily
resumed my post with the regiment. As we advanced the
cannonade rapidly increased in vigour, and after passing the
village of Mingrowlee the enemy’s batteries became distinctly
visible in the direction of Maharajpore, playing upon the
heads of our infantry brigades, which were now observed to
our left, deploying into line. Previous to the attack our
brigade was formed up, and moved steadily onwards, parallel
to the infantry, and covering their right flank. It was a
splendid sight to see the latter marching in parade order
across a plain swept by the fire of the Mahratta artillery.
They were, however, troops that no danger could daunt, and
apparently not a check of even a moment’s duration was
sustained during their admirable advance. Upon arriving
within a few hundred yards of Maharajpore a fire was opened
upon our brigade from two guns posted on the left of the
village. We were accordingly halted, pending the opera-
tions on our left being brought to a successful termination.
In the meanwhile all eyes were fixed upon the movements
of the 3rd and 5th Brigades of Infantry; undismayed by a
heavy cannonade, which mowed them down by sections, they
had now diminished the distance which separated them from
their foe to within a few yards. For a second there was a
halt; the next the bayonets glistened as they were brought
to the charge; a British cheer pealed through the air, a
rush, a last vain struggle, and the batteries of Maharajpore
were won. A desperate resistance was, however, still offered
by the battalions posted in the village, and when their
ammunition was expended they gallantly opposed the sword
and shield to the British bayonet. It was but a vain effort;
the superior prowess of our troops finally prevailed, and they
were driven from every post they attempted to maintain ;
but not until the village had caught fire, and several of the
combatants perished in the flames. As at this time Her
Majesty’s 16th Lancers broke into open column, preparatory
to an advance on Choundah, I was dispatched to ascertain
what orders had been issued relative to our movements.
‘Whilst, however, I was still in search of the Brigadier, the
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two troops of horse artillery detached themselves from the
brigade and galloped to the front. Perceiving that they were
escorted by the 4th Irregular Cavalry, I turned, and soon
rejoined the corps. We pushed on rapidly, and as we swept
round the flank of the burning village we obtained a view
of the whole battle-field. The coup d’@il was magnificent.
To our left, as far as the eye could reach, the Gwalior troops,
closely pursued by our skirmishers, were hastily retreating
upon their second position." To our front masses of the
enemy were drawn up in support of their batteries, which
extended behind the high road as far as the ravines in the
neighbourhood of Choundah. Slightly to our left -ear
was Maharajpore, from which the flames were now bursting
out with great violence; whilst the British regiments, flung
into disorder by the hand-to-hand conflict in the village,
were seen busily reforming for the attack upon the line of
batteries above referred to, from which the guns had now
commenced to pour a destructive fire, to check the advance
of their assailants, and also to cover the retreat of their own
troops, to intercept which our party immediately flung their
right shoulders forward. Perceiving our object, the Mah-
rattas quickly concentrated their fire upon us, and several
casualties occurred amongst the horse artillery, amongst
others that of a trumpeter, whose riderless horse, in its
terror, wedged itself into our ranks, where it remained
thronghout' the day. When the order was given to halt,
unlimber, and commence action, it was found that the range
was too distant for our light guns. They were, therefore,
limbered up, and we again pushed forward until within
three or four hundred yards of the enemy, when we halted and
opened fire—this time with good effect. Our shrapnel shells
were seen bursting with the greatest accuracy immediately
over the Mahratta batteries. Their artillerymen, howerver,
were staunch, and, galling as our fire must have been, they
could not be driven from their guns, and plied us manfully
with grape and round shot, the latter, fortunately from our
propinquity, for we were within the circles of white earthen
jars with which the ground had been strewed to mark the
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different ranges, chiefly passed over our heads, but every
round of grape told, and our casualties became numerous.
The artillery on our right also suffered severely. After
we had been in this position for about twenty minutes an
aide-de-camp rode up bearing orders from the Commander-in-
Chief for the regiment, or rather troop, to advance. The com-
mand was gallantly responded to, but 1 was debarred the
good fortune of sharing in the honour of the charge, for at
that moment by a discharge from a battery under some trees
immediately in our front my horse was mortally wounded
and my left leg carried away ; my poor charger upon being
struck reared up, and for a second remained poised in the
air. I vainly endeavoured to dismount, the whole of my
side being for the moment paralyzed by the shock experienced
from the blow of the round shot; then with a crash we fell
together to the ground. After some little exertion I managed
to extricate myself from my dangerous position, when, for
the first time, I perceived that my leg had been severed a
little above the ankle. The troop had pushed on, but my
two orderlies had dismounted and were standing by my side.
Hardly had I unloosed my silk necktie and bound it tightly
round the wounded limb ere Henderson also reached the spot
where I was lying, and at once applied a tourniquet. He
would then have performed the requisite operation, but the
gunners of the battery, which had necessarily been refused
by the regiment in its advance, its position being unassail-
able by cavalry, perceiving the group that had collected
round me, opened a discharge of grape; although several
of the balls struck the ground close to my head no one was
injured, as we might not be so fortunate a second time,
this determined him to order me to be removed to the rear.
Before, however, I could be lifted off the ground, our 4th
Cavalry Brigade passed us at the charge, and I had the
pleasure of seeing the guns that had annoyed us taken in
flank by a regiment of infantry. My two orderlies placed
their hands under me, and with my arms round their necks
1 was quietly carried away, a Mahratta, whose life had
been spared, owing to his surrender, leading the troopers’
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horses, and one of the native doctors, armed with the pistols
taken from my holsters, acting as guard. After proceeding
some two or three hundred yards we came upon one of the
enemy’s deserted tumbrils, upon which I decided to rest
until a litter could be procured. Whilst 1 was seated a
private of Her Majesty’s 40th, who was wounded by a ball
which had apparently traversed his forehead from one side
to the other, as blood was streaming down both cheeks, came
up and volunteered to remain for my protection from the
numerous Mahratta stragglers who had concealed themselves
in the fields of maize, &c., by which we were surrounded. It
was fortunate, perhaps, that I accepted the ofter, for several of
our men were shot by these miscreants. One officer, whom
I knew intimately, Newton, of the 16th Grenadiers, was
killed by a ball from the musket of a Mahrattah to whom
he had the moment before, having released him from the
bayonets of his men, granted quarter. About two p.M., a litter
was brought, and, after seeing me safely placed in it, my
friend the soldier bade me good-bye, and, notwithstanding
his severe wound, trudged on to overtake his regiment, now
to be seen in the distance towards Choundah, where the foe
still offered an obstinate resistance. Hardly had my litter
been carried from the vicinity of the tumbril, when the latter
blew up. The cause of the explosion I mever learnt, but it
must have been occasioned either by a slow match left
designedly by the enemy, or from a spark falling on the
powder, which might have been produced by the clashing of
a sword against an iron hoop, in an attempt made by camp
followers, several of whom were standing on the tumbril and
lost their lives, to cut it open, in the hope, no doubt, of finding
treasure. Shortly after this occurrence Henderson rode up
to mention that we had gained the victory. By four p.. I
was placed in Oldfield’s tent, which had been pitched for my
reception, and after I had taken some tea and toast, and
added a few lines to a letter I had placed in my sabertache
ready for despatch to my wife, the operation of amputating
my leg was skilfully performed, and ere long, wearied and
exhausted, I fell into a deep sleep.
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The authorities at head-quarters appear to have been in
ignorance of the forward move made by the Mahrattas on
the village of Maharajpore, and also of the existence of the
ravines in the neighbourhoed of Choundah, by which their
batteries were protected from the assault of our cavalry.
The advance on Maharajpore was so rapid that our guns were
not brought into play. The victory may assuredly be said
to have been won almost entirely by the undaunted courage
of the British infantry, who for some time maintained the
contest unaided.

Bodies of infantry were launched against batteries to which
we should have opposed heavy artillery, whilst the services
of a large portion of our cavalry were lost by their being
moved into ground so intersected with watercourses that it
was impossible for them to act, and they were consequently
under the necessity of retiring, galled by the enemy’s fire, at
the same time our splendid troops of horse artillery were ren-
dered almost useless by being called upon by direct fire to
silence heavy guns in position. Had they been scientifically
manceuvred, consequent on the rapidity with which they can
change ground and open upon an enemy from a fresh point,
they would, with comparatively speaking trifling loss, have
taken the whole range of Mahratta batteries running parallel
to the Choundah road in flank, dismounting the guns and
mowing down the artillerymen by their destructive enfilading
fire, to which no serious opposition could have been offered.
Our attack should have been made by brigades in echelon
supported on the left lank by the two light field batteries,
in the centre by the heavy guns, and on the right by the three
troops of horse artillery, both flanks being covered by brigades
of cavalry. Thus the light batteries and the heavy guns
would have opened simultaneously upon Juora and Maha-
rajpore, whilst the left of the Gwalior army would have
been turned by a brigade of infantry, with cavalry and horse
artillery. As soon asthe enemy had been driven out of his first
position the mounted portion of the force could have pushed
across the Assun river, thus not only operating upon the
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Mahratta’s line of retreat, but rendering his second position
untenable.

Although the Mahratta infantry and artillery proved for-
midable opponents, the latter serving their guns with great
determination, their cavalry kept aloof, and showed no
desire to come to close quarters. Several of our men had
relatives in this branch of the Gwalior army, and one of our
troopers having taunted a cousin for his cowardice in not
having charged, was quietly asked where his officers were
during the action? “Of course, in front, leading us,” was
the reply. “ Ah!” said the Mahratta Sowar, “ ours were
in the rear, and that makes all the difference.”

The weak troop of the 4th Regiment I.C. engaged,
behaved with great gallantry; in the charge that took place
after I was wounded, they broke an infantry square,
capturing its colours and silencing two guns. The native
adjutant and two of his brothers particularly distinguished
themselves. The first named, observing some slight waver-
ing amongst the troopers, rushed forward in a line with the
European officers, calling out to the men not to desert their
leaders. One brother was the standard-bearer of the troop,
and, as he galloped up to the square, made an appeal to his
comrades to follow their colour, which he flung inside,
he was severely wounded whilst breaking through the
Mahratta ranks; the other brother was the doctor’s
aorderly, and having become separated from the corps whilst
my wound was being attended to, subsequently endeavoured
to cut his way alone through the enemy to overtake it;
he was also severely wounded. He was asked why he had
not remained with his officer, who joined the nearest
battery of artillery. In reply, he stated that the doctor’s
life was valuable, as the care of the wounded depended
on his skill ; but when he saw that he was in safety his own
duty was to rejoin his regiment in the midst of the fighting. 1t
has been erroneously supposed that persons may suffer from
the wind of a round shot, yet a trooper of the 16th Lancers
had a ball pass through the waist of his cap, in close prox-



Treaty of Peace. 45

imity to his head, without experiencing any ill effect. At the
same time there is mo doubt that the slightest graze of a
cannon ball, owing to the contusion produced, may cause
death. One of our native officers was barely touched ; he
was returned as slightly wounded, but ultimately death
ensued. On the Sutledge a staff officer, in dismounting after
an action, felt his foot very painful, he then discovered that
the heel of his boot had been carried away, though he had
not felt the shock. In his case also the wound proved
fatal.

On 30th December the army broke ground, and continued
its march towards Gwalior, Henderson being of opinion
that I was strong enough to bear the fatigue of the journey,
knowing that I should experience every possible kindness
from the hands of my brother officers, I preferred accom-
panying the regiment to removing to the field hospital,
where I should have been under the charge of perfect
strangers. On the 3rd of January the force arrived before
Gwalior, and on the following day was joined by the division
under General Grey, which had previously defeated the
enemy at Punniar.

One of my earliest visitors was our gallant and kind old
chief, who greeted me with the remark, “ Well, my boy, I
am afraid your dancing days are over;” he at the same time
told me that if I had any friend I should like to recommend
to fill my appointment, so long as I was unfit for duty, he
would have great pleasure in meeting my wishes. When
we next met upon the Sutledge he expressed his pleasure at
seeing me on my horse again, and asked me if I thought I
could ride down a -Seikh? Of course, I could only state
in reply, that I would try to do so.

On the 19th January, 1844, terms of peace having been
arranged, the young rajah was duly installed upon his throne
by the Governor-General. The following day the whole
army was reviewed, and the orders issued for the return of
the troops to their several cantonments. In one of the brigades
thus broken up were the 40th Foot and 16th Regiment
Native Infantry, which corps had served together at Candahar



46 Reminiscences of an Indian Official.

and throughout the campaign in Afghanistan. There was a
cordial good feeling between the men of the two regiments.
A medical officer attached to the 40th saw a sepoy enter the
hospital who, to his surprise, told him that he had come to bid
his brother good-bye, the aforesaid brother proving to be a
Huropean soldier, between whom and the sepoy there was
evidently a sincere attachment. On the 3rd of February
the corps reached Agra, and I had the happiness of being
reunited to my dear wife, under whose loving care I rapidly
improved. I took the opportunity of paying a visit to that
splendid edifice, the Taj Mahal, being carried round the
building in my litter, from which I was still unable to rise.
After a short halt we resumed our march, and on the 19th
the corps re-entered its old quarters at Bareilly. It was not,
however, until June that I was able to return to duty, being
placed on my charger by a couple of orderlies, whilst, in lien
of the left stirrup, my saddle was fitted with a leather
bucket, into which the stump of my wounded leg was
inserted.

In the early part of this year a serious mutiny broke out
amongst the Indian troops assembled at Ferozepore, en route
for Scinde. It was not quelled until two European corps
had been ordered to the station for the purpose of overawing
the mutineers. One regiment, the 34th, was eventunally dis-
banded. Had sterner measures been then adopted, possibly
the mutinous spirit which culminated in the outbreak of 1857
would have been checked; as it was, the sepoys escaped
almost unpunished, whilst an officer who had repressed the
mutiny in the 4th Regiment by cutting down a mutineer
was blamed instead of being rewarded. There is no doubt
that the intention of the Government to reduce the extra
batta given to the troops serving in Scinde ought to have
been made known to the native army by a general order issued
months before the relief, and the intimation of the pro-
posed withdrawal of the indulgence should not have been
delayed until the relieving corps were actually on the march.
Still this was no excuse for mutiny.

The Punjaub was in a very unsettled state. In March Rajah
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Suchet Singh, with a few followers, was attacked and massa-
cred at a short distance from Lahore by a large Seikh force
commanded by his nephew, Hera Singh, whilst in May a
serious engagement took place between the Khalsa army
under Hera Singh and the insurgents, commanded by Peshora
Singh. The former was victorious, and even threatened to
make a descent upon the British banks of the Sutledge,
under the impression that the rebels had been instigated to
make the attack by our authorities.

In December a serious disturbance occurred in the regi-
ment, on the occasion of the Bukri Eid, a Mahommedan
festival instituted in remembrance of Abraham’s willingness
to offer up his son Isaac, or, as Moslems assert, Ishmael, and
sometimes, therefore, styled the festival of sacrifice. The
disturbance arose from the Mahommedans having designedly
sacrificed cows within the precincts of the lines, thus
wantonly insulting the prejudices of their fellow soldiers, the
Hindoos, who justly complained to the commanding officer.
We immediately mounted our horses and galloped down to the
lines, and found the men in a state of great excitement; but
the tumult was fortunately soon allayed. A court of inquiry
was assembled by the Brigadier to investigate the matter,
when the native Adjutant, in a most manly manner, took the
whole blame upon himself, begging that the non-commis-
sioned officers and troopers concerned in the affair might be
exonerated, as he was cognisant of their intended proceed-
ings and failed to prohibit them. He was consequently re-
moved from his appointment. He fully acknowledged
the justice of his punishment, but upon Captain Hill’s
strong recommendation, and in consideration of his former
exemplary and gallant conduct, the Commander-in-Chief
was pleased to sanction his being restored to his old position,
and I had the great satisfaction of conveying to him the
pleasing intelligence, for he was a gentleman and a soldier in
every sense of the word. He subsequently behaved ex-
tremely well during the mutiny. He was at his house in
the neighbourhood of Allyghur, when a small party of
Europeans were surrounded by the rebels. He immediately
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collected his friends and kinsmen, and proceeded to their
rescue, eventually escorting them in safety to Agra. Yet
he was fully impressed with theidea that the rule of the Com-
pany was at an end, and, whilst pointing out to the English
officers that there would be a good opening for their services
in the various native states, always stated that he had
served the Company for so many years that he could not
transfer his allegiance to any other master, and was prepared
to give up his life in the Company’s service.

In January, 1845, having been appointed to act as Pension
Paymaster, I procceded to Meerut, where I remained for
about three months. General SirJohn Grey, a kind hearted
hospitable old gentleman, commanded the division. He was
in the habit of appealing to his aide-de-camp to confirm any
statement he might make. One evening when I was dining
with him he alluded to the dreadful odour that emanated from
the village of Maharajpore, owing to the non-removal of the
corpses of the slain, and ended by saying, “I never smelt
such a smell in my life; did I, P——?"” Of course the
aide-de-camp, in duty bound replied, ‘“ Never, General.”
The fourth member of the party was a very gallant old
soldier, an amusing companion, but somewhat inclined to
draw the long bow. Two of the anecdotes related of him
are worth mentioning. A young officer having complained
of his very bad luck at cards, the Colonel remarked that he
could not have had worse luck than himself, for on one occa-
sion he played whist regularly for six months and never once
had a trump card in his hand. ‘ But surely, sir, you must
have had one every time it was your deal?” was the
youngster’s reply. “Oh, no! it was certainly very extra-
ordinary ; but, by Jove, I always made a misdeal,”” was the
ready observation. On another occasion the wisdom of the
serpent being in question, he asserted that, one morning,
when taking his ride, he observed a cobra getting into a hole
in a bank; the tail only was outside. His native groom
seized it, and drawing the snake out of the ground, swung
it to a distance with the view of killing it. The snake,
however, was too quick for him, and gained its shelter, the
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tail, however, being still exposed. This occurred twice with
the same result. The third time, however, the cobra sought
its lair tail foremost, the head being turned towards its
assailant ready to spring upon him 1f he approached, and
thus effected its escape. In October I succeeded to the tem-
porary command of the regiment. A trooper was convicted
before a Regimental Court of gross insubordination and 1nso-
Ience to the Brigade-Major of the station and sentenced
to be discharged. There was nothing in the man’s
favour, he was a thoroughly bad character, and 1 con-
firmed the sentence. Some time after the man returned to
the lines and stated that the sentence was to be cancelled.
The next day I received a letter from army head-quarters,
1implying a censure upon my conduct for having sanctioned
his dismissal, and directing his re-instatement. I could not
but consider that, in the interest of discipline, it was my
duty to appeal against this decision. I therefore submitted
a full representation of all the circumstances of the case, ex-
pressing my regret that I should have been thought to
have acted harshly, and, as I felt convinced that the order
had been issued under some misconception, my hope that
I might be pardoned delaying to carry it into effect pend-
ing the receipt of further instructions. These instructions
never arrived, and consequently the trooper did not rejoin
the corps, and my authority was not weakened, as it certainly
would have been if the just sentence of the court had been
sct aside. At this time there can be no doubt that the
system of acting upon petitions containing complaints against
commanding officers was far too prevalent, and discipline
was consequently materially affected. In a native regiment
a commanding officer should be all powerful, and his autho-
rity should not lightly be interfered with ; but if he is unfit
for his position, there should be no hesitation, he should be
removed.

On the 25th November orders were unexpectedly received
for the regiment to march to the frontier, and to be in every
way prepared for immediate active service. The General
had some doubts about allowing me to accompany the corps,

E
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on the ground that I could hardly be considered effective ;
but, as he acknowledged that my duty had always been
efficiently performed, on my pointing out the ill effect it
would have upon the men if I remained behind, he not only
consented to my going, but relieved my mind of all anxiety
as to the comfort of my wife by offering her a home under
his hospitable roof during my absence.

The regiment left Bareilly on the 1st of December, and
arrived at Meerut on the 12th. Here we received orders to push
onat once towards the frontier. The station was in a state of
bustle and confusion. Her Majesty’s 9th Lancers, the
43rd and 59th Regiments of Native Infantry, had marched
to the North-West the day before our arrival, and the 16th
Lancers and 10th Foot, three troops of Horse Artillery,
Sappers and Miners, 3rd Regiment Light Cavalry, 55th and
68th Regiments, were under orders to move in the same
direction. On the 14th we marched into Sirdanah, the resi-
dence of the late Begum Sumroo. Her palace, which was
a fine building, contained several good paintings, amongst
them portraits of the Begum, Sir David Auchterlony,
General Allard, and others distinguished in Indian history.
In the vicinity there is a Roman Catholic cathedral, a hand-
some edifice, erected by the Begum after her conversion to
Christianity. On the 19th we reached Kurnaul. Here we
became aware of the declaration of war, as announced in the
proclamation by the Governor-General, dated 13th December.

Having, through the kind aid of the Collector, Mr.
Gubbins, exchanged our bullock carts for camels, a species
of carriage better fitted for a campaign, we recommenced our
march to the front, accompanied by two troops of horse
artillery. On the 22nd, whilst on stable duty in the evening,
I was informed by some of the troopers that an engagement
had taken place in the neighbourhood of Ferozepore. On
the following day, on reaching Pehore, we found that
rumours of a battle having been fought were flying about,
and that heavy firing had been heard on the evening of the
21st. On our arrival the next morning at Samanah the
native adjutant met in the town a Seikh soldier, who stated
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that he had been in the action of the 21st, and had been
severely wounded. He reported the complete rout of the
Seikh army. On the 31st, a trooper attached to the Political
Agency came into camp, who stated that he had assisted to
bury Major Broadfoot. His account of the engagement
confirmed the report we had received ‘at Munsoorpur of its
having been a most bloody one, and lasted nearly three
days.

On our arrival at Bassean, on the lst of January, we
reccived orders to halt, to enable the division to be concen-
trated, with a view to a move on Loodianah, to attack the
Seikh force said to be in the neighbourhood of Phillour
Ghaut. The following day, however, we were instructed to
continue our march, and on the 4th we reached Moodkee
the scene of the first engagement. The ground was covered
with the bodies of men and horses. The practice of our
artillery must have been excellent; in one or two places
where the enemy’s batteries were posted not a horse or
man seemed to have escaped, and the dead literally lay in
heaps.

On the 6th January the cavalry and horse artillery made
a forced march to join the head-quarters camp, and the
following morning at daybreak the 4th Regiment Irregular
Cavalry proceeded to take up an advanced position near the
bridge of boats, constructed by the enemy, across the
Sutledge. We reached our ground about one o’clock, and
immediately pushed forward pickets in the direction of the
river, our furthermost post being close to a ruined mud
tower in the immediate vicinity of the bridge. Here our
patrols met those of the 8th. Regiment, which corps
held a position about a mile to our left though separated
from our camp by a deep ravine. The main body of the
army was about four miles in our rear, and we had no
immediate supports. It was, therefore, necessary to be
at all times on the alert. Our outposts and videttes ex-
tended for several miles, and I personally visited them all
three times in the twenly-four hours. The greater part

of my time was, therefore, spent in the saddle. In the
E 2
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day time the old mud tower above alluded to was a favourite
place of resort, as with the aid of a glass the Secikh camp
and the movements of their troops could be plainly perceived.
At times parties used to cross the bridge and thrveaten our
pickets, but no serious attack was ever made, and onr out-
posts were never driven in. In one instance, however, the
Seikhs were in sufficient force to induce the officer command-
ing the advanced posttosend in a trooper to give the alarm.
As he was seen galloping into camp, the men seized their
arms and rushed to their horses, and in a few minutes after the
trumpet sounded, the corps was mounted, the tents struck,
and the baggage packed in readiness for despatch to the
rear. On two occasions, whilst patrolling in front of our
videttes, I came upon some suspicious looking Seikhs, whom
I made prisoners and sent to head-quarters. One morning
a villager pointed out a Seikh trooper, who, he said, belonged
to a party that had crossed the river during the night in
search of forage. After a sharp gallop I overtook the
supposed Seikh, when, much to my surprise, he turned
round with a laugh, and I recognized one of my own men
whom I had sent out in disguise to obtain intelligence. He
had seen the Seikhs in the distance, and had intended fol-
lowing them into their camp, thinking that it might be
supposed that he was a straggler from their party. I hac
charge of the intelligence department with our camp, and
had no difficulty in obtaining, by means of my own men, full
information relative to the strength and position of the Seikh
army. They used to carry with them a store of parched
peas, and when they came across a battery they took out
the number corresponding with the number of guns and
tied them up in a knot in their waistcloth to serve as an aide
memotre. On the 12th the army took up a fresh position,
extending along the bank of the river from the bridge of
boats to Hurreekee Gthaut. On this occasion I reaped the
advantage of always carrying a pencil and paper in my
sabretache. I had been detached early in the morning with
a squadron to watch the ghaut whilst our troops were taking
up their position: but in the afternoon, receiving no further
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instructions, and my men and horses being without food or
water, I despatched a note to our brigade-major, when it
was found that the general had overlooked my party, and I
was accordingly ordered to return to camp. Skirmishing
took place daily between our pickets and advanced parties
of the enemy. On the 17th a detachment under the orders
of that energetic and gallant but somewhat irascible General,
Sir Harry Smith, was ordered to move on Dhurmkot. The
Seikh garrison surrendered, but as the enemy were reported
to have assembled in strength and threatencd Loodianah,
Sir Harry was directed to relieve that station, and for this
purpose the 16th Lancers, 4th Regiment Irregular Cavalry,
and two troops of horse artillery were added to his com-
mand. We joined Sir Harry’s force on the 20th at Jugraon,
after two very long and fatiguing marches, the road being ex-
tremely heavy. The first day the march was twenty-five miles,
we did not reach our encamping ground before three p.m.,
and I was immediately required to put a strong picket
of our men on the left lank of dur position. The men had
had nothing to eat, and the picket was placed on a sandy
plain, without any shelter; yet when I asked if there was
anything I could procure for them, they stated that all that
they required was water for their horses, as without the
means of quenching their thirst they would become unfit for
work. Nothing was said with regard to their own wants.
At Jugraon we were joined by Her Majesty’s 53rd Foot,
and a large body of European recruits, which arrived in
the evening from Bassean. At three r.M. the general
summoned commanding officers to his tent for the purpose
of informing them that the enemy was in strength near
Loodianah, having entrenchments close to the village of
Haibwal. He stated that it was his intention to march to
Loodianah, a distance of twenty-five miles, and then to
attack the Seikh army. The officer commanding the artil-
lery at once represented that his horses would be completely
knocked up, as we had already made two forced marches,
the artillery, therefore, would be able to render but little
assistance in the event of the general’s not allowing a short
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time to recruit after reaching Lioodianah. This remonstrance
was unheeded.

The force moved from its ground at one A.M. on the 21st,
the cavalry brigade and horse artillery leading; the four
infantry regiments and light field battery in the rear. Owing
to a wheel having come in contact with a stump of a tree
whilst passing through a village, one of the guns had to be
halted for repairs. This caused a stoppage of the whole of
the rear of the column. When the accident had been
remedied the mounted portion proceeded at a smart trot to
overtake their brigade. Thus there was an interval of
about half a mile between the rear corps of cavalry and
the leading regiment of infantry. A little before sunrise a
native brought to Captain Hill a letter addressed to the
general from Colonel Godby, commanding at Loodianah.
The man stated that the enemy had moved from his entrench-
ments, and was about five miles from us, at a village called
Budiwal. His force consisted of six standards, or corps of
cavalry, and ten regiments of infantry, with forty-two guns.
Captain Hill immediately conveyed the letter to the general,
for which he was thanked ; but upon mentioning that the
native who brought it would give information relative to
the enemy’s movements, he was desired to rejoin his
corps. Immediately afterwards Lieutenant Swetenham, of
the 16th Lancers, escorted by twenty troopers of the 4th
Regiment Irregular Cavalry, was ordered to proceed to
Loodianah with a despatch for Colonel Godby, directing
him to move towards Budiwal to form a junction with the
relieving force. Although we were close to the enemy no
steps apparently were taken to ascertain correctly his
position, numbers, &c., and the interval between the cavalry
and infantry still continued. The Seikhs were not so supine,
for two Shutur sowars (camel riders) were at times ob-
served on the left of our column, who were evidently
watching our movements, and who hurriedly rode off when
they noticed that attention was drawn towards them. When
within two miles of Budiwal the halt was sounded. After
about a quarter of an hour had elapsed we again advanced
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in the same order as before. We had not proceeded above
a mile when the kettle drumsof the Seikh Cavalry were
heard on our left, and we soon perceived the whole of the
Seikh force advancing out of some brushwood about half a
mile distant. They then proceeded to take up a position on
some sand-hills parallel to the road along which we were
moving, and about 500 yards from it, their left resting on a
small village surrounded by a mud wall some 10 feet in
height. We steadily continued our route. At this time my
first charger, which I had only mounted during the halt,
became so restive that, after vainly trying to quiet him, I
determined to remount my second charger, which, fortu-
nately, was nigh at hand. Jumping off hastily, my wooden
leg sank into the sand, and until one of my orderlies
hastened to help me, I was in the unpleasant predicament of
standing under a heavy fire between my two horses, and
unable to mount either. In the meanwhile the regiment
had been drawn up in close column of squadrons facing the
Seikh army, and within range of their guns. As the ground
in our front was not adapted for cavalry movements, we
simply served as a target upon which the enemy might
amuse themselves by practising until our tired infantry
came up from the rear. We soon had several casualties;
and then, in obedience to instructions from our brigadier,
who at once recognized the false position in which we had
been placed, retired about 600 yards, and deployed on the
third squadron. During this manceuvre the men were un-
steady; with but few exceptions our native officers became
confused, and, as the three Kuropean officers were all in the
rear, the troopers had no one to look to for guidance. Under
any circumstances, moreover, a retirement in column effected
under a heavy artillery fire must be a nervous operation, espe-
cially with cavalry. Assoon, however, as our line was formed,
and we again faced the danger, the unsteadiness ceased.
In the meanwhile a mass of the enemy’s cavalry debouched
from the rear of the village, with the view, apparently, of
driving back the head of the column. Her Majesty’s 16th
Lancers immediately showed front to their assailants, and
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prepared to attack by alternate squadrons. The Seikhs
did not wait toreceive their charge, but at once retired upon
their guns, suffering severe loss from the fire of our horse
artillery. Whilst these operations were being carried on
our infantry and field battery reached the scene of action,
and passing along the front of our line proceeded in the
direction of Loodianah. They suifered severely from the
enemy’s fire; but, footsore and weary as they were, some of
them having marched over 60 miles within little more than
twenty-four hours, when our guns opened it seemed as
if an electric shock had passed through their ranks. A
hearty cheer pealed out, and every man drew himself up as
erect as if he had only just come on parade. After they
had passed, the order was given threes right, and we con-
tinued our march. The Seikhs immediately took advantage
of their front being clear to fling forward their right,
pouring a very heavy artillery fire upon our retreating
troops. At the same time a large body of their cavalry
commenced plundering our baggage, which extended for
miles along the open country. Upon perceiving that our
force made no preparations for the attack, the Seikh troops
again pushed forward, threatening our rear and left flank.
Our cavalry accordingly a second time advanced to the
charge, and our infantry formed line to the left. Our artil-
lery opening uopon our assailants they rapidly retired,
and our flank being thus cleared our line changed front left
back to oppose the Seikh infantry menacing our rear, and
retired by alternate regiments, infantry and artillery in the
centre, and cavalry on both flanks. The 4th Regiment
Irregular Cavalry were moving along some hard ground, and
suffered from the ricochet shot. I had pointed out to my
commanding officer that by taking ground to the left in
some ploughed land we should escape the effects of this
fire, and we had just completed the movement, I being on
the extreme right and still on the hard ground, when I was
struck on the left arm by a ricochet ball—I believe the last
that reached us. The Seikh troops evidently did not like to
proceed far from their entrenchments, and their fire
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gradually ceased. When we had left Budiwal two miles in
our rear a very ominous cloud of dust appeared on the
horizon, and at one time it was feared that we were about to
be called upon to defend ourselves from a fresh body of
assailants; but after a short interval an advanced party in
the French-grey uniform were seen emerging out of the
dust, and the action was barely over when we were joined
by the Loodianah garrison, consisting of four guns horse
artillery, one regiment of light cavalry, and four regiments
of native infantry. Owing to the long marches, our men,
and, as regards the field battery, horses were dead beat,
and we therefore continued our march. 1 remained on
horseback until we arrived in sight of the cantonments,
when upon riding up to a squadron of the 16th Lancers,
drawn up on the left of the road along which the column
was moving, in the hope of obtaining some water to quench
my thirst, which, from the effect of my wound, was exces-
sive, I suddenly became so faint that I could no longer sit
in my saddle, and I was placed upon a -horse-cloth which
an officer kindly had spread on the ground for my use.
Although no water was procurable, I obtained a little wine
to moisten my parched lips, and after some delay a litter
was brought, in which I was conveyed to the station. Eu
route I was accosted by a soldier, who asked me if I had not
been at Maharajpore. He turned out to be my old friend
of the 40th, who had changed to the 63rd. He kindly pro-
cured for me from one of his comrades a small bottle of
water. Unfortunately, I forgot to ask his name, but from
inquiries I subsequently made I am afraid that he was
amongst the killed at Sobraon. Our camp equipage and
baggage having been lost, or at all events reported missiug,
I could not remain with the regiment, and was accordingly
sent to the hospital in the fort, which I reached about
eight p.m., and found quarters assigned me in a bleak, deso-
late room adjoining that in which the wounded men were
being placed. However, I was glad to obtain any shelter, and
the deputy collector having kindly supplied me with a bed,
and the quartermaster of Her Majesty’s 29th Regiment with
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a cup of tea and a biscuit, the only refreshment I had en-
joyed during the day, I was soon as comfortable as I could
expect, and after my wound had been attended to I shortly
fell asleep, my orderly, the only attendant I had, stretching
himself on the ground by my side. It appears to me that
several mistakes were committed in the course of the opera-
tions just described. If Sir Harry Smith had wished to
attack the enemy, upon hearing of their proximity he should
have halted to have given his troops rest, and concentrated
them previous to going into action. This, also, would have
given time to admit of his securing the co-operation of the
Loodianah force. If, on the contrary, it was not his inten-
tion to attack, then he should never have exposed his troops
to the fire of the enemy’s guns. The country was open for
miles to our right, and the Seikhs would never have ad-
vanced from their position and run the risk of being cut off
from their entrenchments. When we were fairly engaged
the 4th Regiment Irregular Cavalry should not have been
exposed in close column of squadrons to a heavy fire of artil-
lery, having ground in their front over which they could not
possibly have charged. Had they been at firs$ drawn up in
line out of range of the enemy’s guns their loss would have
been trifling, and they would have been in a position to have
acted with effect against the ememy in the event of his
attacking our tired infantry. As it was, the services of the
corps were completely lost, for, even when they were in
line, the infantry, by marching along the front instead of
the rear, effectually prevented any charge being made.
After the infantry had cleared the right flank, had the
regiment retired by threes from the right of squadrons, and
taken up a fresh position about half*a mile to the rear, in
all probability the enemy’s change of front might have been
delayed at least for a quarter of an hour, and thus several
casualties and some baggage might have been saved.

On the 26th I was agreeably surprised by the arrival of my
servants with one of my camels, so that I was enabled to
enjoy the luxury of a change of clothes, and also to assisb
my brother officers. The spirit with which they bore their
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deprivations may be gathered from the following heading of
a letter acknowledging the receipt of a couple of shirts :—

I sit and gaze upon my kit,
And think of all my woes ;

My kit, alas ! how small it is,
They’ve stolen all my clothes.

On the 28th heavy firing was heard during the day, and
in the morning Major O’Hanlon, who had been severely
wounded in the leg, rode in and brought us the news of the
victory of Aliwal. He sent me my commission, and the
certificate of my having passed at the College of Fort
William, which had been taken away when our luggage had
been plundered, and were found under a gun in the Seikh
camp. Poor Smalpage, who took my place after I was
wounded, was amongst the killed. He was much regretted
in the corps. The men voluntarily bore him to the grave,
and many of the old native officers cried bitterly.

On the 29th I was removed from the dreary building in the
fort to a small house adjoining the palace. The change
proved beneficial, but on the 1st of February, when Hender-
son was able to ride over to see me, he found the wound still
very much inflamed, and from that date he took me as well
as our wounded men almost entirely under his charge,
riding in daily from camp for that purpose. There was an
amusing story current with respect to the general. It was
said that a private of the 50th fell out to take a stone out of
his shoe which prevented his marching. Whilst in the rear
he was perceived by Sir Harry, who called out—* What are

you doing there, you d d coward ? ” Hurrying on to
overtake his regiment, the man replied—* Youare a d—-—d
liar!” The day after the action the general rode down
the ranks of the 50th, recognised his friend, and said, “ You
are the man who called me a d——d liar yesterday.” “ Yes,
Sir, said the private, and I will call any man a d——d liar
who says that I am a d——d coward.”

On the 11th February the inflammation in my arm had
subsided and the fever left me, and, on the 15th, at the



60 Renuniscences of an Indian Official.

request of the brigadier, I accepted the charge of all the
sick and wounded, amounting to several hundreds, of the
the native troops at Loodianah. I was still too weak to
walk, and used to ride through the hospitals held on my
pony by a couple of orderlies. The poor fellows had been
sadly neglected, and many were in great distress from actual
want of food. I soon obtained for them relief in this
respect, and had them properly attended to. I was much
struck with the Goorkhas of the Sirmoor Battalion; many
of them were suffering from severe wounds, yet when they
heard of the death of their commanding officer they sobbed,
and said that they should have cared nothing about their
own pains had his life only been spared.

On the 1st March I received the official notification of my
appointment to the post of Superintendent of the Mysore
Princes. My connection with the Irregular Cavalry was
thus brought to a termination. An appointment to this
branch of the Service was naturally an object of ambition
to most young officers, for there is not a campaign in the
glories and dangers of which the Irregular Cavalry have
not taken a fair share.

The men found their own horses, arms, accoutrements and
clothing, which were, of course, in accordance with a fixed
regimental pattern; indeed, the cloth for the uniform was
frequently procured direct from England, and then made up
at regimental headquarters, so as to ensure a good fit. It
was cut in the native style—a species of loose tunic, with
pantaloons and jackboots—a good serviceable dress. The
trooper, out of his pay, was required to maintain his horse
as well as himself; but when the price of gram—a species
of pulse upon which horses in India are fed-—exceeded a
certain sum, the difference was paid by the State. If a
horse became unfit for work, owing to any neglect on the
part of the rider, the latter was liable to be put upon dis-
mounted pay. This arrangement had a good effect in re-
ducing the number of sore backs, &c. The soldiers furnished
their own camp equipage, which, on the march, was carried
chiefly by the grass-cutters’ ponies, one pony being ordinarily
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kept for every two horses; so that a corps was always ready
to march at an hour’s notice.

The Service was very popular amongst the native gentry
and ycomanry; and, as promotion was made in a great
measure by selection and not by mere seniority, many of the
native officers were superior men, perfectly capable of com-
manding troops and squadrons, and thoroughly acquainted
with their drill, whilst in appearance they were particularly
fine soldier-like fellows. Several of them were small landed
proprietors, and independent of the Service. I had an
orderly whose uncle was a Nawab, and allowed him £30
a-year; yet, as already stated, when I was wounded, he, for
some days, was my only attendant, and lay beside my cot,
rcady at any moment to render me whatever assistance might
be necessary. After the Mutiny he wrote to me to mention
that his nastd (fortune) had been great, as he had not
mutinied, and had become a native officer. It was a man
of the same regiment who, before Delhi, when Sir Hope
Grant’s horse was killed, offered to give up his own, though
at the probable sacrifice of his life, to enable him to
escape out of the mélée. Sir Hope, however, refused the
offer, but seized hold of the horse’s tail, and desired the rider
to cut his way through the enemy, which he did, dragging
Sir Hope after him.

For all the duties of light cavalry, such as outpost work,
reconnoitring, and foraging, from their. intelligence and
activity, they were particularly well fitted ; and they were
capital skirmishers. It was usual on parade, after going
through the manceuvres laid down in the drill-book, to draw
up the regiment in wings, fronting one another, and give the
order for native skirmishing, when troopers would gallop
out singly from one wing and challenge men from the other
to meet them. It was wonderful to see some of the feats of
skill in handling their weapons and in horsemanship they
displayed. One feat commonly performed was that of hitting
a bottle with a matchlock ball, the horse being at full speed ;
another was that of which a spirited illustration has lately
been published—carrying off a tent peg, driven well into the



62 Reminiscences of an Indian Official.

ground, on the point of a spear; which is far from easy,
for, if the peg is not struck fair and at a particular angle, so
as to draw it out of its position, the horseman, instead of
galloping on, flourishing the trophy of his skill, finds his
career suddenly cut short, and himself, perhaps, hurled to
the ground over his horse’s tail, much to his own disgust
and to the amusement of his comrades. These exercises
gave the men great confidence in their own skill, and made
them self-reliant and cool in danger, so that they did not
easily lose their presence of mind. As an example of this,
I would mention that, during the first war in Afghanistan,
a troop of the 4th Regiment I.C., whilst escorting stores
through one of the passes in Beloochistan, was attacked by
a large body of the enemy. As the latter were on foot,and
crowned the heights, from which they poured down a heavy
fire, there being mno infantry with the convoy, the native
officer in command immediately dismounted half his troop,
and, putting himself at their head, sword in hand, ascended
the hill, himself singling out the Belooch leader, who,
nothing loath, engaged with him in single combat. Both
were good swordsmen, but the Belooch chief, a powerful
man, had the advantage of being on the upper ground; the
native officer, after some time, found himself overmatched,
when he suddenly called out, as if to some one behind his
opponent, “Kill the rascal!” The ruse succeeded. The
Belooch, naturally thinking that one of the troopers had got
1n his rear, turned his head for a moment to ascertain the
position of his new enemy. That movement was fatal. By
a sweep from the native officer’s sabre his head was separated
from his body, and the Beloochis, seeing their leader fall,
retired.
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I reFr Loodianah on the 4th of March by dawk, reaching
Bareilly on the 12th, and, after a few days’ rest, continued
my journey to Allahabad, at which station I embarked on
board a river steamer, on the 7th of April, for Calcutta,
where we arrived on the 3rd of May. Throughout the whole
journey the heat had been excessive, and the passage down
the river was extremely tedious, diversified by our occa-
sionally finding ourselves stuck on a sand bank, with some
prospect of remaining there until a rise of the river should
take place.

Amongst my new charges, all descendants of Tippoo
Sultan, was Prince Gholam Mahomed, his son, a shrewd
and intelligent man, with pleasing manners; his mother,
who was the Sultan’s favourite wife, and used to act as his
amanuensis, was still alive, and whilst she received my wife
in the Zenana, used to hold long conversations with myself
from behind a screen. Although there were some other
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mcembers of the family who were not wanting in intelli-
gence, there were none that need any special notice.

On the 1st of April, 1847, in addition to my other duties,
I was appointed Superintendent of the Ex-Ameers of Scinde.
This necessitated my residing at Dumdum, a station about
seven miles from Calcutta, where their Highnesses were
located. I had previously been permitted to remove my
office to Barrackpore. Whilst there we were invited by the
(General commanding the station to meet Bishop Wilson at
dinner. The old gentleman apparently did not approve of
the wine, for, during the dessert, he descanted upon the
danger in tropical climates of giving your guests unsound
wine, and stated that, on the occasion of his visiting Agra,
he had dined with the Brigadier there, and his wine was so
bad that, in the case of his chaplain, the effect of drinking
it caused a serious attack of cholera, from which he with
difficulty recovered. With this remark he jumped up and
said he would join the ladies. The expression on our host’s
countenance may be easily imagined, he being the identical
Brigadier, a fact of which, doubtless, his Lordship, when
he related the story, was well aware. The next day the
Bishop preached one of his amusing sermons, in which he
first attacked all the young ladies for coming to church
merely to display their new dresses and bonnets; and then
the young officers, for attending simply with the view of
observing and admiring their neighbours.

My new charges were Meer Mahomed Khan, the only
survivor of the reigning Ameers, a fine old man, with a
venerable white beard; had his face not been disfigured by a
hare lip he would have been decidedly handsome. He was
not, however, endowed with any great amount of intellect.
Meer Futteh Ali Khan and Mahomed Ali Khan, sons
of the late Meer Sobdar Khan, both handsome, and very
energetic in complaining of their wrongs; Meer Hussun
Ali and Abbas Ali, sons of the late Meer Nusseer
Khan, the former a very superior man; the latter a fine
good-humoured looking lad, who had studied English,
and acquired a sufficient knowledge of the language to
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admit of his carrying on an ordinary conversation. He
had been anxious to proceed to KEngland to complete his
education, but the necessary permission had not been
accorded. The last, Meer Hoosein Ali, who was subse-
quently joined by his brother, Meer Shahdad, was the son
of the late Meer Noor Mahomed, and was consigned by
his father, when on his death-bed, to Outram’s care. He
was somewhat heavy looking, very quiet, and of an
amiable disposition.

Asa brief history of the Talpore dynasty, and the circum-
stances which led to its downfall, as described by the Ameers
themselves, may not be deemed uninteresting, I propose
giving, in a narrative form, the substance of various state-
ments made to me during the several years they remained
under my charge. This narrative may be appropriately
preceded by the following genealogical table tracing the
descent of the Ameers, without a break, to Adam, a table
upon which they prided themselves :—

Meer Hussun Ali Khan, bin (son of) Meer Nusseer Khan,
bin Meer Morad Ali Khan, bin Meer Sobdar Khan, bin Mecer
Bahram Khan, bin Meer Shahdad Khan, bin Hotuck, bin
Soliman, bin Shahoo, bin Bejar, bin Zungec, bin Boodha,
bin Foolaud, bin Mahomed, bin Jalal ud din, bin Mahomed,
bin Hauroor, bin Mahomed, bin Aban, bin Abd ur Rahman,
bin Ameer Hamzah, bin Abd ul Motallib, bin Haushim, bin
Abd ul Munaf, bin Kusah, bin Kulaub, bin Mirrah, bin
Lawa, bin Ghaulib, bin Kuhr, bin Maulik, bin Nusr, bin
Kunanah, bin Khuzimah, bin Madrakah, bin Elias, bin
Muzir, bin Nuzar, bin Maud, bin Adnan, bin Auzur, bin
Elyra, bin Ahmi, bin Suliman, bin Ulbunt, bin Humb, bin
Keedar, bin Ismail, bin Ibrahim, bin Tarukh, bin Naukhoor,
bin Shoroogh, bin Arghoo, bin Fauligh, bin Aumir, bin
Shalekh, bin Arfahshad, bin Shem, bin Noah, bin Maulik,
bin Mustooshalakh, bin Akhnookh, bin Elyazur, bin Muhlail,
bin Einan, bin Anoosh, bin Sheish, bin Adam.

The founder of the Talpore family was Mahomed bin
Haroon, who was the Governor of Kuch Makran, and

accompanied Mahomed bin Cassim, a General in the
)
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gervice of Abdul Malik, Ruler of Arabia, who received
orders to proceed to Scinde with the view of effecting the
conquest of that country. Mahomed bin Haroon died on
the march, bat his eldest son Jalal ud Din settled in
Scinde. The fate of Mahomed bin Cassim was extremely
tragical. Having taken prisoner a beautiful girl, whose
father he had killed in battle, he sent her to Hijaj, who
was the King’s Prime Minister. On arriving at the palace,
and being brought into the Minister’s presence, she stated
she had been seduced by Mahomed Cassim. The Minister,
enraged at the supposed insult, despatched a mandate to
the unfortunate General to present himself before him
clothed in a raw cow-hide. Mahomed Cassim obeyed the
order, and immediately put on the garment directed, which
gradually contracted, and on the third day he expired in its
folds. When his death was made known, the slave girl
acknowledged his innocence, and taunted Hijaj with his
stupidity in sacrificing a faithful servant.

Bahram Khan, a Belooch Chief, was one of the descen-
dants of Jalal ud Din. His eldest son was Meer Bejar
Khan, who, when a young man, married the daughter of
another Sirdar, Meer Chakur Khan. The lady, however, did
not long survive the marriage, and upon her demise the
widower expressed a desire to be united to her younger
sister. The father gave his consent, but Meer Bahram
Khan could mnot be prevailed upon to acquiesce in the
arrangement. At this period Meer Sir Afraz Khan ruled
in Scinde. Between the Sovereign and Meer Bejar Khan
a great friendship existed. The disappointed chief, there-
fore, proceeded to Court, and inveighed against the objec-
tion raised by his father to his union with the lady of his
choice. The Ameer, desirous of securing the services of so
powerful a tribe, agreed to assist him in the attainment of
the object of his wishes by compassing the death of his
father and his younger brother Meer Sobdar Khan, a lad of
great abilities, and consequently possessing considerable
influence amongst the members of his family. The better to
allay suspicion, Meer Bejar Khan left Scinde under the pre-
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tence of proceeding on a pilgrimage. In the meanwhile, at
the instigation, or by the orders of Meer Sir Afraz Khan,
Meer Bahram Khan and his son were assassinated ; but the
Beloochies, by whom they were much beloved, deposed and
jmprisoned the author of the deed, and raised Meer
Gholam Nubbi to the post of Sovereign. On the return
of Meer Bejar Khan he immediately exerted himself to
the utmost of his power to ensure the release and restora-
tion to the throne of his former friend and patron; and, ere
long, having succeeded in collecting a considerable force, he
advanced to his rescue. Meer Gholam Nubbi apparently
did not hesitate for a moment to show front to the rebel,
and, leaving the deposed monarch in the fort at Hyderabad,
under charge of his brother, Meer Abd ul Nubbi, moved
forward to the encounter. A furious battle took place, in
which Meer Bejar Khan was completely victorious, and
his adversary slain. Hearing of his brother’s defeat, Meer
Abd ul Nubbi issued orders for the murder of his prisoner,
and fled. Meer Bejar accordingly seized the sceptre which
he retained wuntil his death, which occurred, under the
following circumstances. Abd ul Nubbi, being unable to
meet his opponent in the field, offered to cede one of the
most valuable fortresses in Scinde to the Rajah of Jodhpore,
in the event of that chief being able to compass the death
of the usurper. This the Rajah promised, and, having given
full instructions on the subject to four of his dependants,
who knew no law but their master’s will, he deputed them
on an embassy to Scinde. Meer Bejar Khan was made
aware of the object they had in view, but apparently held
them in contempt, and took no precautions to ensure his
own safety from their designs, receiving them, moreover,
with every mark of cordiality. They had resided for some
time at Hyderabad without obtaining any opportunity for
carrying their instructions into effect; when, one day,
seeing the Ameer standing near the palace, accompanied
by only one attendant, a Hindoo, they drew near and craved
a private audience. This was granted, and, upon their

reaching an inner apartment, Meer Bejar Khan directed
F 2
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them to deliver any message with which they had been
entrusted. The answer was a stab from the poniard of one
of the conspirators, whilst an immediate attack was made
upon him by the others. He had, however, still sufficient
strength to defend himself, and with one blow severed the
leg of one of his assailants. The Hindoo coming to his
lord’s assistance, whilst parties of Beloochies, attracted by
the cry for aid, were rapidly approaching, the would-be
assassins attempted to escape ; three out of the four, how-
ever, were slain.

Upon the demise of Meer Bejar Khan, his son, Meer
Abdullah, was established as Prime Minister, and Meer
Sadik Ali placed upon the throne. This prince, howerver,
was the mere nominal ruler, as the whole power was vested
in Meer Futteh Ali Khan, the eldest son of Meer Sobdar,
Meer Bejar Khan’s brother.

Meer Abd ul Nubbi, having proceeded to Afghanistan, pre-
vailed upon Timur Shah so far to espouse his cause as to
permit Muddud Khan, an Afghan noble, to undertake the
invasion of Scinde with a powerful army ; the Belooch chiefs
assembled their forces with a view to resistance, but were
soon glad to sue for terms. Meer Abdullah, accompanied
by Meer Futteh Khan and one Meerza, surrendered to the
Afghan sirdar. They were, by his orders, delivered to Meer
Abd ul Nubbi, who immediately caused them to be put to
death. This act of cruelty aroused the indignation of his
ally, who, from that date, refused to afford him aid towards
the recovery of his kingdom. Shortly after he was recalled
by his own monarch, his services being required elsewhere.

Upon the retreat of the Afghan troops Meer Abd ul Nubbi,
who was only supported by the Brahooi tribe and some few
Beloochies, after several severe engagements, being unable
to resist the attacks of Meer Futteh Ali Khan, was finally
driven from the country. From the date of his expulsion
the rule of the Talpore dynasty may be said to have com-
menced, as Meer Sadik Ali was deposed and the govern-
ment usurped by Meer Futteh Ali Khan, the founder of the
Hyderabad house. Meer Tarah Khan, son of the murdered
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Futteh Khan, and father of Shere Mahomed of Meerpore,
eventually receiving a portion of territory granted in com-
pensation for his father’s blood, under the following cir-
cumstances.

The territory of which Meerpore was the capital was, in
the first instance, made over to his elder brother, Meer
Allah Yar. This chief, after retaining the reins of govern-
ment for a short time, became deranged, and, in a fit of
Insanity, transferred the whole of his possessions to Meer
Gholam Ali. That Sirdar, however, forwarded the Koran in
which the deed of gift was written to Meer Tarah Khan,
who thereupon assumed the management of the country.
He afterwards quarrelled with Meer Gholam Ali, and a
contest ensued, in which Meer Tarah was wounded and his
troops dispersed. His conqueror, however, redelivered into
his charge the whole of the district, on the condition of his
acknowledging himself as his tributary (though no actual
tribute was imposed), and ceasing to pay tribute to the
Court of Caubul. On the death of Meer Tarah Khan the
chieftainship devolved on Meer Ali Morad, and, on his
decease, on our late foe, Meer Shere Mahomed, whose two
younger brothers by the same mother were merely con-
sidered as dependants, having no voice in the council of the
State, or, in fact, the slightest influence or power with
respect to the government of the country. About six
months after the demise of Meer Noor Mahomed, these
brothers, Shah Mahomed and Khan Mahomed, the latter a
lad of about fifteen, rebelled, and sought the advice and aid
of Meer Nusseer Khan, then the head of the Talpore family.
That Ameer assisted them with men and money, and, upon
their being totally defeated by Shere Mahomed, deputed
Meers Hussan Ali Khan and Futteh Ali Khan to intercede
with the victor in their behalf. Their entreaties proved
successful, and the rebels were pardoned, jaghirs being
assigned for their support, but enmity to his brother
appears never to have been eradicated from the heart of
Shah Mahomed, and it does not seem at all improbable that
the letter despatched to Sir Charles Napier, in which an
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offer was made to assassinate his brother in the cvent of the
government being bestowed upon him as a reward, was a
genuine production.

When the campaign commenced he was ordered by Shere
Mahomed to take command of a party to watch the banks
of the Indus, and intercept and plunder our steamers and
other boats passing up and down. He was thus engaged
when attacked by Colonel Roberts, his men were dispersed,
and he was forced to surrender.

On the death of Meer Sobdar the sovereignty of Hyder-
abad devolved upon his four sons, Meers Futteh Ali, Kur.
rum Ali, Gholam Ali, and Morad Ali. These ruled conjointly,
and were known by the name of the four friends. During
their lifetime no dissensions appear to have arisen; but, on
the death of Futteh Ali, his brothers apparently wished to
retain all power in their own hands without recognizing the
rights of his son, Meer Sobdar. This led to a revolt on his
part, which ended in an acknowledgment of his claims.
Upon the death of the last of the four friends, whilst their
descendants, Meer Sobdar, Meer Mahomed, Meer Noor Ma-
homed, and Meer Nusseer, still held a joint sovereignty over
the whole territory of Hyderabad, each exercised special
sway over certain districts. There was, however, far from
being a friendly feeling amongst them. Meer Sobdar was
always well inclined towards the British, and courted their
alliance. This aroused a jealous feeling on the part of
Nusseer, which was fomented by Meer Mahomed, a regular
old gossip, who was in the habit of pointing out to Nusseer
that, doubtless, Meer Sobdar was anxious to curry favour
with the British, with the view of obtaining their aid to
remove his relatives from power and usurp the sole govern-
ment of the country. At the same time he used to urge
upon Meer Sobdar the necessity for maintaining his rightful
standing as the senior Ameer, and not allowing Meer
Nusseer, who was evidently of a domineering character, to
arrogate that position to himself. This continual sowing
the seeds of mistrust between the Ameers had its effect, and
in a great measure led to their downfall. Nusseer Khan
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became embittered against the British, whom he looked
upon as Sobdar’s supporters, and he was invariably regarded
by the Ameers as the cause of all their calamities. In the
first instance, in order to defraud the British Government
with respect to the payment of the tribate, he founded an
establishment for coining rupees, consisting of only one-
third silver to two of alloy; and, in the second, he would
afford no assistance to the commanders of the steamers in
procuring a supply of fuel. Had this not been the case,
the Ameers believed that no new Treaty would have been
offered for their acceptance, as the fresh clauses introduced
referred principally to these two points. Nusseer also directed
letters to be prepared for transmission to the Emperor of
Russia and Shah of Persia, soliciting aid against the British;
and orders had been given for the despatch of a courier to
Bagdad, under pretence of purchasing wild hogs for his
Shikargahs, the hogs of Bagdad being famed for their
size. He was only dissuaded from carrying out his design
by the earnest entreaties of Meer Shahdad, who represented
to him thai the Resident was aware of his intention, and
that his messenger would therefore be intercepted and
searched at Kurrachee, when the letters would be dis-
covered. The Ameers acknowledged that it was most
probable that the letters to the Bebruck Boogtie and other
tribes, inciting them to attack England’s column, were
written by Meer Nusseer, whilst it was this chief, and not
Meer Shahdad, who gave orders to one Haji Borah, a de-
pendant of his own, to issue a proclamation on both sides of
the river, calling upon the Beloochies to plunder all British
boats and murder their occupants. This led to the fatal
attack upon Captain Ennis.

The Ameers never hesitated to ascribe their misfortunes
in a great measure to their own weaknesses. They acknow-
ledged that heavy dues were often illegally exacted from
British traders, who were also otherwise ill-treated by their
subordinate officers, over whom they exercised no control,
and who were never punished for their misdeeds. In fact,
an attempt on the part of one Ameer to inflict due chastise-
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ment on an offender was often thwarted by the others, by
whom he would be screened from justice.

They attributed no act of injustice to Sir Charles Napier,
who, being unacquainted with the native character, neces-
sarily, from the vacillation perceptible in their acts and
orders, was induced to believe that their object was treachery.
Indeed, they asserted that had Sir Charles been persuaded to
leave his troops and pay a visit to Hyderabad, he would
certainly have been seized, and possibly killed, by the Be-
loochies, and the consequences might have been disastrous
to the British army, at the same time they stated that
they would have accepted the revised Treaty had its terms
been properly explained to them; but, unfortunately, the
officer, Captain Stanley, by whom it was presented, was
unable to afford them any explanation with respect to some
of the provisions, which were ambiguously worded.

Although Meer Shahdad may not have instigated the
attack upon the Residency, there seems to be little doubt
that he joined the assailants after the attack had commenced,
leaving the Durbar for this purpose, saying, shall the Nawab
Sahib—alluding to the leader, Ahmad Khan Lughari—pro-
ceed to battle and the Ameers remain in their houses? He.
was also present at the battle of Meeanee, and the following
is his own account of his proceedings.

“ The night before the engagement I left Hyderabad and
proceeded to join the force under Meer Nusseer Khan, who
had taken up his position about three days previous. On
the following morning I rode to the spot where Meer Rus-
tum Khan was seated, and, whilst I was in the act of con-
versing with that chief, Meer Nusseer arrived. At this time
the Beloochies were scattered in perfect disorder along the
banks of the Falailee nullah, one man casting bullets, an-
other sleeping, a third chewing opiam, &c. I immediately
advised the Ameer to divide the army into three divisions,
giving the command of the first to Meer Rustam, assuming
that of the second himself, and placing the third under my
orders, so that the mecessary disposition might be made to
enable us to resist the attack of the British; to this he



Battle of Mecanee. 73

gave an evasive reply, stating that Ahmad Khan Lughari
was about to proceed to the front to make the requisite
arrangements. I at once volunteered to accompany the
Nawab, but his Highness observed that there was no neces-
sity for my doing so. Hardly had the Nawab left our side
ere the guns opened, upon which he returned. The action
commenced about seven A.M.; the British fire rapidly became
heavy, and the Beloochies were unable to resist the shock of
their advancing troops. Meer Hoossein Ali and Ali Akhbar
soon fled, and the latter, having been mistaken for Meer
Nussecer, was followed by a large body of the Scinde army.
The other Ameers, seeing the day going against them, also
galloped to the rear. I was left almost alone, being attended
by only ten or twelve horsemen, whilst my horse had been
wounded by grapeshot in three places. As no further hope
of victory remained, and the British troops were within a
short distance from where I stood, and their cavalry had
taken possession of our camp, I retraced my steps towards
Hyderabad. It was then nearly ten o’clock. After proceed-
ing about a mile I overtook Meer Nusseer, and ironically con-
gratulated him upon his victory. He immediately dashed
his casque to the ground, and I was sorry I had made the
remark, for I observed that the tears were running down his
cheeks. In the meantime several of the parties of Beloochies
scattered over the plain collected near us, to the number of
about 4,000. Seeing this the British reformed and fired a
few shots, when our men immediately dispersed. I rode on
to Hyderabad, where I arrived before two .M. Hardly had I
dismounted when my horse fell.”

The Ameers frequently alluded to the courtesy they ex-
perienced upon being made prisoners, and expressed them-
selves particularly grateful to the present General M‘Murdo
for his kindness to them during the short time they were
under his charge. In the first instance they received a
message from Sir Charles Napier, to the effect that he was
much grieved at the calamity which had befallen them, that
he was merely a servant of the State, and could make no
promises to them until the receipt of instructions from Lord
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Ellenborough, but they were at liberty to send for anything
they required from the Fort. This permission they fully
availed themselves of. It was subsequently withdrawn
when the Fort was placed under military charge; but, in the
meantime, the Ameers had obtained all that they desired,
including, on the part of Meer Nusseer, a silver bedstead.

The ladies also were allowed to leave the Fort in their
litters unmolested, and carried with them large sums of
moncy, estimated to the amount of several lacs of rupees.
The Ameers frequently received money from Scinde, and
the widow of Meer Noor Mahomed wrote to her sons to state
that, if they would return to Scinde, she would pay off their
debts, which were not less than a lac of rupees. Meer
Shahdad, on one occasion alone, received from his mother
60,000 rupees, whilst his younger brother, Meer Hoossein,
acknowledged to having received 40,000 or 50,000 rupees
during his residence in Bengal.

Although the Ameers were, as a rule, vacillating, indolent,
and frivolous, they were neither cruel nor debauched; to
their dependants they were kind and generous, and not a
single act of even common harshness was ever brought to
my notice. At the same time, they were certainly wanting
in the high qualities requisite in rulers, and although there
was not one who would have committed any act of wanton
cruelty, yet their innate apathy would have prevented them
from acting as a check upon the oppression and tyranny of
their nobles and officers.

On the 15th August an addition was made to my charges
in the person of Agha Khan Mehlati, a Persian nobleman,
a descendant of the old man of the mountain, the chief
of the tribe of Assassins and the head of the sect of
the Khwajas. He was at one time Governor of Kirman,
but having twice unsuccessfully raised the standard of
rebellion against the Shah, on the last occasion he crossed
the frontier and sought refuge in Afghanistan, joining the
British force, nnder General Nott, at Candahar. He was
accompanied by some horsemen, who, in the want of a
sufficient force of British Cavalry, were found useful; and,



Chief of the Tvibe of the Assassins. 75

consequently, at the close of the campaign, he was granted
a pension of 500 Rs. per mensem. He then took up his
residence in Scinde, and enjoyed an allowance from Meer
Nusseer Khan. Two days before the action of Meeanee,
when the Beloochies had advanced one march from
Hyderabad, he tendered his services to the Ameer. One
Mirza Khoosroo, who was present, however, addressed
his chief to the following purport:—¢ The Agha is a
stranger in Scinde. If, through God’s blessing, we defeat
the British, you will be able to continue to him the favour
he already experiences; if, on the contrary, our arms meet
with a reverse, should he not in any way be engaged in the
war, no notice will be taken of him ; whilst, in the event
of his being seen in our camp, he would, of course, be treated
as an enemy. It is, therefore, advisable that his offer
should not be accepted.” The Ameer acted upon thisrepre-
sentation, and Agha Khan returned to Hyderabad. After
the issue of the contest was known, he made his appearance
in the British camp as an old and faithful friend of the
Indian Government. He was for some time employed
at Jurruck in keeping the road clear; but he practised such
tyranny over the peasantry that it became necessary to
remove him, and he was required to reside at Kurrachee,
his pension being raised to 1,000 Rs. a month.

Whilst at Kurrachee he again entered into intrigues
against the Persian Government, and remonstrances having
been made to our representativer at the Shah’s Court, the
authorities in India were induced to remove him to Bengal,
where it was thought he would experience some difficulty
in maintaining treasonable relations with Kirman. As he
bad many followers in the Bombay Presidency, from whom
he received valuable gifts, whilst the number in Calcutta
was very small, his removal entailed a considerable loss of
income ; hence he never became reconciled to his sojourn
at Dumdum. Immediately after the death of the Shah he
produced letters, purporting to be from members of the
Court at Ispahan, stating that there would be no objection
on the part of the new monarch to his returning to Persia,
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he was accordingly permitted to leave Bengal, en route to
Bushir; however, on his arrival at Bombay, owing to
renewed representations from the Persian authorities, he
was detained at that city, where he resided up to his death.

I found Agha Khan a shrewd, intelligent man, quite
aw fait with the state of affairs in the political world, both
in the East and West; he entertained a high opinion of
the talents of Russian diplomatists, who had, he asserted,
obtained a preponderating influence in the Councils of the
Shah of Persia; whilst, on the contrary, the British had
almost lost the little power they previously possessed. He
stated that the Russian Plenipotentiary never hesitated to
advance any amount to secure the aid of an influential member
of the Court, and, moreover, frequently interfered to shield
an offender from the just wrath of the monarch if he could
thereby advance the views of his own Government, which
evidently aims at establishing a Russian party throughout
the country, by which the Shah and his Ministry may be
moulded to its wishes, with the view of securing the co-
operation of Persia in any movement that may hereafter be
projected in the direction of British India.

On one occasion he adverted to the subject of our cam-
paign in Afghanistan, and condemned the policy we had
pursued in that country, stating that, immediately upon the
restoration of Shah Soojah on the throne at Caubul, had we
refrained from interfering with regard to the civil adminis-
tration of the country, and contented ourselves with con-
ducting the necessary military operations to ensure the
stability of the Government we had established, allowing
the Monarch to adopt such measures as he might have
decmed essential for enforcing due obedience to his autho-
rity, the necessity for maintaining a large British force
beyond the frontier would have been speedily obviated and
tranquillity produced, solely by the execution of some ten
or twelve influential chiefs, whose deaths would have been
a matter of little consequence compared with the great
benefit that would have accrued to the nation at large by
the establishment of a stable Government and the cessation



Interview of Amcers with Governor-General. 77

of the internal commotion and strife that so long prevailed
and agitated the country. Upon my dissenting from his
views, on the ground of the injustice of the course advo-
cated, the Agha most plausibly adduced arguments in
support of his theory. In the first place, he based its justi.
fication on the score of political expediency, quoting the
proverb that it is right to do evil that good may arise, and,
like the sage in Roman history, who struck off the poppy
heads, pointed out that to secure the subjugation of a
country the first step to be taken is the removal of the
leaders, as in all insurrections the instigators are invariably
the chieftains, who find that their dignity is diminished
and their authority curtailed, and that it would therefore
have been politic to have allowed Shah Soojah to have
executed or exiled every sirdar of note in Afghanistan in
order that peace might have been permanently established
throughout his territories, whereby only a few would have
suffered for the benefit of the many. The next plea
advanced—and here the Agha evidently thought he was
upon high ground—was its abstract justice, as he argued
that no one could be bold enough to assert that it would be
more equitable to run the risk of sacrificing the lives of
30,000 innocent beings, the number of our subjects com-
puted to have been slain in Afghanistan, than to execute a
few individuals who, although not actually convicted of
crimes worthy of death, must naturally, from their position,
have been inimical to any sovereign who possessed the
power of curbing their influence, and therefore, as traitors,
were deserving of the extreme penalty of the law.

On the 7th of December I accompanied the ex-Ameers to
Barrackpore, where they were to have an audience with the
Governor-General. This visit, to which their Highnesses
had looked forward with pleasure, was productive of a scene
of mortification. In the first instance, a mistake had been
made with regard to the hour at which his Lordship would
be prepared to see them, and, consequently, no preparations
had been made for their reception ; in the next, after they
had been seated in the verandah, in which the interview
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was to take place, the Secretary to Government discovered
that they had not taken off their slippers, and considered,
therefore, that their Highnesses had been guilty of great
disrespect in expecting that the Governor-General would
permit them to appear before him with their feet covered.
It was accordingly determined that the audience should
take place in another apartment, and then only on condition
of the ex-Ameers consenting to enter barefooted. This at
first they declined doing, leaving me in a far from enviable
position, as, of course, had they returned to Dumdum
without paying their respects to the Governor-General, I
should have been blamed, although unjustly, as, previous to
my taking charge, on all occasions of the Ameers having
visited high officials, they had been permitted to retain their
slippers; and, therefore, notwithstanding my being of
opinion that the practice was highly objectionable, I could
not have interfered, as former precedents would have been
quoted against my decision. As it was, they now, not un-
naturally, looked upon the matter as an indignity, and I
had great difficulty in persuading them to accede to Mr.
Elliot’s request. Eventually the question was settled, and
they were kindly received by Lord Hardinge, who, through
Mr. Elliot's medium, conversed for some time with the
senior chief, Meer Mahomed Khan.

There can be no doubt that it is as great a breach of
courtesy for an Oriental to appear with his slippers on the
carpet of a reception room as it would be for a Kuropean
gentleman to keep on his hat under similar circumstances;
but lately natives of India have discarded slippers in favour
of English made shoes, which are not so easily put on and
off, and consequently, I believe, the great shoe question has
been decided, and it has been ruled that, although slippers
must be removed if worn at!durbars, &c., yet the necessity
does not exist in the case of shoes.

On the 12th January, 1848, Lord Dalhousie assumed
charge of the government, and it was then thought that his
tenure of office was to be marked by profound peace; but,
ere many months elapsed, a dark war-cloud had settled over
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the Punjaub, and at a ball given to his Lordship, on the
5th October, by the residents at Barrackpore, after declaring
that in coming to India his earnest desire had been to in-
crease the prosperity of our Eastern Empire and secure the
wellbeing of our native fellow-subjects by cultivating the
arts of peace, his Lordship wound up an allusion to the
state of affairs in the North-West by the following energetic
sentence :—*“ If war they will have, they shall have it, and
have it with a vengeance.”

All present felt that we had a man of determination at
our head.

As a man of business Lord Dalhousie had few equals.
He never wasted a moment of his own time or that of his
subordinates. He knew the necessity of punctuality, whilst
a few pertinent questions always made him thoroughly
au fait with the merits of any question submitted for his
consideration, and he soon arrived at a sound decision, so
that there was no delay in obtaining his instructions.
Although small in stature, he was extremely dignified in his
bearing, and could overawe an offender by his proud stern
look ; but he was ordinarily kind, and even cordial, in his
manner, and could certainly unbend. On one occasion,
before the great shoe question had been decided, and
it was consequently a breach of etiquette for natives to
appear with their shoes on at Government House, a
Bengali of rank ventured to trangress on this point. Meeting
the Governor-General, the latter simply fixed his eyes upon
the offending shoes. The Oriental gradually sunk down and
down until his flowing garments touched the ground, and
his feet were completely concealed from sight. After
keeping him in this painful position for some moments,
his Lordship passed on. It was very certain that the trans-
gression would not be repeated. Another time, at a Queen’s
Birthday ball, he happened to accost a portly and somewhat
sanctified officer high on the staff, who was not given to
ball-going exceptas a matter of duty. Asking him what he
thought of the gay scene before them, the worthy colonel
replied that it was all vanity and vexation of spirit. “ Yes,”
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said Lord Dalhousie, pointing first to the glittering Star of
the Bath upon the colonel’s breast, ‘ here is the vanity, and ”
then lower down, where apparently there had been consider-
able difficulty in getting the buckle of the sword-belt to
meet, ¢ there is the vexation of spirit.”

In May, 1849, Sir Charles Napier arrived in Calcutta. On
my attending his levée, he made some inquires relative to
the circumstances of poor Smalpage’s death, and when I
remarked that he wns an excellent officer, and possessed the
ability of making himself beloved by his men, he replied
that that was one of the requisite qualities of an officer, in
which he regretted to say those of the Indian Army were
sadly deficient, in fact, the bond of union which ought to
exist between the officer and soldier appeared to have been
dissevered, and he should use his utmost endeavours to cause
the revival of a tie which he deemed indispensable to the
welfare of the army. I could not but feel that the blame
rested on the Government, not on the officers, for, by the
system of centralization of power then prevailing, the
European regimental officer was deprived of all ability
either to reward the good soldier or punish the bad, hence,
except in a few instances, he lost the interest he would other-
wise take in his men, and in so doing he forfeited their
affection and respect. Subsequently, I met his Excellency
on his paying a visit of inspection to Dumdum, when allud-
ing to the ex-Ameers, he spoke most bitterly of Meer
Shahdad, stating that he regretted extremely he had not
hanged him after his trial before the Military Court in
Scinde, and would be glad to hang him then if the Governor-
General would grant him the requisite permission. Upon
my pointing out that the proceedings of this trial did not
appear to be upon record, and that certainly the evidence
adduced in the pages of the Blue-book was not sufficient to
convict the Ameer of the murder of Captain Ennis, he
said that this was owing to the negligent manner in which
the duties of his office had been conducted. Finding myself
unable to remove the erroneous impression that evidently
existed in his mind, and, whilst determined not to surrender
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my own opinion, feeling that it would be unbecoming on
my part to continue the discussion, I turned the conversation
to another subject. Although Sir Charles was evidently one
who would not brook opposition, I do not think he felt at
all annoyed at my non-concurrence in his views, as he con-
tinued to receive me always with kindness as the son of an
old friend and brother officer; he invaridbly spoke in the
highest terms of the native troops, and, at the banquet given
to him at the United Service Club, called upon the officers
of the Indian Army to bestow that attention upon their
comfort in quarters which their conduct in the field so richly
merited.

About this time two incidents were related to me showing
the effects of fright upon the human constitution. A recruit
was in hospital suffering from a slight attack of dysentery, so
slight, indeed, that he was daily expected to be discharged.
One morning the medical officer saw him, and considered
himalmostconvalescent; yet when he hadreturned to hishouse
a message reached him that the man was dead. He was
naturally much surprised ; and made inquiries as to what
had happened after his departure and, at last, most un-
willingly the hospita] sergeant acknowledged that the
Catholic priest had visited the hospital and administered
extreme unction to the deceased. The body was opened, and
proved to be in an almost perfectly healthy state, in fact, the
man had dicd from excitement caused by being compelled
to receive the most Holy Sacrament of his religion whilst
suffering from debility. Subsequently, the same medical
officer, finding the priest with one of his patients who
appeared In a very agitated state, and stated that the
Sacrament was about to be administered against his own
consent, interfered, and would not permit it to be given. He
was of opinion that death would have followed almost in-
stantaneously ; as it was, the soldier, though very ill, re-
covered. The other incident occurred near Edinburgh. At
the time that cholera was prevalent three or four medical
students were taking a stroll, when a strong hale-looking
carter passing by, one of them said to his companions that

G
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he would undertake to put him into a state of great alarm,
The idea was laughed at, but he proceeded to carry his boast
into effect, walking towards the man, upon approaching
him he suddenly stopped, as if struck with astonishment,
and then hastily inquired if he was quite well. The reply
was in the affirmative; upon which he told the carter that,
as a medical mar, he was certain he would soon suffer
from an attack of cholera, as the signs of the disease were
evident in his countenance. He, therefore, advised him to
proceed home with all possible despatch. The unfortunate
peasant was so terrified that hardly had he reached his
cottage when he was taken ill, and died within 24 hours.

On the 8th January, 1850, that fine old soldier Lord
Gough quitted India. Whatever may be the different opinions
entertained as respects his talents as a general, there can be
but one as regards his qualities as an individual; he was a
kind, warm-hearted, unaffected and gallant Irish gentleman,
and his memory will be always cherished by those who ever
had the good fortune to serve under his command.

In March I was appointed to the political charge of the
Nepalese Mission, my experiences in which position form
the subject of a separate chapter. On my return from
Kathmandhoo in Febroary, 1851, I paid a short visit to
Lucknow, when I had the honour, at a banquet given to
Lord Grosvenor, of having placed round my neck a tinsel
garland by the hand of the King. We little thought of the
changes about to take place; the next time I met his Majesty
he was my prisoner.

Much has been said about dacoities, or gang robberies in
India. The following amusing story, illustrative of the
manner in which they are sometimes exaggerated, was re-
counted to me by the magistrate in whose district the
oecurrence took place :—‘ An up-country native, returning to
his home from Bengal, had spent all his money but a few
coppers, whilst he had a long distance to travel. He accord-
ingly adopted the following means for replenishing his purse.
He invested his scanty stock in the purchase of oil and rags.
Having noticed a house standing somewhat apart from a
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village, and situated in a garden surrounded by a wall, at
night-fall he cut nine or ten bamboos, and having covered
the ends with rags saturated with oil, lighted them and
placed them against the wall, which he then scrambled over,
holding two torches in his hand and uttering loud shouts.
On his knocking at the door of the house all the inmates
bolted out on the opposite side. Having thus effected an
entrance without opposition he rifled the place at his leisure,
and without the slightest molestation; then returning by
the way he came, he extinguished the lights, and proceeded
on his journey. Asa report was eventually made to the police
that a dacoitee had taken place on a large scale, the village
having been attacked by at least fifteen or twenty armed men,
every endeavour was made to secure the supposed culprits.
The sole offender was arrested with some of the plundered
property upon his person, and, upon being questioned as to
the whereabouts of his accomplices, told the real story.”

Amongst my native visitors there was an old gentleman
who had married a lady of the Mysore family. He had
previously served with Sir John Malcolm as Munshi, and
was fond of referring to events that had taken place when
he acted in that capacity. The following are anecdotes
which he related to me :—

““One evening I was in attendance on Sir John Malcolm at
a grand nautch, when a letter was delivered to the General,
the contents of which evidently caused him much annoy-
ance. Hisaide-de-camp asking him the reason, he mentioned
that it contained a report of depredations committed by
Zalim Sing, Rajah of Malwah. When this was reported
to me by Captain Alves, I said, ¢ Surely this ought not to be
allowed to annoy the General. It will be very easy to seize
the Rajah.” Sir John hearing the remark, exclaimed, ¢ Will
you seize him?’ I replied, ‘ Certainly.” About two months
afterwards the General accosted me and inquired whether I
was prepared to fulfil the promise I had made. I stated I
was perfectly willing to do so. He then ordered me to
mount a mare, which, with the requisite accoutrements,
pistols, &c., was in readiness, and accompany a spy, whom I

G 2
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should find waiting at a certain spot. Fifty troopers of
Gardner’s Horse were also prepared to escort me. We set out
under the impression that we had a dour of about twenty-
five miles before us. The spot to which we were proceed-
ing was, however, upwards of 100 miles distant. I'or three
days we continued our journey almost without drawing rein.
My escort gradually diminished, as trooper after trooper
dropped to the rear. At last only the native officer, a non-
commissioned officer, and the spy, who was mounted on a
powerful mule, remained. About midnight we arrived at
the appointed place, and the spy, pointing to an opening in
the jungle, disappeared. I considered it advisable to delay
taking any further steps until the approach of morning. I was
afraid that if we attempted to rest, our limbs would become
stiffened, we were so exhausted. We accordingly walked
up and down for three or four hours until the moon set,
when I posted the native officer and non-commissioned officer
on either side of the opening, with orders to rush in on hearing
a noise. I then proceeded alone, and soon found myself in
an open space, in which bedding for seventy men was spread,
and a little apart a carpet, on which a man, I presumed to
be the Rajah, was sleeping. Sixty men were asleep, seven
men were watching, three over one fire and four over another,
smoking, and half stupified with opium. Three were there-
fore evidently absent, and I had, consequently, no time to
lose, as by their return I should be discovered. My com-
panions remained perfectly quiet. Had I ridden my own
horse he would certainly have neighed, and all would have
been lost. I dismounted, and girding up my loins, tightening
my shawl, &c., flung a cloth over my head, and moved
cautiously towards the sleeping figure; as I approached, 1
perceived by the beauty and richness of his arms and accou-
trements that I had not been deceived, and that it was the
Rajah who lay stretched before me. I also gladly noticed,
amongst other weapons, a dagger; this I at once seized, and
my plan was formed. Unsheathing the dagger, I flung
myself on my knees across the sleeping figure and placed the
bare point against his stomach. In this position I proceeded
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to awake him. He started, and perceiving me, called out.
Hearing his exclamation his retainers all became aroused,
and stood to their arms. My two companions also galloped
in. I immediately addressed the Rajah, pointing out that
the slightest injury to me must prove fatal to himself, as in
falling I must pierce his heart with the dagger. The love
of life prevailed. He inquired what I wanted. I replied
that I brought a message summoning him to attend upon
the General, whose summons he had hitherto treated with
disrespect. 1 then directed him to order his men to place
their arms, matchlocks, spears and swords in a heap near
me, at the same time calling out in a loud tone to the native
officer to know if the troop was ready. The answer was in
the affirmative, and I desired him to send men into the
neighbouring villages to collect twenty fast bullocks and
sixty peasants. He left apparently to issue orders to the
troop outside, and, after some delay, returned with the men
and bullocks. The arms were packed npon the bullocks and
despatched with the men, eleven only being retained, towards
the General’s camp. After the lapse of about three hours I
told the Rajah to order his Sowari. Two horses were
brought in, one for himself and another for a nephew, whom
he was arxious to take with him. I directed a third to be
procured, as my own was tired. All this time I remained in
the same position, and now for the first time I rose, per-
mitting my captive to rise also; retaining, however, firm
hold of his waistcloth. He asked if some of his men might
accompany him. I offered no objection. Only twoor three,
however, were willing to avail themselves of the permission
accorded. It was evident, from the appearance of the
Rajah’s horses, that he intended effecting his escape, and
with our tired nags we should have had no chance of over-
taking him when once he reached his steed. I determined
to frustrate this design, and, to their disgust, mounted the
Rajah and his nephew on the jaded troopers that had been
ridden by the native officer and non-commissioned officer,
the three of us bestriding the fresh horses; my own mare
being led by one of the Bheel villagers, of whom, as mentioned
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before, eleven had been retained. We then set out, the
Rajah and his nephew between the two Irregular Horsemen,
and I bringing up the rear with loaded pistols cocked, and
presented at the prisoner. When the ddy was waning 1 was
anxious about my charge, knowing that the powers of
endurance of myself and comrades were almost exhausted,
and repose had become absolutely necessary to recruit our
strength. Seeing a small fort in the distance I dashed into
it, and, in a commanding tone, inquired for the Thakur.
He presented himself, and rather contemptuously asked who
I was. Ireplied the Munshi of the English General, and
unless you obey my orders your fort shall be razed, your
possessions confiscated, and yourself hanged. There is the
captive Rajah, I commit him to your charge, and you must
take the consequences if you do not produce him to-morrow
when I am prepared to start. The chief was cowed by my
address, and promised that my instructions should be rigidly
fulfilled. I then made over the captives, and taking the
precaution of keeping all the horses with us, retired with
the Bheels and horsemen to a short distance from the fort,
where we took up our position for the night, and being
furnished with supplies, the ghee (clarified butter) being
first given to a dog to ascertain whether poison had been
treacherously mixed with it, made a hearty meal. Five of
the Bheels were then told off to keep watch for the first half,
and another five for the second half of the night; and I
agreed with my companions that one of us should always
remain on the alert. After eight days’ travelling we reached
the General’s camp. SirJohn had been informed by another
Munshi, an enemy of mine, that certain conditions, deemed
much too favourable, had been accorded to the Rajah. This
annoyed the General. When the question was put to me, I
asked him to inquire from the prisoner the terms on which
he had surrendered, and from the Rajah’s own lips he heard
the recital of his capture. Sir John was much pleased, and
gave me 10,000Rs., ten trays of shawls, and the mare I had
ridden, which was worth 3,000Rs.”

“On another occasion the Rajah of Pertabghur, a fort
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near Neemuch, having ordered two of his civil officers to be
put to death for being friendly disposed towards the British,
and it being reported that he purposed making an attack
upon the British Agent, Major Macdonald, that officer came
to Sir John’s camp, then at Mundhoo. Upon his relating
the circumstances under which he had left his post, my
advice was asked, and I immediately said that, if allowed, I
would undertake to seize the Rajah, when his country could
either be confiscated or made over to his eldest son. He had
two sons. Sir John inquired whether, to carry my design
into effect, troops would be needed ? I answered, not on my
account, though Major Macdonald ought to have a proper
escort ; an order was accordingly given to the brigadier com-
manding at Neemuch to place a regiment of infantry and 200
cavalry at the major’s disposal. As Pertabghur was about
twenty-four miles from Neemuch, I recommended that the
distance should be accomplished in two marches. I galloped
on ahead. On reaching Pertabghur, I rode into the fort
where the Rajah was sitting, surrounded by his Rajpoot
retainers. He haughtily demanded my business. I replied
that I was General Malcolm’s Munshi, and my message,
which was for his own good, would be delivered to himself
alone. After some deliberation, he consented to give me a
private audience, and we adjourned to another room. I then
told him that, from the perusal of the papers in my office, I
had learnt that, in consequence of his having murdered his
Kardars, and formed a design against the Political Agent’s
life, the Greneral had determined to move against him and take
his country ; that having been sent with orders to the Munshi
of the Agency, I had availed myself of the opportunity to
warn him as to Sir John’s intentions. He was completely
subdued, and throwing down his own and his son’s bangles,
valued at a lac of rupees, begged me to accept them as a
reward for my services, saying that he should immediately
start for his stronghold, Bhanswarah, a fort surrounded by
a thick belt of bamboos, almost impenetrable, where he might
langh at all the attempts of the British to dislodge him.
This arrangement would not have suited my views. I there-
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fore told him that his defences would prove of no avail
against the British, who would pour in a shower of balls of
all descriptions. He then asked me to advise him as to the
course he ought to pursue. I agreed, saying that, although
I would not accept the present he had offered me, as I had
not earned it, I expected to be paid for my advice. He im-
mediately presented me with a bangle worth 20,000 rupecs ;
this I accepted, and then said the Political Agentis to return
here to-morrow, and the only way to disarm any suspicion
against you of having a project against his life is for you to
pay him a visit, perfectly unarmed, and with only your
eldest son and one attendant; he will then abandon all idea
of your guilt and prevail upon the General to give up his
present purpose. The Rajah at first demurred, but, on my
pointing out the utter absurdity of offering resistance, he
eventually consented. I then took my leave, and proceeded to
the Agency. The next morning the Agent arrived; I told
him what I had done, and requested that the troops might be
held in a state of readiness in their lines, with orders to
move up rapidly on hearing the bugle sound. Shortly after
all arrangements had been made the Rajah appeared; he
was received by the major, who, after chatting for some
time, made an excuse for leaving the apartment. Whilst I
contrived to keep the chief in conversation the bugle
sounded, and immediately the house was surrounded by
troops. On some of the native officers entering the room,
the Rajah inquired the cause of their presence, when I rose
and sald, you are a prisoner. He saw there was no chance
of escape, and submitted to his fate. I then addressed the
son, pointing out that his father was now suffering for his
cruel and treacherous conduct, and recommending him, as
the only chance of preserving any portion of his territory, to
submit a petition to the General, acknowledging his father’s
guilt, and requesting that he might be allowed to retain at
least a part of his hereditary possessions. My counsel was
followed. The boy was placed upon his father’s throne, with
the loss of some of his lands. I was permitted to retain the
bangle which had been given for my advice.”
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The Rani of Jhansi does not appear to have been the first
pative heroine who took the field against us. After the battle
of Mahidpore, the Bheema Bhai, Holkar’s daughter, with a
small body of retainers, for a long time kept the country ina
flame. One day Sir John Malcolm was moving with a large
force, when the lady was seen on horseback on a neighbour-
ing eminence, attended by only one follower. The order was
given to surround the hillock so as to ensure her capture.
The slave escaped before the requisite cordon could be
formed, but the Bheema Bai made no attempt to fly. When,
however, it was thought that her apprehension was certain,
she suddenly made a dash towards the small party near the
General, and owing to the speed of her mare, made her way
past them, and darted off scot free.

In October, 1852, Outram, who was then in Calcutta,
having requested permission to pay his old friends a visit,
in according the desired sanction, I expressed a hope that
he would spend the day with us. My invitation was accepted,
and I drove him round to call upon the Ameers. In the
course of conversation he alluded to the statement that had
been made by Sir Charles Napier as to the large amount of
treasure that had been carried out of the fort at Hyderabad by
the ladies in their litters. This he considered to be utterly
devoid of truth, and was greatly surprised when I informed
him that, independent of what may have been done by the
other Ameers, Meer Hoossein Ali alone acknowledged to me
that he had sent away several lacs of rupees,and I had convinc-
ing proof of the accuracy of his assertion. Thus it fell to my
lot to point out to the two high officials cngaged in the great
Scinde controversy that each was in error on a very im-
portant point. In Qutram’s case I am sure he was grateful
for my having removed the misconception under which he
laboured. '

Outram showed me a letter received from Lord Dalhousie,
intimating his intention to nominate him to his old post of
Resident at Baroda, but stating that, notwithstanding the
earnest request of the Court of Directors, he would not
appoint him to the Residency at Hyderabad, to the super-
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session of so old and meritorious a public servant as Mr.
Bushby. I am afraid, nowadays, an earnest request from
the home authorities would not be thus set aside in order
that an act of injustice might not be perpetrated towards
any official, however meritorious.

A despatch having been received sanctioning the return
of the Ameers to Scinde should they desire to take up their
residence in that country, gave rise on their part to hopes
that eventually their sovereignty would be restored to them ;
but, on my representing that it was idle to indulge in such
vain dreams, as I felt satisfied that they would never be
realized, a revulsion of feeling ensued. They no longer
seemed desirous of leaving Bengal. They stated that it
would be impossible for them to reside within the limits of
their former territories unless in the receipt of larger incomes
than they then enjoyed, and endowed with certain rights
and privileges; and, when I could hold out little prospect of
these being conferred upon them, they seemed to think that
not only would there be some danger of their being insulted
by their former subjects, over whom they had tyrannized,
but also, however cautious they might be, of their names
being used by clever intriguers engaged in treasonable prac-
tices against the State, and that they might experience
difficulty in proving their innocence. Eventually the matter
of their return to Scinde remained an open question.

There can be no doubt that—consequent on the dissensions
amongst themselves, dissensions to which they always as-
cribed all their misfortunes, and which led to very bitter
feelings—had they returned to Scinde, in the event of any
dispute arising, there would always have been a probability
of one of them being charged by the others with carrying
on treasonable correspondence with the Shah of Persia, the
ruler of Caubul, or Belooch chieftains, and, as there would
be no hesitation in supporting the charge with fabricated
documents, he might have found it far from an easy task to
have freed himself from the accusation brought against him.
The Ameers themselves acknowledged that their most confi-
dential officers could not be trusted. Meer Shahdad Khan
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stated that on one occasion he forwarded, by the hands of
one of his, as he believed, most trustworthy Munshis, a
letter to the address of Sir Charles Napier. He was told
that it would be necessary that the Munshi should be fur-
nished with a large sum to bribe Sir Charles’s subordinates
so as to ensure the letter being delivered. The amount was
duly given, and, on the Munshi’s return, having, as he stated
accomplished the object of his mission, he was asked to
whom the money had been paid, and at once named an officer
on Sir Charles’s staff. The Ameer subsequently ascertained
that not only had his letter never been received, but that
the Munshi had not even seen the officer whose name he had
mentioned. In January, 1854, in addition to my other
charges, the captive Seikh Sirdars were placed under my
superintendence. I was much pleased with their fine open
manly bearing, and enjoyed having long conversations with
them, more particularly with Sher Singh, who was extremely
intelligent. Alluding to the outbreak in the Punjaub in
1848, he maintained that had Sir Henry Lawrence remained
at the head of affairs it would never have taken place-
Previous to his departure for England he had summoned
Moolraj to Lahore, but the Dewan did not reach that city
until two or three days after Sir Henry had left. Moolraj
then expressed a wish to be relieved from his post, but his
resignation was not accepted, and he was directed to return
to the seat of his pro-consulship. Subsequently, when it
was determined to suspend him, Sir Frederick Currie made
a great mistake in deputing officers to take charge of the
province and examine the Dewan’s accounts at Mooltan,
instead of requiring him to make his appearance with the
necessary documents at the Durbar. Had this latter course
been pursued the insurrection would not have occurred: so
well aware was Runjeet of the imprudence of allowing any
officer to remain at the seat of his government until relieved,
that he never permitted a relieving officer to leave the capital
until it was known that his predecessor had actually started
on his return journey. When the attack was made on
Messrs. Agnew and Anderson, Moolraj could have saved
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their lives; but, although he was not cognizant of the intent
to attack them, and his rebellion was unpremeditated, when
he heard of their having been wounded he was unable to
decide upon the line of copduct which he ought to pursue,
wavered, and eventually determined upon confiding the
settlement of the matter to the hands of fate, and was thus,
ere he had time to reflect, hurried into that conflict which
cost him his power and his life.

Sher Singh asserted that, when he first appeared before
Mooltan, he was well affected towards the British, so much
so that Moolraj, failing to sap his loyalty, offered one of his
servants a large reward to poison him by mixing some
noxious drugs with the milk he was about to drink. The
man’s intention was discovered. He was seized and brought
before the Sirdar, when, upon a search being made, the
poison was found upon his person, and subsequently the
agent of Moolraj acknowledged having delivered a communi.
cation to one of the Sirdar’s servants, and identified the
prisoner as the man to whom it had been given. An officer
was implicated in the plot, and was blown from a gun,
though the servant managed to effect his escape. When
Sher Singh heard of his father’s rebellion he was afraid
lest he should be made to suffer for Chuttur Singh’s
fault ; but a letter received from the Resident reassured him
on this point. Shortly after, however, Major Edwardes sent
for him, and desired him, with his colleagues, to take up
positions at three specified posts in the rear. Although,at first,
in consequence of his remonstrances and his pledging himself
for the fidelity of his troops, the order was cancelled, even-
tually it was directed to be put in force. Sher Singh then
felt that he was suspected, and made up his mind to join the
rebels. Several communications passed between him and
Moolraj. Equally suspicious of one another, Sher Singh
would not trust himself with a small force into Moolraj’s
hands, whilst Moolraj would not allow him to enter Mooltan
with a large one, for fear lest he should take the first oppor-
tunity of seizing the fortress and surrendering it to the
British.
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On the 22nd of June, 1854, I received a letter from Lord
Dalhousie, offering me the appointment on his Staff of Town
and Fort Major, and stating that the post was an honourable
one for an officer of service, and my acceptance of it would
be gratifying to himself. Under these circumstances I had
but one course to pursue, and my official connection with
my various charges was accordingly severed.

Although the duties of my officc were not of such im-
portance as those of others in the Political Department, they
were not altogether uninteresting. I always treated my
charges with kindness and courtesy when they visited me,
and consequently had no need to trouble myself to make
inquiries as to their proceedings, for, if any one of them was
pursuing a course of which I might disapprove, or engaging
in any affair he was anxious should be kept from my know-
ledge, I felt sure that the secret would be duly divulged by
one of his companions, and that I should have an oppor-
tunity of checking him before he got into very great mis-
chief. I had only to act in a straightforward manner to
baffle all their schemes, and I am sure that, as regards
diplomacy, whether in the East or West, that is the proper
course for Englishmen to adopt. Occasionally, when I have
been very busy, if one of my native friends called and com-
menced beating about the bush before preferring some
request which I felt convinced he intended to make, I have
laughingly said, “ You, I know, like moving in a circle,
whilst I prefer advancing in a straight line. When I have
plenty of leisure I am always glad to allow you to follow
your own plan, but as my time is now fully occupied 1
should be much obliged if you would kindly adopt mine.”
My hint was invariably taken. Even as regards religious
questions, I never experienced any difficulty in carrying on
a friendly discussion. One of the Mysore Princes, alluding
to the course of instruction anthorized in the school estab-
lished for the education of the younger branches of the
family, strongly objected to my introducing the study of
geography and giving it a high place in the curriculum, as
he urged that a knowledge of the use of the globes would be
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likely to subvert the belief entertained by Mahommedan
lads in the truth of their religion, it being recorded in the
Koran that God flung down high mountains upon the face of
the earth to make it stationary, a statement that could not
be reconciled with the laws of the Universe laid down in
our geographical works, and consequently the youngsters
might eventually become Atheists. I told him I could not
concur in this opinion, as, although doubtless a knowledge
of the motions of the terrestrial and celestial bodies might
instil doubts as to the truth of the Hindoo mythology, it
could never induce any one to become a sceptic as to the
existence of a Divine being. In fact, the more one studied
the laws of nature, the more one would become imbued with
a sense of the power of the Creator. My friend subse-
quently withdrew his objections, admitting—

1st. That the theory inculcated with respect to the
motions of the heavenly bodies was true.

2nd. That truthsalone should be impressed upon the infant
mind.

3rd. That such assertions in the Koran as appeared to be
opposed to the present science of astronomy must be taken
in a figurative sense, as in the case of the sun’s standing still
to enable Joshua to utterly discomfit his enemies.

The great barrier to cordial intercourse between European
officers in high positions and natives is the feeling that one
can never be sure that the latter will not endeavour to make
use of their supposed friendship and influence with the Burra
Sahib to further their own ends. Ome of my charges, who
was in many respects very estimable, was, I had every reason
to believe, in the habit of leading people to suppose that he
could bias my decisions. His advocacy was therefore not
only sought, but bought by the other members of his family,
until it happened to come to my knowledge that a lady
of weak intellect, placed under his guardianship, and
whose pension he received, had not been properly cared for.
Accompanied by the medical officer, I drove to the house
where the patient resided, and insisted upon seeing her.
Every opposition was offered ; but I had the door opened, and
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found that the poor creature had been shamefully neglected.
I therefore directed that she should be at once removed to a
carriage under charge of a female attendant I had brought
with me, and conveyed to the lunatic asylum, where a suit-
able room had been prepared for her reception, and she
would be properly attended to. Her guardian, who was
present during the whole of my proceedings, begged that I
would allow her to remain under his protection; but I stated
that this was impossible, after the grave breach of trust of
which he had been guilty. He was dreadfully mortified, as
he felt that the power he had exercised from his alleged
influence over me was at an end. He subsequently caused a
memorial, strongly animadverting upon my proceedings, to
be prepared and submitted to Government, carefully, how-
ever, abstaining from attaching his own signature to it. As I
knew by whose hand the paper had been drafted, I was
much amused one day at his lamenting that any members of
his family should be so wanting in gratitude as to prefer a
complaint against one who had always proved so great a
friend to them, and wondering who could have been the
instigator of the movement. Upon my telling him that, if
he really wished to know, I would make the necessary in-
quiries on the subject, quietly remarking that, as he must be
well aware, I always got to the truth of a matter when I
did deem it worth while to take the trouble to do so, the
old gentleman became very nervous, and said that of course
it was of no consequence, it was only on account of the in-
gratitude displayed that he had been grieved, as he was
certain that to me it was a question of no moment, it not
being likely that such a groundless accusation could do me
the slightest injury.

Notwithstanding this little episode we remained very good
friends, and when he was proceedirng to England, in order to
urge the claim of his family to receive an increase to their
allowance, although he knew that, in my official capacity, I
had always reported against its recognition, he asked my
advice as to the course he ought to pursue. I pointed out to
him that, as neither legally nor morally had the family any
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right to a larger grant than that already allotted for their
support, any augmentation could only be looked upon in the
light of a favour, and consequently he should abstain from
employing any member of the legal profession from advo-
cating his cause, or, in fact, from in any way publicly press-
ing his claim, which, in that case, would be certainly
negatived ; but that he should urge his personal friends, of
whom he had many in the Court of Directors, to exert their
influence in his behalf. He succeeded in his object, and
always attributed his success to my good counsel.

During my career in India I maintained friendly inter-
course with natives of all ranks. As a subaltern, on sport-
ing excursions, I have often had long chats with the owners
of the land over which I was shooting, whilst I took every
opportunity of conversing with civil and military officials,
from all I have experienced kindness and courtesy, and from
many received very valuable hints, not only as to defects in
our method of administration, but also as to how far these
defects may beascribed to ourown mistakes or to shortcomings
on the part of their fellow countrymen’; judging them, not
by the standard applicable to those who have the pure light
of the gospel to guide them, but by the standard of morality
inculcated by their own religious creeds, one cannot but
feel how high a claim many of them have to our respect.
. Whether our present system of education is well calculated
to develope their good qualities may well be a question.
We can only hope that, whatever may be the present results,
our well-intentioned efforts to raise the moral and social
status of our native fellow subjects may eventually be
crowned with success.

Natives, as a rule, are very superstitious ; it is not unusual
for a landowner to place on the borders of his fields earthen
jars covered with white spots to attract the evil eye of any
passer-by, and thus avert it from his crops. When Mahom-
medans, in the case of two contending parties, wish to
ascertain who will be victorious, they take their names and
then, by a chronogrammatical construction peculiar to the
Persian alphabet, calculate the numkers contained in each.
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In cases in which both are divisible, the highest, and when
they are indivisible, the lowest, is considered to be that of
the conqueror. This test has been applied in cases when we
have been engaged 1n war with native states, and my in.
formant assured me that the correct result was always
obtained.

My Munshi, though an extremely intelligent and well-
educated man, was a great believer in demonology and
witcheraft, and firmly persuaded that certain holy men had
the power of making the dead appear and flinging the living
into a trance or state of coma that might be continued for
any lapse of time. No doubt this last idea must have
originated in his having witnessed some exhibitions of the
power of mesmerism, which was practised in India long
before it was known in this country; and that those who prac-
tised it were looked upon as endowed with wonderful power
is not surprising. I was a great sceptic as to the effects of
mesmerism, but when the mesmeric hospital was established
in Calcutta under the charge of Dr. Esdaile, I was present
at the performance on a patient under its influence, of a
most painful operation, and fully satisfied myself that the
sufferer had been perfectly unconscious of any pain.

Natives suffering from epileptic fits are supposed to be
possessed with a devil, and consequently, to effect a cure, the
aild is invoked of some holy man believed to have power over
Satan and his host.

Munshi, as well as some of my other native friends,
occasionally supported their arguments by stories culled from
Persian literature, amongst which the following seem worthy
of record —

“An Oriental monarch had become a great proficient in
archery; of course, every good shot he made was loudly
applauded by the sycophants by whom he was surrounded.
One day he went out on a shooting expedition accompanied
by his favourite wife. In the distance a doe was seen
scratching its head with its hind hoof. The king drew his
bow, and his aim was so true that the arrow pierced the
hoof to the head. The plaudits of his courtiers were, as

H
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usual, loud and extravagant. The lady, however, quietly
remarked that his skill was simply the result of continual
practice ; this so annoyed him that he ordered her to be
disgraced by removal from her position and banishment
from the court. Some little time elapsed, when a report
reached the monarch’s ears relative to a lady who was said
to be strong enough to carry a young bullock upon her
shounlders ; as she always appeared veiled, no one could tell
who she was. The unknown was summoned to appear before
the king, and duly made her obeisance attended by her
bullock. Upon being desired to display her strength, she
placed the bullock upon her shoulders, and walking up some
steps deposited the animal at the foot of the throne. The
monarch was much astonished at the exhibition, and expressed
his surprise, when the lady calmly asserted that it was
merely the result of continual practice, that she had com-
menced when the animal was a small calf, and, as she carried
it regularly every day, she had become gradually accustomed
to its increasing weight; then throwing off her veil she
disclosed the features of the deposed favourite. The king
recognised the justice of her former remark, and she was
immediately reinstated in her old position.”

“ A woman when enceinte was frightened by a flash of
lightning and met with a miscarriage; she brought a
complaint before the judge, who, however, stated his in-
ability to inflict any punishment on the offender. One who
studied logic being present, offered to decide the case, and
being duly empowered to do so, at once ordered the brick-
makers to be hanged ; saying that, as the smoke from the
kiln ascended to heaven and produced clouds, whilst lightning
was caused by the collision of clouds, it was evident that
they were the real culprits.”

““ On one occasion King David, having been honoured with
an audience by the Almighty, earnestly entreated that he
might in his own court be shown an instance of the justice
to be administered on the day of judgment; his prayer
was granted. On the next occasion of his sitting in judg-
ment, a complaint was made and duly substantiated by
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evidence, that a certain man had stolen a cow. The spiritual
monitor immediately directed the king to order the accuser
to be executed. The monarch, after remonstrance, obeyed the
divine mandate, but, in astonishment, inquired the reason of
its being given; when he was informed that the animal had
originally belonged to the father of the accused, from whom,
however, it was wrested by the plaintiff’s father, who, to
obtain it, murdered its possessor. That the supposed thief,
therefore, had only taken his own property, as it would have
descended to him as his father’s heir, whilst according to
the law of Kisas (retribution), the murderer’s son was
liable to death.”

*““During the reign of Nadir Shah, a traveller sleeping
under a tree near the City of Delhi, was robbed of a bag
containing 1,000 rs. Upon discovering his loss, he repaired
to the durbar and laid his complaint before the emperor.
On hearing his story, Nadir Shah remarked that he appeared
to have suffered from his own carelessness in going to sleep.
This, the traveller acknowledged, but urged thathe had taken
rest reposing perfect confidence in the monarch’s watchful
ness, which never slept. Upon receiving this answer the
emperor desired him to repair at the expiration of eight
days to the tree under which he had been robbed, when he
would doubtless find that his trust had not been misplaced.
In the meantime, a notification was aflixed to the tree to the
effect that, as the tree had permitted a traveller who reposed
under its protection to be injured, unless within eight days his
loss was made good, the country for a circle of 12 coss (two
miles) round the tree which had thus neglected its duty,
would be made desolate. Of course, as it was well-known
that the emperor’s menaces were not idle threats, when the
traveller repaired to the spot at the appointed time he duly
found at the foot of the tree a bag of 1,000 rs.”

‘““Haroun al Rashid had a country house, to which he
occasionally resorted with all his ladies to spend the night
in festivity. On such occasions the superintendent of the
gardens having made all the necessary arrangements retired

with his attendant ferashes. One evening, however, whilst
o2
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in the middle of his work he was overcome with sleep, and
laid down in a niche in the wall to which he had ascended to
light a lamp. When he awoke, on turning his eyes towards
the garden, he saw that 1t was filled with the Sultan’s
ladies, and at once knew that his absence not having been
noticed by his attendants, they had, on the Sultan’s arrival,
left him asleep. Death would have been his fate had he
been discovered, and the remainder of the night he spent in
the greatest fear, unable to move, and exposed to the gaze
of all below. Fortunately, he was not discovered, but his
fright changed his once raven locks to grey, and the next
morning he solicited and obtained his dismissal from the
emperor’s service.”

‘“ A certain king of Persia, who was blessed with a numerous
family, when he wished to dispose of his daughters offered
them in marriage to his courtiers. The honour was too
great to be refused; but the gift often proved a sort of
white elephant. On one occasion, two friends who had
been thus honoured were married on the same day. The
one, apparently, continued to live a happy life, and his
marriage seemed in no way to have affected his spirits. The
other, on the contrary, was always sad and downcast, as if
overwhelmed with care and anxiety. Some little time
elapsed when the latter questioned his friend as to how he
managed to retain his good spirits, notwithstanding his
marriage to a princess, remarking that, as for himself, he was
perfectly miserable. Nothing that he could do would satisfy
his wife. Whenever he entered the zenanah he was met
with a long string of complaints and threats to make his
alleged unkindness known to his august father-in-law. The
other replied that, on the contrary, he always found his wife
cheerful and contented, and ever ready to welcome him with
a smile. Surprised at this reply, the henpecked husband
inquired how this satisfactory result had been obtained, when
his friend told him that his wife had brought with her from
the palace a favourite cat. The first occasion of his entering
the zenanah after his marriage, he noticed the cat and
ordered it to be removed. The princess remonstrated and
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insisted upon its remaining, upon which he terminated the
dispute by drawing his sword and cutting off the animal’s
head. From that moment he had no further trouble, and
heard nothing more about his wife’s exalted rank. His
friend thought he bad, at last, learnt the wished-for secret,
for his princess also had a favourite cat. He accordingly
swaggered into her zenanah and directed the cat to be turned
out; the lady refused to allow his order to be obeyed. He
followed the example that had been set him, and cut off poor
pussy’s head, but, instead of this act leading to the happy
result he anticipated, he found himself suddenly attacked
by his wife and all her maidens and well beaten with their
slippers. Thoroughly amazed, he told the princess that she
ought to have imitated the conduct of her sister, which was
so different from her own, upon which she calmly observed
that her sister’s husband had killed the cat the first day.”

“ Sultan Shidad was found as an infant attached to the
dead body of his mother and lashed to a plank, the remnant
of some vessel that had been wrecked. Some washerwomen
pursuing their ordinary avocations by the side of the river,
observed the plank floating about, recovered the child and
brought him to the chief of the tribe to which they belonged.
The chief took compassion on the babe and had it brought
up in his own house. When the boy was about ten years of
age, he was playing with his fellows by the roadside, the
cortege of the Sultan was seen rapidly advancing. The boys
respectfully withdrew to a distance, Shidad alone boldly re-
mained on a hillock and watched the procession as it passed.
It happened that a foot soldier observed lying on the ground
a paper containining some species of collyrinm. Taking it
up he offered it to a companion who suffered from sore
eyes; he, however, excused himself from applying it in con-
sequence of his being ignorant of its peculiar properties. At
that moment espying Shidad, he determined to test its efficacy
on his person; he was accordingly summoned, and, on his
approaching, was seized, and an application of the surmah
made to his visual organs. He immediately became endowed
with the supernatural power of discovering the mineral
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wealth concealed in the bowels of the earth: but, fearing
that his captors might acquire the same faculty, he screamed
most violently, accusing them of having deprived him of
sight, and threatening to appeal to the king. Dreading the
punishment that might be inflicted on them for their cruelty,
they hurried away and were soon lost amidst the receding
crowd. Shidad from that date lost no opportunity of avail-
ing himself of the power thus obtained, and through the in-
fluence of his enormous wealth, eventually rose to sovereign
rank, and even advanced pretensions to being upon an
equality with the Creator. Hearing from the priests of the
blessings that await the true believer in the next world, he
determined upon preparing a terrestrial paradise ; the boun-
daries of which are said to have extended 300 coss; it contained
every luxury the heart of man could desire or conceive;
when, however, it was completed, and the king, with a large
retinue, advanced to the gate to enter upon the enjoyment of
its pleasures, ere he could pass the threshold, an awful sound
was heard, and the monarch, together with all his suite, fell
down dead.”

We left Dumdum with much regret. It was a most
desirable station, being at that time the head-quarters of
that fine old corps, the Bengal Artillery, always renowned
for hospitality. In addition to dinners and balls, private
theatricals formed a source of entertainment at the mess. On
two occasions it fell to my lot to deliver the prologue,
written by an old friend, who subsequently lost his life in the
Mutiny. They are so clever that to many their perusal may
prove interesting, and they will consequently form a fitting
epilogue to this chapter.

I.

As some fond mother of a duckling brood,

Leads forth her feathered charge to tempt the flood ;
With bopes and fears alternate swells her breast,
Till fromn the bank safe Jaunched she sees the last ;
When, all afloat, her doubts and fears subside,

She views their gambols with a mother’s pride.
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Such tack is mine : with diffidence I bring

My untried brood beneath my sheltering wing,
Not fit, as yet, to draw the uncertain tide

Of public favour. You can best decide.

"Tis yours to judge their merits —swile or frown —
Your praises float them and your censures drown,
Modest they are, and arrogate no skill

To please, their only merit is their zeal.

Bashful they are, poor fellows, and sore prayed
For my protection and a prologue’s aid.

Let's have a prologue? What, shall we appear
Unintroduced and criticism dare ?

On our own merits can we found a claim ?

Oh weak foundation for the slightest fame,

We ack not praise, we cannot hope for such,
Grant us but patience, we will tax it much.
There’s a good fellow, Cavenagh, come, do try
To introduce us somehow—say we're shy.

Most public men best skilled in sage harangue
To fix all hearers with their honied tongue,
How great soe’er their reputation be,

They ne'er disdain to ask for sympathy.
Indulgence, patience, some allowance made,
Nervous in public, really quite afraid,

Though bold as brass ; they thus affect to fear—
The flattered public think they are sincere,
When authors write, invariably they urge

Their claims to patience on the world at large.
Smoothing their path by prolngue—preface styled,
E'en Herbert Edwardes penned a preface mild.
When such great heroes think it no disgrace

To ask for patience, grant it in our case ;

Let our best efforts for our faults atone.

But female hearts are aye to pity prone.

Did pity e’er to beauty vainly sue ?

Can she, or shall we sue in vain to you ?
Smile—and be happy. Make us happy too.

II.

Though in brief space vast changes time can show,
How they occur, man is forbid to know.

From the firsi step unheeding we desceud,

And trace the path of folly to its end.
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Nor mark the change so gradually creeping on,
Till downright madness marks us for its own.
Time was, to gain a smile from lady fair,

Each steel-clad booby mounted his destrier,
Bowed, couched his lance, then in the mélée mixed,
And by a spear, like coach-pole, died transfixed.
In this dire fix beatitude be feigned,

If to bewail his fate the lady deigned.

This consolation soothed his parting hours.

How misdirected then were Beauty’s powers ?
Our civilized moderns value place

On precious life, more sensible our race.

And if a madman spear his neighbour now,

How weak the plea, to urge his knightly vow.
Grabbed—the police confiscate arms and horse,
The unromantic law will take its course.

Our modern maid more prudence, too, displaye,
Nor sends to death her gallants now-a-days ;
She loves to see their numbers daily swell,

She knows her powers, but she employs them well.
Still, though her influence guides their various lives,
Like beacon’s light it oft to madness drives.
And here’s a case most lamentably true,

My fiiends, the victims, driven mad by you.
When last we met—Oh, blackest hour of woe—
Little I dreamt what dire results would flow
From those charades. Quite innocent I came
To speak the prologue, hence I bear some blame.
My nervous friends I pitied, lent mny aid,

And for their failings your indulgence prayed.
No moderation knows the female mind.

By nature gentle, you were more than kind.
Blind to their faults, too partially you praised ;
Mistaken kindness ! now the lads are crazed
For life’s more serious business all unfit,

Useless at drill and dumb at mess they sit;
Jenkins and Thompson mopingly rehearse

Their mournful scenes in very doleful verse.

The Cadi’s daughter weeps upon parade,
Abstracted Snooks salutes each passing maid ;
Each stage-struck Thespian flies at higher game,
In your applause each heard the trump of fame.
Nought is too great, too difficult, too high,

From low charades they reach at tragedy.

Vain of your praise, no medium course they steer,
Sure of success, they have no idle fear.
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1 prayed, I coaxed them, nay your wishes feigned,
At last they yielded and the point was gained.
The tragic buskin they this night forego,
And condescend to comedy, though low.
In yonder 100m e'en now they’re hard at work,
One spreads the rouge, the other plies the cork ;
Even now the prompter hurries to his post —
Hear me in mercy, else the boys are lost !
Oh, while one spark of pity fills each breast,
Let it blaze forth ! their headlong course arrest.
Favour them not, be merry but be wise,
Let your displeasure wear no kind disguise.
If they offend, pray hiss them off at once,
Fly to the ballroom and the mazy dance.
Leave them to wash their painted faces here,
Whilst Wymer’s strains till morning keep you there.
So sball we gain the end we bave in view.
To see you pleased, Oh ! what would we not do.
1f the farce fail, the ball 8 the thing—Adicu !

1035
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CHAPTER 1V.

THE NEPALESE EMBASSY.

Ordered to assume political charge of the Nepalese Embassy—Grand Dur-
bar held by the Governor-General —Visit to the Mesmeric Hospital —
Jung Bahadur’s first Ball—Religious Opinions—Passage to Suez and
trip through Egypt—Jung Bahadur’s account of his own rise to Power —
Arrival at Southampton and Difficulties with the Custommn House Autho-
rities—Drive through Regent Street—Board of Control and Court of
Directors—Reception by the latter—Visit to the Opera, etc.—Lady
Palmerston’s ‘“ At Home ”"—Banquet at the Marquis of Londonderry’s--
A Round of Visits—Banquet given by the Court of Directors—
Audience with Her Majesty—Evening Party at the Palace in honour of
Prince Arthur's Christening—Attack upon the Queen—Interview with
the Chairman of the Court of Directors—Visit to the Duke of Welling-
ton—Interview with the President of the Board of Control —Trip to
Plymouth and Birmingham—Visit to Edinburgh—Leave England for
Paris—Interview with the President—Visit to the Hotel des Invalides
—Colonel Le Preaux Locre—Visit from Lord Normanby—Intention to
proclaim the President Emperor—Visit to Fontainebleau—Wish of Jung
Babadur to remain two more years in Europe—Meeting with Lola
Montes—Review on the Plains of Sartory— Underhand communication
to the French Office and courteous conduct of French Officials—Diffi-
culties on the day of Departure from Paris—Journey to Lyons—General
Count Castellane—Arrival at Marseilles—Illiberal demand of the
Messageries Company—Departure from Marseilles—Arrival at Alexan-
dria—The Rani Chunda of Lahore—Visit to the Pasha at Cairo—Voyage
to Bombay—Customs of the People of Nepal—Visit to the Shrines of
Dwarka and Bate on the Kattiwar coast—Reception of a Native Chief
—Disappointment of the Priests of the Temple—Stay at Ceylon—Con-
filence of the Natives of India in our rule—An episode in Jung
Bahadur's Life—Nepalese Mission to China—Jung Bahadur’s religious
notions—A difficult Problem to be solved—Jung Bahadur’s Marriage to
a daughter of the Rajah of Coorg —The Rajah’s artful design frustrated
—Reason for objecting to the construction of a good Road through the
Passes—March from Benares—Journey through the Terai—Elephant
Hunt—Arrival at Katmandhoo—Grand Durbar—Farewell Visits.
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LATE in the evening of the Sth March, 1850, an office
messenger brought me a note from the officiating secretary
to Government, notifying my appointment, as a temporary
arrangement, to the political charge of the Nepalese Mission,
just arrived in Calcutta en route to England, with presents
for Her Most Gracious Majesty. Early next morning I
accordingly started for Calcutta, and, in the course of the
day, accompanied by the Lieutenant-Governor’s private
secretary, paid a visit to the Embassy, where I was intro-
duced to the Ambassador, General Jung Bahadur, a young
man to hold the important post of Prime Minister, not
being more than one or two and thirty. His two brothers,
Juggat Shumsher and Dher Shumsher, together with several
other officers, were associated with him in the Mission; but
all power was entirely vested in the hands of Jung Bahadur,
and the others were mere subordinates. He expressed
a hope that he might be granted an audience by the Go-
vernor-General with as little delay as possible, and seemed
extremely anxious to be made acquainted with the prescribed
form of salutation, viz., whether he should embrace his lord-
ship, shake hands with him, or merely make a salaam. His
lordship, I fancy, would have been somewhat astonished had
he been greeted with a fraternal hug. His Excellency had
brought down a regiment with him as an escort, and I was
surprised to observe their height, hardly one of them being
under six feet. They were steady under arms, but required
good officers, and appeared to have just acquired sufficient
discipline to prove the truth of the old adage, a little learning
1s a dangerous thing, as in all probability, should they ever
again come into collision with our troops, instead of carry-
ing on an irregular warfare—the warfare best adapted to
their habits and the nature of their country—they will at-
tempt to operate in masses, and consequently by being out-
manosuvred, lose all the advantages, which from their courago
and activity they now possess over the Hindostani sepoy.
My friendly relations with the Ambassador at one time
threatened to be brought to an early close; for, having
agreed to accompany him on board the P. and O. Company’s
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steamer to inspect the accommodation reserved for his use,
he and his brother preceded me down the staircase, and
entered the carriage, leaving me only the front seat. I took
no apparent notice of the discourtesy, but, after the inspec-
tion of the steamer, during which I was much amused at
Jung Bahadur’s reply to the query put by the agent, whether
he would like to see the engine-room, viz., that he would
defer his visit until the voyage, as he should be on board
nearly a month and would require something to amuse him,
bade him adieu as usual. In the afternoon, however, I
called again at the embassy, and, in the presence of his
officers, took the opportunity of quietly pointing out the
breach of etiquette of which he had been guilty, both as re-
gards the respect due to the representative of the British
Power and the courtesy due to a stranger. He accepted the
rebuke in good part; excused himself on the plea of his
being rude and unacquainted with the customs of civilized
life, and begged me to rescind the resolution I had expressed
never again'to enter his carriage. From that moment I had
not the slightest cause to complain of any want of courtesy,
and I firmly believe that our subsequent friendship owed its
existence to the fact of my exacting the respect due to my
position. For the next ten days my time was partly occupied
in accompanying his Excellency to visit the lions of Calcutta,
such as the Mint, the Arsenal at Fort William, the cap manu-
factory at Dumdum, and the Military Orphan Press. With
all these establishments he was much interested, and his
remarks showed that nothing of importance escaped his
notice. On one occasion he observed, that it was impossible
to oppose the English, as they had now succeeded in making
fire and water subservient to their will ; whilst, alluding to
the Chinese he said, that although, in many respects equal
in power and wisdom to the English, yet they must ever
remain inferior to them as, owing to their excessive pride,
they despised foreigners to such an extent, that they would
disdain to learn from them any of the improvements in the
arts and sciences now being almost daily discovered, and
consequently must ever remain completely dependent for
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any advance they might malke on their own inventions, whilst,
on the contrary, the English gladly acquired knowledge
wherever it was procurable. He mentioned, that so particular
were the Chinese not to deviate from established customs, that
in receiving and returning the quinquennial present from the
Nepal Rajah, not the slightest deviation as regards the
articles to be presented, the guard to escort them, the stages
to be made en route from the frontier to Pekin, &c., is per-
mitted from the instructions originally issued when the
practice was established.

On the 11th of March a grand Durbar was held by the
Governor-General for the reception of the ambassador.
Lord Dalhousie, surrounded by all the staff at the presidency,
received his Excellency in the marble hall. The usual
formalities were gone through, presents received and re-
turned, and Jung Bahadur took his leave much pleased with
his interview. ILord Dalhousie had enquired whether there
was any officer he would wish to be placed in charge of the
embassy, in the room of Colonel Lawrence who had been
detained at Peshawur, and he at once requested that I might
be appointed to the vacant post. Some few days afterwards
we visited the Mesmeric hospital and the gun foundry; at
the former we were just too late to witness the performance
of a serious operation, but found the patient still insensible,
and evidently perfectly free from pain. Jung Bahadur
could not help remarking to me that certainly after what
be had seen he could not but consider that mesmerism was
the most extraordinary power that had yet been discovered.

At the foundry he was most inquisitive, and not being
able to thoroughly understand the explanation kindly
afforded by the superintendent as to the construction of
the furnaces so as to preserve the outer wall comparatively
cool whilst the molten metal was inside, to our surprise
he suddenly disappeared into a furnace which happened to
be empty, the details of the construction of which he most
minutely inspected. The same evening he attended the ball
given by the inhabitants of Calcutta to the 70th Regiment.
He was anxious to know whether all the couples dancing
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were man and wife, and evidently thought it extremclv
tufra dig. on the part of a member of Council to join in such
a frivolous amusement ; indeed he would hardly believe that
the gentleman whose saltatory performances he remarked
could hold so high an oftice. He then reconciled his mind
to the idea by supposing that he must be intoxicated, an
impression I had difticulty in removing. At supper he
seemed perfectly to recognise the propriety of drinking the
healths of Her Majesty, Lord Dalhousie, and the Colonel of
the Regiment; but he could not comprehend the meaning of
styling the Colonel’s wife the queen of the feast; or of pro-
posing the toast of the ladies. These were, however, points
upon which he soon became enlightened after his arrival in
England. |

Dr. Hooker having called to present his work upon the
Flora of the Himalayahs, took the opportunity of ex-
pressing a wish to traverse Nepal. It was clear that the
project would not be favourably received, but Jung Bahadur
exhibited a Map of the country, pointing out the plain in
which the Goorkhas were defeated by the Chinese, and the
different passes by whichan allied force of British and Nepalese
troops might enter the Flowery Land, the invasion of which
he evidently contemplated. With reference to his approaching
visit to the Temple of Juggernath, Jung Bahadur having men-
tioned his anxiety to avoid ministering to the rapacity of the
priests attached to the Temple without incurring the odium of
acting in a mean and illiberal manner unbecoming his position
as a Hindoo chief, I suggested that he should invest the
amount of his intended offering in the purchase ot a Govern-
ment promissory note, which should be endorsed to the priests
as trustees, with power only to draw the periodical interest
for distribution in charity ; so that, although doubtless the
charity would always be bestowed on themselves and their
families, at all events, they would have but a small sum to
distribute, as they never could obtain possession of the prin-
cipal. This idea delighted him, and he acted upon my advice.
He evidently had no high opinion of the priesthood, and, as
regards religion, was far from being prejudiced. He stated



Embarks for Home. 111

that in Nepal there was perfect toleration, and that no one
was persecuted for worshipping God according to his own
religious rites. I replied, that we went further than this,
for in our prayers we always prayed for heretics that they
might become true believers ; upon which he at once observed
that in that respect our religion was superior to his own.

On the 5th April Jung Bahadur attended a ball given at
Government house. On leaving, he expressed his thanks to
Lord Dalhousie for the kindness he had experienced, saying
that his lordship bad treated him with greater favour than
his rank mevited. In reply the Governor-General observed
that, although it had certainly afforded him pleasure to show
him attention, he could claim no merit for so doing, as he
had merely carried into effect the wishes of his most gracious
mistress tl:e Queen. As we were proceeding to the carriage,
the minister begged Sir Henry lilliot to make known to
him the various ranks of persons in Kngland upon whom it
might be proper for him to call, and seemed somewhat sur-
prised on learning that many of the untitled possessed far
more influence and occupied more important political posi-
tions than noblemen of high standing.

On the 7th April, about nine o’clock, we embarked on
board the P. & O. steamer Haddington. Although I had
spent many happy years and formed many sincere friendships
in India, whilst since I left England as a boy many sad
changes had taken place in a once happy family circle, yet
the first revolution of the paddle wheels conveyed a feeling
of unmixed pleasure—the feeling of making actual progress
towards one’s native country, and I could not help recalling
to mind Sir Walter Scott’s beautiful lines—

‘“ Breathes there the man with soul so dead
Who never to himself hath said,
This is my own, my pative land ?”’

Our voyage as far as Suez passed as such voyages gene-
rally do. We landed at Galle and Aden. At the former
place, after some little difficulty, the Minister succeded in
securing a tolerably comfortable house, possessing a good
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view of the harbour, and, on my visiting him the evening
after our arrival, I found him amusing himself with a
nautch. There was but one lady performer, bedecked in the
most gandy manner possible, altogether resembling some of
the paintings of Hindoo deities. Her movements were, how-
ever, graceful, and in time with the music, a native drum
and two sets of cymbals. After some time she was joined by
three male performers, two, however, soon left, and she then
danced a description of minuet with the third. The per-
formance being over, the: Minister enquired whether she
was a married woman, and was informed that she was a
Christian and not a mere dancing girl, in support of whicl
assertion she displayed a string of beads suspended round
her neck. Jung Bahadur expressed a hope that he might
have an opportunity of showing me some of the dancing
girls of Nepal, of whose performances he spoke in the
highest terms; but after visiting the opera, I fancy on this
subject his ideas changed, and I never subsequently heard
him make any allusion to the Nepalese sylphs.

On our nearing Suez, as usual, lots were drawn to deter-
mine the order in which the passengers were to be accommo-
dated in the vans, and the Minister felt much annoyed at a
protest which was made against his being allowed to retain
any vacant seats in his carriage. As he had suffered a good
deal from the effects of the voyage, and, indeed, on one
occasion had expressed the intention of shortening the sea-
trip and proceeding vié Marseilles, from which I had dis-
suaded him by pointing out that he would be wanting in
the respect due to the head of the French nation if he were
to visit Paris without paying his respects to the President ;
whilst, having left India as Ambassador to the Queen of
England, it would be out of his power to visit any foreign
court before he had been honoured with an audience by Her
Majesty, I determined to address the transit agent officially
ou the subject. However, immediately on our anchoring off
Suez, Captain Lingardet came on board the steamer, and
I found that he had anticipated my request, and had made
all the necessary arrangements for securing the Minister’s
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comfort, a special carriage having been sent for his accom-
modation, and the whole of the first set of vans allotted to
our party. We had, therefore, hardly landed and obtained
some refreshments, when we were informed that the carriages
were ready, and were obliged to hurry off from the hotel.
Upon reaching the starting point we found a terrible scene
of confusion, horses prancing,—men shouting and women
screaming. It seemed hopeless to get the cortége into any
sort of order, but thanks to Captain Lingardet’s kind and
cnergetic aid, in a short time e were all safely seated
in our respective vehicles and fairly on our way across
the desert. As the road was a mere track, and as long as
we were running in the right direction, our drivers seemed
to leave the horses much to their own will, the jolting at
times was terrible, and at the fourth stage, which we reached
between midnight and one A.M., we were glad to descend and
rest for a short time, in order to partake of the refreshments
—bread, cold fowl, and excellent coffee, prepared for us. At
the eighth stage, between five and six A.M., there was another
halt for breakfast, and thence, with the exception of a few
short stoppages, necessitated by mishaps to our harness,
caused either by the unruliness of our teams. of which the
leaders had often the peculiar fancy of turning round and
looking into the carriage, or by our finding that we had left
the track and were dashing over broken ground to regain it,
we continued our journey without interruption. Before we
reached Cairo the sun was high, and the heat—crowded as
we were, six in a van—intense. At the fourteenth stage we
were, with one exception, all deceived by the mirage, which
displayed itself in the appearance of a beauntiful river only a
short distance from us. The illusion was so complete that
1t was with difficulty we could be convinced that we were
not looking on the Nile. As we however advanced, the
pleasing scene gradually disappeared, and the City of Cairo,
with the Pyramids in the distance, came in sight. We all
congratulated ourselves on the prospect of obtaining anight’s
rest after our fatiguing journey; however, upon enquiring
at the transit agent’s office, I found that the steamer destined
1



114 Reminiscences of an Indian Official,

for onr accommodation would leave Boulak about eight
v.M., and that we must consequently be on the move a little
after seven. Inthe<nterin, Itook the opportunity of driving
through the City and visiting the citadel which contains the
Pasha’s palace, as well as the splendid mosque of white
marble commenced by Mahomet Ali. From a point in the
citadel we were shown below the famous leap taken by the
Mameluke, who was the sole survivor of the massacre of that
splendid body of horsemen. Cairo is certainly an interesting
city, and with 1ts narrow streets and high houses, fully
embodies the idea of an oriental town, at the same time 1t
seems to belong to a higher order of civilization than our
Indian cities. A very great number of the nativesappeared
wholly or partially blind. We were informed that many in-
jured their sight purposely to avoid being drawn for the con-
scription, but this reason would not apply to the women
who were also sufferers. I should imagine that the defect
must have arisen from repeated attacks of ophthalmia cansed
by the glare and the fine dust, which abounds in every
quarter. The troops stationed in the citadel and at
numerous guards throughout the town, were fine-looking
men, but sadly wanting in military appearance. Under
European officers they would doubtless make excellent soldiers,
being equally docile as the sepoy and, at the same time,
possessing more bone and sinew.

There being only two cabins in the steamer in which we
embarked, one for the ladies, the other for gentlemen, not
caring about remaining below with the Minister and his
suite, I took up my quarters on deck. Towards morning,
it became bitterly cold, and I was glad to jump up from my
recumbent position and endeavour to warm myself by
walking up and down. The country through which we
passed reminded me in many respects of Eastern Bengal. At
Attfeh we were transferred to a canal boat towed by horses.
I took the opportunity of our stay at this village to despatch
a servant on shore to endeavour to procure some provisions
for the Minister and his party, as hitherto his Excellency
had been obliged to content himself with a few potatoes.
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The endeavour, however, proved somewhat unsuccessful,
some rice and a few vegetables being the only articles of
food procurable; fortunately, the steward had a little flour,
so that a few chupattics* could be prepared. Towards even-
ing our horses were relieved by a steamer which tugged us
to Alexandria, where we arrived between ten and eleven P.M. ;
carriages were in readiness at the wharf, and, after about
a quarter of an hour’s drive we alighted at the Hotel d’Europe,
where we were fortunate enough to obtain tolerable accom-
modation for the whole party.

The following morning my time was fully occupied in
visiting the sights of Alexandria, which included the Pasha’s
palace, which commands a fine view of the harbour, Pompey’s
pillar and Cleopatra’s needle, and making arrangements for
the embarkation of the embassy on board the steamer Eipon.
At one time I was afraid I should have some little trouble
relating to the settlement of a claim for £6 8s. against the
Minister for hotel expenses, 7.e., the simple use of a couple
of rooms for two or three hours at Cairo. The charge was
evidently most exorbitant. After some discussion, and a
threat to refer the matter to the Consul, it was reduced by
more than one-half, and the claimant went away perfectly
satisfied. About five p.M. we steamed out of the harbour, but
hardly had we got to sea when the Minister came to me, sadly
distressed at hearing that cows were killed on board the
steamer; however, with the aid of the purser, it was soon
arranged that, so far as the Jung and his followers were
concerned, the time and place of slaughter should be care-
fully concealed, and with this promise he was satisfied.
Subsequently, however, his religious prejudices—or rather I
should say the prejudices of the sect to which he belongs—
entailed nupon him serious inconvenience. It appears that
they will only eat sheep with short tails. Now sheep of this
description are not procurable in Europe; still, an animal
with an apparently orthodox tail was duly made over to the
Nepalese party for execution. The appointed executioner
was not disposed to become too inquisitive as to the origin

* Unleavened cakes.
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of the shortness of the tail of the fine fat sheep destined to
become the dinner of himself and his fellows. Unfortu-
nately, however, amongst the members of the Minister’s suite
was an old Kazi under a vow not to indulge in animal food
for a certain period ; under no circumstances, therefore, could
he partake of the repast. This old gentleman, who was
of rather a crabbed disposition, insisted upon being allowed
to examine the sheep to satisfy himself that his brethren
acted in accordance with their religious tenets. The result
of his minute scutiny established the fact, a fact I am inclined
to believe previously, if not actually known, yet very shrewdly
guessed by all his comrades, that the animal they were about
to sacrifice had originally been born with a long tail, and
that the tail had been docked. Outwardly, great was the
astonishment manifested. Inwardly, I fancy, many were
the curses against their friend’s officiousness. However, the
requirements of religion must be obeyed. Mousieur le
Mouton was at once released and bundled up stairs to join
his companions and to become food for heterodox Christians
instead of orthodox Hindoos ; whilst the suite for the rest of
the voyage were obliged to content themselves with rice and
flour and such like comestibles. After the arrival of the
embassy in London, I presume the Kazi was interdicted from
showing himself in the neighbourhood of the kitchen, for I
never heard any more complaints relative to the subject of
short-tailed sheep.

Being in quarantine, we were precluded from landing at
Malta and Gibraltar. At both stations, however, the
Minister duly received the salute prescribed for his rank, and
at the former we visited the inner harbour in which the
squadron that had just returned from enforcing our demands
against Greece in the Don Pacifico squabble, was lying.
Jung Bahadur was much struck with the appearance of the
line-of-battle ships, each of which he likened to a little
world in itself. He was also much astonished upon seeing
the dry dock, and for some time found it difficult to under-
stand the process of docking a large vessel.

In the course of the numerous conversations which I had
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with Jung Bahadur during the voyage, he gave me the fol-
lowing information relative to his own career, and also as
to Nepalese manners and customs, which may, perhaps, be
considered of interest :—

Jung Bahadur attributed his rapid rise in a great measure
to an act of intrepidity which he performed when a soubah-
dar. An elephant having become must (mad), killed its
mahout, and entered the city of Katmandhoo, creating havoc
in every direction. No one dared to approach it: when he
flung himself from the top of a house on to its back, blind-
folded it with a cloth, and eventually succeeded in securing
1t firmly to the trunk of a tree. For this exploit he was
presented with a dress of honour and a sum of money, which
latter, however, he refused to accept, but demanded pro-
motion, and was accordingly made a lieutenant. During
the period of his uncle, Mahtabur Sing’s, administration,
certain indiscretions on the part of the Ranee had given
rise to reports injurious to her reputation ; and one of Jung
Bahadur’s cousins publicly stated that, as the Rajah had
been dishonoured by the conduct of his wife, he was unfit
to reign, and should be deposed.

In consequence of this impolitic remark, his decath was
effected by Mahtabur Sing, who owed his -elevation to the
dignity of Prime Minister simply to the Ranee’s partizan-
ship. This wrong, combined with indignities experienced
at their uncle’s hands, rankled in the minds of Jung Baha-
dur and his brothers, and about a year subsequent to the
murder, an altercation having ensued between the former
and the Prime Minister, regarding matters of State, he
deliberately shot him with a rifle, saying,—

“This is in revenge for my cousin’s life, which you caused
to be taken.”

Upon Mahtabur Sing’s death the appointment of Prime
Minister devolved upon Futteh Jung, and matters coutinued
in statu quo for another year; at the expiration of which
period the Ranee’s party, having conspired against the life
of the Jung, he one day attended the Council, accompanied
by his seven brothers and three or four officers attached to
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his cause, and being armed with no less than seven double.-
barrelled rifles, he deliberately shot several of the principal
officers of the Court. The remainder, being terrified, fled ;
but, in all, ere the massacre was over, one hundred and fifty
Sirdars were dispatched, whilst only two of Jung Bahadur’s
brothers were wounded. .

The next year, the Ranee’s adherents, countenanced by
the Rajah himself, again endeavoured to cause his death;
but, as he was aware of their machinations, he, with his
brothers, proceeded to the Durbar, and after the destruction
of several of their enemies, finding the army true to their
cause, deposed the Rajah, and placed his eldest son upon the
musnud. A subsequent attempt was made by some of
the adverse faction to restore the monarch to power; but
it proved unsuccessful, and from that date Jung Bahadur's
authority was firmly established. The post he held, how-
ever, was hardly to be coveted. Several of his predecessors
met with a violent end ; and in the course of his own career
various attempts were made upon his life, and on one occa-
sion he was thrown down a well, where he remained for
hours, and was found by his friends perfectly exhausted,
and with his nails almost torn off by clinging to the brick-
work. On another, when crossing a stream by a bridge
composed of the trunks of two trees, when a false step
would have been fatal, he was required to turn, and was
saved solely by his own presence of mind and the wonderful
surefootedness of his pony.

His rule appeared to be deservedly popular, as, although
strict, his administration bore the credit of being perfectly
just. He restricted the pnnishment of death to the fol-
lowing crimes:—Murder, treason against the King or Prime
Minister and attacks upon the person of the British or
Chinese Envoy, and theft in the third instance. Incest is
punished by emasculation; adultery can only be punished
by the party offended against. Women for this crime are
liable to have their lips and noses cut off. Robbery in the
first instance is punished by flogging; in the second by
amputation of the arm. Gambling is prohibited, except
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during the festival of the Dawali, when there is no restric-
tion and for five days the vice is universally indulged in.
In the army, which numbers 20,000 to 25,000 men, formerly
each regiment was composed of men of different castes;
but, with the view of profiting fully by the antagonism
of feeling existing between them, Jung Bahadur formed
corps, consisting entirely of men of one caste, so that in the
event of mutiny showing itself in any particular regiment,
there would be no difficulty in bringing up other troops to
overawe it.

We arrived off the pier at Southampton early on the
morning of the 25th of May, when, much to my annoyance,
I learnt through a letter received from Mr. Melville that,
owing to some misconception, my request that a suitable
residence might be secured for the accommodation of the
Embassy, had not been complied with. I was, as may be
imagined, in a dilemma. Vacant houses, of a description to
meet the wants of so large a party, are not to be procured
at a moment’s notice; whilst, for divers reasons, I could not
take my charge to an hotel. As soon, however, as my
embarrassment became known to Captain Engledue, the
Superintendent P. & O. Company at Southampton, with his
usual kindness he at once came to my aid, and placed at my
disposal the suite of rooms forming his new office. Hardly,
however, had Jung Bahadur and his officers been comfortably
established in their apartments than a new difficulty arose.
Immediately on my landing I had been informed by the
Custom House authorities that an order had been received
that, as a special mark of respect, the baggage belonging to
the Embassy was to be allowed to pass unopened. I had
duly communicated the purport of this order to the Minister,
who had felt much flattered at its receipt. Unfortunately,
some wise official in London had discovered that the order
was far too liberal, and a second order was despatched,
countermanding the instructions conveyed in the first. In
the meanwhile the baggage was being landed, and the first
article opened and searched was Jung Bahadur’s own bed.
This he resented as a personal insult; refused to allow any
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more of his baggage to leave the steamer, and threatened to
proceed at once to France. 1 have littlo doubt that he
looked upon the whole affair as a preconcerted arrangement,
and thought that the first order had been issued solely for
the purpose of deceiving him and inducing him to allow
his boxes to fall into the clutches of the Custom House
officers. Of course, I was helpless in the matter, and could
only address the following protest to the chief local
authority :—

“ SIR,—

“ His Excellency Jung Bahadur having been informed
that all the baggage appertaining to himself and to the
members of his suite must undergo inspection by the Custom
House authorities previous to delivery, has begged me to
protest most earnestly against the adoption of such a
measure, as the opening of the packages would not only be
deemed an insult to the Mission, but also, in all probability,
preclude the owners (according to the tenets of the Hindoo
religion) from the further use of whatever articles they may
contain.

“T consider it right to add that, from my own knowledge
of the contents of the baggage belonging to His Excellency
and the members of his suite, I can certify that they have
in their possession only their personal effects.

“J have, &c.”

I found the collector most courteous and considerate. He
immediately despatched a copy of my letter by telegraph to
his London chief, and sanctioned the removal of the case
containing cooking utensils to the Minister’s temporary
quarters—an arrangement to which Jung Bahadur was soon
glad to accede, though he at first demurred to any of his
boxes being moved. About three p.M., much to the Minis-
ter's delight, and also astonishment, a satisfactory reply to
my protest was received from the Custom House. At the
same time his pleasure was much enhanced at hearing that
Lieutenant-Colonel Seymour, Equerry to Prince Albert,
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desired to call upon him. Unluckily, however, I missed
meeting the Colonel, and the visit, consequently, did not
take place.

About two r.M. on the 26th, Mr. Macleod, the Minister’s
Secretary, and Lall Sing, one of the Nepalese officers, who
had been sent to London to make enquiries regarding a
house, returned, having been fortunate enough to secure a
very suitable residence, No. 1, Richmond Terrace, at a
reasonable rent—&£500 for the season. I accordingly re-
quested that the special train which had been ordered for the
use of the Embassy might be ready at five o’clock, and a
little after seven I had the satisfaction of seeing the whole
of my charge comfortably settled in their new quarters.

The following afternoon I accompanied Jung Bahadur on
a drive though Regent and Oxford Streets, returning by
Westminster. He was much struck by the general appear-
ance of the streets, the crowds of equipages and foot-
passengers. Between four and five p.m. the Chairman and
Deputy-Chairman of the E. I. Company paid their respects
to the Minister, and invited him to visit the India Office on
Thursday, and to name a day on which it would be agree-
able to him to attend a dinner at the London Tavern. His
Excellency was delighted with their attention, and gladly
accepted the invitation. In the evening he went with his
Secretary to St. James’s Theatre, and was apparently pleased
with the performance, though much disgusted at being
placed in the stalls, or, as he described it, behind the muscians,
a position he evidently considered infra dig.

On the 28th I waited upon the President of the India
Board, from whom I received a most courteous reception.
At the same time I was much amused with the de haut en
bas style in which he referred to the Court of Directors, and
impressed upon me the necessity for remembering that I was.
in charge of a Mission to Her Majesty. KEven before I
landed, by a note from the Chairman, I had been reminded
by my worthy masters that I was an officer in their service.
It was, therefore, evident that I had delicate cards to play,
so as not to give offence to either of these important bodies.
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Upon the whole, I believe I gave them both satisfaciion.
Whenever any question arose connected with matters of
mere ceremony I at once repaired for instructions to the
office of the India Board; but when it was one involving
trouble or expense, I hastened off to the India Office, for I
soon found that, as far as I was concerned, this was the best
division of labour; for, whilst the India Board took all the
honour, the authorities at Leadenhall Street did all the work.

The 29th being Derby day, about eleven a.M. I started
with the Minister to drive to Epsom. At the Grand Stand
we were ushered into the room appropriated to the Jockey
Club, from which we had a good view of the course. As
the horses were passing, Jung Bahadur pointed to Voltigeur
as the horse he would feel inclined to back. His judgment
proved correct. Amongst other gentlemen we met here was
one who seemed afflicted with a monomania in the way of
taking aerial voyages, and told us that his principal amuse-
ment was going up in a balloon. He invited us to witness
his next ascent, which he said would occur in a day or two.
On the 30th the Minister paid a formal visit to the India
Office, where he was received by the Chairman, the Deputy,
and all the other members of the Court of Directors. After
the reception of the address of congratulation on his arrival
in England, his Excellency and suite were conducted to a
room where a table was spread with every description of
most exquisite fruit, and, as they were left to themselves, I
have little doubt they thoroughly enjoined their refection.
In the evening Jung Bahadur attended the performance at
the Opera. I do not think he cared much about the music,
though he evidently was wonderfully struck with the ballet.
On the 31st the Minister, having been too unwell to leave
the house, I took his two brothers to hear the oratorio at
Exeter Hall. The choruses were certainly superb, and the
two Nepalese were unable to conceal their astonishment and
delight. After the conclusion of the performance, at their
request the National Anthem was played upon the organ,
and, on their standing up, they were saluted with loud
cheers, which they gracefully acknowledged. From Exeter
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Hall we proceeded to Lady ’s, where, amongst others,
we met with that fine old soldier, I.ord Combermere, who
attempted to carry on a conversation in Hindustani with
some of the Sirdars. I am afraid his lordship hardly
succeeded in making himself intelligible. He did not, how-
ever, the less display his kindly spirit. Between one and
two A.M. I collected my flock, and paid my adieus to our
hostess, who was very anxious that the Nepalese should take
some refreshment; but this, of course, was quite out of the
question, and Juggat Shamsher most gallantly informed her
ladyship that it was quite sufficient for him to have been
permitted to feast his eyes. This evening some studs were
submitted for my inspection by Mr. I selected a
set, and upon enquiring the price I was, in the first instance,
informed that no charge would be made on their account.
Upon my expressing my astonishment and displeasure at
this reply, Mr. begged my pardon for the fault that
he had committed, stating by way of excuse that when he
was in , and the emperor purchased any jewellery, it
was always customary to make a present to the officer in
attendance.

Jung Bahadur, contrary to my advice, having determined
upon purchasing, instead of hiring, a carriage and horses,
on the 1st of June we made a round of the dealers’ stables,
and he succeeded in securing three decent-looking nags, and
ordered a fourth ; on his leaving England, he was compelled
to confess that the result of the speculation fully satisfied
him as to the mistake he had committed in not following
my counsel. From the dealers’ stables we proceeded to Long
Acre to purchase a carriage, but could not find one ready
made to suit his taste. He subsequently sent two of his
officers to search for a suitable conveyance, and to my horror
sand amusement they returned with a sort of civic chariot,
bright yellow in colour and covered with emblazonry, with
which his Excellency was delighted, and at once confirmed an
agreement they had made to hire it for the season. This
evening from the Opera we drove to Lady Palmerston’s * at
home.” Jung Bahadur was received with much courtesy by
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the host and hostess, and introduced, amongst other cele-
brities, to the Duke of Wellington, who seemed pleased at
his remark that he was honoured by making the acquaint-
ance of the distinguished soldier whose fame was spread
throughout the world and had reached even his remote
country, and to Mr. Lawrence, the ambassador from the
United States. The observation made by the latter was per-
haps hardly a happy one, as he congratulated the Jung upon
his arrival in a country where he would be safe; implying
therefore, although perhaps unintentionally, that Nepal was
not a country in which human life was held in very high
estimation. It was very amusing to witness the anxiety of
ladies even of the highest rank, to be introduced to the
Minister. Almost every moment I was solicited to make the
introduction, when a dialogue somewhat to the. following
effect gemerally took place. Jung Bahadur: “Will you
kindly give my compliments to Lady ———, and express
the pleasure I have experienced in meeting her.” Lady

: ‘“Please, Captain Cavenagh, say something on
my account. For instance, ask him how he likes England.”
Enquiry duly made. Jung Bahadur: ‘“Kindly tell Lady

that it would be impossible for me not to like
England. Certainly I suffered a good deal on the voyage,
but through her kindness all my sufferings are now for-
gotten.” The fair interlocutor now retired to make way for
some friend or acquaintance, with whom a similar conversa-
tion ensued. Jung Bahadur was quite at his ease, and after
the lapse of about an hour, in a very pretty speech, he ex-
pressed his regret to Lady Palmerston that ill-health pre-
cluded his remaining, and took his leave.

On the 5th of June, upon the invitation of the Marquis
of Londonderry, Jung Bahadur attended the review of the
2nd Life Guards, with which he was much pleased. He
expressed himself most anxious to give the men a dinner,
but, although the Marquis stated that he had little doubt
they would be delighted to drink his health, the offer was
courteously declined. In the evening he attended the grand
military banquet given at Holderness House. Owing to his
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usual want of punctuality we were late, and Lord Hardinge
told me that he had advised Lord Londonderry not to wait.
Under these circumstances I naturally felt a little awkward-
ness in entering a room filled with almost entire strangers;
but from this I was soon relieved by the kindness of my old
chief, Lord Gough, who, after I had made my bow to the
host and hostess, came forward to welcome me and intro-
duced me to several of the guests, amongst whom were Sir
Robert Peel, Baron Bunsen, the Duke of Norfolk, &c. Jung
Bahadur was evidently somewhat overawed by the splendour
displayed in the banquetting room. He, however, acquitted
himself fairly in returning thanks for the toast of the
Nepal Government, and his speech, which I translated with
a little embellishment, was much applauded. Lord Hardinge
called this afternoon at Richmond Terrace, and having re-
marked in the course of conversation that our Government
would be happy to afford his Excellency full information on
all points connected with military affairs, Jung Bahadur at
once inquired whether the terms of the Treaty would be
relaxed so as to admit of his employing European engineers
and artificers for the purpose of superintending his foundry.
His lordship stated, in reply, that he thought this point
mmadmissible. On the 6th an engagement had been made for
the Minister to pay a private visit upon the Chairman of the
Court of Directors. As usual, he took no heed of the
engagement, and did not return to the embassy until it was
too late to call. I therefore felt compelled to speak seriously
to him on the subject of his want of punctuality, and he
promised that I should not again have occasion to complain
of his conduct on this score. In the evening we attended
the Dinner of the Scottish Corporation at the Thatched
Tavern. Jung Bzhadur was delighted with the bagpipes,
and with the Scottish reel danced by four of the pipers, and
i returning thanks on his health being drank did not fail
to win the hearts of his entertainers by styling himself a
fellow mountaineer. The following day, after calling upon
the President of the Board of Control, we proceeded to the
Middlesex Hospital to witness the distribution of prizes.
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The Bishop of Manchester was in the chair, and made an
excellent speech. It was, however, lost upon Jung Bahadur,
to whom it appeared principally addressed, and he thought
the whole affair very uninteresting ; indeed, I had great diffi-
culty in prevailing upon him to remain until the Bishop had
concluded. He was, however, pleased with the management
of the sick wards, which we subsequently visited. On the
8th we started at noon for the Bank of England. The
Governor, Sir John Latham, kindly accompanied our party
over the whole of the building, and directed the fullest ex-
planation to be afforded, not only as regarded the manage-
ment of the institution, but also with respect to the working
of the different parts of the machinery. The Minister was
greatly astonished upon entering the rooms containing the
cash for daily use at being informed that the sum amounted
to £28,000. He was much pleased with the process of wet-
ting the sheets by the extraction of air, and also with the
machine, in which we made a descent, for conveying the
books, &c., to the vaults. From the Bank we drove to Chis-
wick, it being a féte day, and in the evening, after a visit to
the Opera, we attended a meeting of the Royal Society at
Lord Ross’s residence, where we saw the cups about to be
presented at Ascot by Her Majesty and the Emperor of
Russia.

On the 10th of June we paid a round of visits. At one
or two places there was a large assemblage, composed prin-
cipally of ladies who were anxious to be introduced to the
Minister. He was particularly happy in some of his replies
to the numerous queries put to him. One of his fair ques-
tioners asked what he thought of the English ladies. He
at once replied that his stay in England had been so short
that it would be presumption in him to express any opinion
regarding them ; but one thing was certain: that they held
the gentlemen in complete subjugation, and that the latter
could not live without them. Another inquired whether he
did not consider the dress of English gentlemen, when com-
pared with Oriental costumes, very sombre and ugly ? when
he observed that the dress he wore was that of a soldier;



Dines with the Court of Directors. 127

that English military uniforms, although perhaps not so
gorgeous as his own, were handsome; whilst in many cases
they were decorated with medals, and that he would gladly
give all his jewels for one such decoration, because he knew
they had been gallantly won. In conversing with Lord Gough,
he remarked that he owed his title, Jung Bahadur, * Mighty
in War,” to his birth, but that his lordship had won his by
his valour. Whilst calling upon Captain Shepherd he was
shown the Guru Gurunth or Seikh Bible, when he mentioned
that one day the Ranee Chundah told him that it was pre-
dicted in that book, and the prediction would be sure to be
fulfilled, that the Seikh rule would again be predominant in
the Punjaub, and her son would be the Sovereign. Upon
which he replied, When you had treasure, troops and muni-
tions of war at your command you could not hold the
country, and now that you do not possess a single tulwar
(sabre), it is absurd to think that you will ever recover it
from its present possessors. About this time he stated to
me on one occasion that he so thoroughly enjoyed the relief
from the cares and fatigues of government, and his mode of
life in England, that if he could make arrangements to
secure a sufficient income as resident ambassador at our
Court, he would not return to Nepal.

On the 15th of June, the day appointed for the embassy
to dine with the Court of Directors at the Llondon Tavern, a
packet of letters arrived in the afternoon from Nepal, and
much to my annoyance on reaching Richmond Terrace in
the evening with the view of accompanying Jung Bahadur
to the City, I found him reading his despatches, having
made no preparation whatever for starting. I could not
help asking him whether he would have thought me justified
in withholding the delivery of the packet until after dinner;
and on his replying in the negative, I inquired whether he
considered himself justified in keeping the Rulers of India,
who had been kind enough to send down the packet by a
special messenger, waiting for his arrival whilst he was
perusing letters of comparatively speaking little importance.
He at once rose, put aside the papers, and soon made his
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appearance en grande tenue. The dinner was a grand affair.
When the soup was placed on the table, the Nepalese party
retired into a private apartment, where refreshments were
specially prepared for them. They returned with the dessert,
when the speechifying commenced. Amongst other toasts
that of ¢ The Prosperity of the Kingdom of Nepal,” coupled
with the name of the ambassador, was proposed, and Jung
Bahadur replied in a very appropriate speech, which I ren-
dered into English. He particularly pointed out how much
he had been impressed with a feeling as to the extent of the
power and wealth of Great Britain, and assured his hearers
that they might ever depend upon Nepal remaining our
faithful friend and ally.

Having received intimation that Her Majesty would be
pleased to grant the ambassador an audience at three o’clock
in the afternoon of the 19th, early in the morning I pro-
ceeded to the office of the Secretary of the Master of the
Horse to obtain a carriage for the conveyance of the presents,
and afterwards called upon the Master of the Ceremonies to
make inquiries as to the course to be pursued at the presen-
tation. At the appointed time the Minister with his two
brothers and myself started for the palace, calling en route
upon Sir John Hobhouse, in whose carriage I and his Ex-
cellency drove from Berkeley Square. On arriving at the
palace we were received by several members of the Ministry
as well as of the household. After waiting for some time in
the corridor, it was signified to the Minister that Her Majesty
was prepared to receive him. The doors of the private
closet were thrown open, and we entered, ushered by Sir
John Hobhouse. Her Majesty and Prince Albert, the latter
upon the Queen’s left, were standing at the extremity of the
apartment. We made our bows, and his Excellency, after a
most profound salaam, placed in Her Majesty’s hands the
bag containing the letter from the King of Nepal, at the
same time delivering a complimentary speech which I trans-
lated. Her Majesty was pleased to express her regret at
having been precluded from granting the audience earlier,
and trusted that his Excellency had enjoyed his stay in
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England. We then took our leave and retired to the ante-
room. After a short interval Her Majesty and the Prince
entered, and proceeded to the room in which the presents
were displayed. They both made several inquiries regard-
ing them, more especially respecting the different arms, and
appeared pleased with their inspection. After the Royal
departure, General Bowles showed our party over a large
portion of the palace, and we then re-entered our carriage
and drove home through the Park. JIn the evening we
attended several parties, amongst others one at the Duke of
Norfolk’s. The Minister was so pleased with the kind re-
ception he met with from the Duke and Duchess that, on
leaving, he remarked to me that in the event of his ever
expressing disinclination, from fatigue or otherwise, to avail
himself of an invitation to attend at such a mansion, he
hoped that in future I would take him there by force. In
the course of the day, whilst showing me a map of Nepal,
he alluded to a plan he had prepared for a campaign against
the Chinese ; but, upon my questioning him, he was forced
to admit that it could not be carried out, owing to the diffi-
culty that would be experienced .in providing food for his
troops along the two routes they would have to traverse.

On the 20th, on my calling at the embassy to ascer-
tain whether due arrangements had been made for the
Minister and his suite attending Her Majesty’s drawing-
room, [ found a collection of cabs in waiting to take the
Sirdars to the Palace. These 1 dismissed, and ordered
suitable carriages. In the meanwhile a crowd of well-
dressed persons assembled in the hall in order to catch a
glimpse of the Minister as he passed through, at which he
evidently felt highly flattered. On our arrival at the Palace,
I was duly informed that the Jung would take precedence
next after the Spanish Ambassador. Until the arrival of
the Queen he was permitted to remain in the Throne-room
to see the procession pass; he then in his turn, followed by
his suite, passed Her Majesty, and made the usual obeisance.
He was much struck with the brilliancy of the scene, but

still more so by the condescension of the Queen in enduring
K
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the fatigue of standing to receive her subjects until she
was tired ; indeed, he was more astonished at the want of
hauteur on the part of so great a Sovereign than with any-
thing he had yet seen in England, and made frequent
allusions to the subject, observing that he would not have
experienced at any little petty Rajah’s Court half the
courtesy that had been displayed towards him by the Queen
of the greatest nation in the world. On the 22nd, the
Ambassador, with his brothers, attended the party given at
the Palace in honour of Prince Arthur's christening, to
which they had the honour of being iuvited. Her Majesty
was pleased to enter into conversation with Jung Bahadur,
in the course of which she stated that the young Princes,
who were present in Highland costume, greatly admired
his dress, at which he was much gratified. Prince Albert
inquired how it was that, being perfectly ignorant of
our langunage, he was able to enjoy the singing at the
Opera. He at once replied that the warbling of birds
proved grateful to the ear although it was impossible to
understand the meaning of their melodious notes. When
the health of the young Prince was drunk, upon seeing me
take a sip from a glass that was handed to me, Jung
Bahadur explained to Lord Breadalbane who was standing
near, the reason that prevented him from following my
example, and begged that he might be allowed to do so by
deputy, at the same time asking me to take another sip on
his behalf. Of course I complied with his wishes. On the
evening of the 24th I took the Minister’s two brothers to
hear a debate in the House of Commons. They apparently
were much interested in the discussion, and one of them
inquired whether redress could be obtained from Parliament
in the event of any injustice being shown to them by the
Government of India. Although my reply was in the
affirmative, I did not fail to represent the necessity for
approaching the Home Government through the prescribed
channel ; and the following day, in the course of conversa-
tion with Jung Bahadur, referring to a letter he had
forwarded to the President of the Board of Control, took



A Ball at the Palace. 131

the opportunity of pointing out to him the inexpediency of
his showing any slight to the East Indian Company by
making known his wishes to Sir John Hobhouse, without
first consulting the Chairs. He eventually agreed to follow
my advice. He stated that he had been induced to apply
for an interview with Sir John because he had been in-
formed that he was the proper person to refer to with
respect to Indian affairs, and that a copy of the letter he
had addressed to him had been duly furnished to Colonel
Thoresby (the previous Resident at Katmandhoo), for
transmission to England. He mentioned that he was
extremely anxious that an article should be added to the
existing treaty, under which the reciprocal surrender of all
criminals, without reference to the nature of. the offence, so
as to include political offenders and debtors, should be
guaranteed ; that he should be permitted to engage the
services of one or two engineers for the purpose of improv-
ing the irrigation of his country; and lastly, that, in the
event of the Durbar having reason to be dissatisfied with
the conduct of the British Resident, they should have the
power of corresponding direct with the Home Government.
This latter point, I said, I felt convinced would never be
vielded, upon which he stated that in that case it would not
be pressed, although he thought that it was requisite that
some check should be placed upon the Political officers at
Katmandhoo, as they sometimes acted in a very arbitrary
manner. Possibly the truth is that at times he finds the
restraint that they sare able to place upon his proceedings
somewhat irksome, as well as galling to his pride.

On the 26th of June we attended a ball given at the
Palace. Her Majesty was pleased to favour the Minister
with an invitation to join her table at supper, and also
directed that he should subsequently be provided with a
cgood place, to enable him to witness the Highland Reel.
Her kindness was fully appreciated. The following after.
noon, on returning from'a visit which I had made, with
the Minister’s two brothers, to the Barracks at Knights-
bridge, I heard of the attack that had been made upon

| K 2
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the Queen as she was leaving Cambridge House. Jung
Bahadur, who was much excited, immediately accom-
panied me to the Palace, where we were informed that
happily Her Majesty had been but slightly injured. The
next day, en route to Woolwich, to witness the Review of
the Artillery, this attack naturally formed, as it did
throughout the country, the principal topic of conversation.
The Jung was loud in his denunciation of the offender, and
expressed his opinion that no plea that could possibly be
advanced, not even that of his insanity, ought to be per-
mitted to save his life. He stated that in Nepal death
18 invariably inflicted, under whatever circumstances, in
punishment for an attack upon the person of the Monarch,
or even upon that of the Prime Minister ; and that, although
revolutions often occurred there, yet that the country at
large did not suffer more from such disturbances thau
England would from a change of Ministry, as the slaughter
was confined almost entirely to the chiefs and their imme-
diate dependants; neither the army nor the peasantry taking
any part in the disputes, and submitting. without a murmur,
to the dictates of whichever party might prove the victors.
I have little doubt that in his own mind his Excellency
considered the Nepalese mode of procedure far superior to
ours. He could never reconcile Lord John Russell’s appear-
ance with the idea of his being the Prime Minister of so
powerful a country as England. On our arrival at Wool-
wich we were received by the Marquis of Anglesey and the
Commandant of Artillery. The former, notwithstanding
his years and artificial leg, sat firmly in his saddle. Prince
Albert, accompanied by the Prince of Prussia and Prince
George of Cambridge, soon made his appearance, and we
proceeded to the Common, where the troops were drawn up.
In all, 36 guns and about 2,000 men were present. The
guns did not seem to be kept in very good order, and,
altogether, the Artillery had not the serviceable look of
the same arm in India. After the Review we visited the
Battery. Here I had a long conversation with Prince
George, who expressed his surprise at hearing that I had
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served through a campaign and been wounded a second time
since losing my leg. He kindly advised me to be careful,
on first wearing my artificial leg, not to keep it on too long,
a8 I might injure myself by so doing. On the 29th I
accompanied the Minister on his visit to Captain Shep-
herd, to express his Excellency’s wishes with regard to the
reciprocal surrender of criminal and political offenders by
the British and Nepal States, and also as to the enter-
tainment in the Nepal service of some civil and military
engineers, and some musicians as bandmasters. Sir James
Hogg was present; as I had previously made them aware
of the mnature of the requests about to be proposed, the
Chairs, of course, stated that they were under the necessity
of declining to entertain propositions submitted in so
irregular a manner, although they signified their readiness
to give them due consideration in the event of their being
submitted through the prescribed channel of the Indian
authorities ; Captain Shepherd pointing out the perfect im-
possibility of political matters connected with India being
discussed in this country without ample information having
been first obtained from the Governor-General in Council.
Jung Bahadur, as I had anticipated, was evidently chagrined
at the result of his application, and consequently requested
that he might be furnished with a reply to his letter for
Her Majesty, and permitted to return to Nepal, leaving
England about the latter end of July. He begged that, as
the charge for his accommodation on board the P. & O.
steamer had been very high, the Court of Directors would
make the necessary arrangements for the return trip.
Captain Shepherd said that it was out of their power to
give him a passage to Alexandria, but that cabins would be
allotted for his party in the Government steamer carrying
the mail from Suez to Bombay, and that at the latter
station a vessel should be placed at his disposal to convey
him to Calcutta, touching at the places of pilgrimage,
Dwarka and Ramésaram. We then took our leave. His
Excellency on the way home made several remarks relative
to what he styled the extraordinary nature of our govern-
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ment. I told him that the road was straight, although
there were several doors which required to be passed
through ; but that if an applicant were denied justice by
the porter at the first door, he could not be prevented from
applying to the next, and so on in succession, until he
obtained redress. On proceeding to Richmond Terrace, on
the morning of the 1st of July, much to my annoyance, I
found that, although I had previously received a message to
the effect that no reply had arrived to the communication
which, in accordance with instructions from the Lord Cham-
berlain, I had made to the Duke of Wellington, the two
following characteristic notes had arrived to my address
from Apsley House :—

“ London, June 29th, 1850. Twelve at midnight.—
Field-Marshal the Duke of Wellington presents his compli-
ments to Captain Kavanagh. Having been absent from his
house all day till this moment, he has only now received
Captain Kavanagh’s note of this afternoon’s date.

“In the existing state of the Duke’s engagements and
avocations on Monday, the 1st of July, he cannot say at
this moment at what hour it will be in his power to have
the honour of receiving the visit of his Excellency the
Ambassador, but he W1ll write to Captain Kavanagh at an
early hour on Monday.”

“ London, July 1st, 1850. Morning.—Field-Marshal the
Duke of Wellington presents his compliments to Captain
Kavanagh. In consequence of the desire expressed by his
Excellency the Ambassador from Nepal, at this Court,
received on Saturday at midnight, the Duke will have the
bonour of receiving his Excellency at his house, in Picca-
dilly, at twelve at noon.

“It is no part of the Duke's duty to receive the Ambas-
sadors at Her Majesty’s Court, but he names the hour, as he
has been so desired, which he hopcs will suit the Ambas-
sador.”

When the second of these was placed in my hands, it
wanted only five minutes to twelve, and my mortification,
as a soldier, at finding that I must necessarily be guilty of
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want of punctuality, when waiting upon England’s greatest
nilitary chief, may easily be conceived. However, there
was no time to make inquiries as to the cause of the contre-
temps. 1 at once ordered the carriage round, and Wegged
the Minister to get ready without delay, but it was near the
half-hour ere we reached Apsley House. The Duke was
very angry, and I was, of course, the object of his anger.
He stated that crowned heads had not kept him waiting as
I had done. I could only bow and express my regret at
the delay that had occurred, and, as Jung Bahadur added
his regret to mine, after a little while his Grace appeared
somewhat mollified, and kindly showed us over the house,
pointing out, evidently with much pride, two portraits of
his daughter-in-law, the Marchioness of Douro, also a por-
trait and bust of Napoleon. After a short conversation
upon matters connected with Nepal, and an examination
of some curiosities, of which the Minister begged his
acceptance, but which were courteously declined, we took
our departure. On returning to the limbassy I ascertained
that the Duke’s first note had been dclivered between five
and six in the morning; the only person up was one of the
native officers, who quietly put it under a plate on the side-
board, and forgot all about it; indeed, it was only then dis-
covered, so that when we left for Apsley House I was not
aware that it had ever reached Richmond Terrace, though
the bearer of the second missive mentioned that one had
been previously despatched ; had it reached me in due time,
I should have remained at the Embassy the whole morning,
so as to have been in readiness to proceed to Apsley House
at a moment’s notice. . In the afternoon we drove to Holland
Park, the scene where the Scottish féte was held. The stands
were situated in a valley at one end, and as the grounds
were well wooded, and groups of persons in Highland and
other fancy costumes were to be seen in every direction, the
effect was very picturesque. Her Majesty honoured the féte
‘with her presence, and was greeted with loud and enthusi-
astic cheers.

In the evening I accompanied the Minister and his two
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brothers to a concert at the Palace. After the termination
of the concert, the Queen walked round the circle and
addressed her guests, conversing for some time with Jung
Bahadur. Her Majesty was pleased to express a hope that
he would make a tour through the United Kingdom pre-
vious to his return to India. His Excellency, in reply,
stated that he was extremely anxious to do so, but, unfor-
tunately, his religion offered an insuperable bar to his
travelling as much as he could wish, as difficulties were
experienced with respect to his securing suitable cooking
utensils. Her Majesty appearing somewhat surprised at
this answer, I at once explained the peculiarities of the
Hindoo faith, more especially as regards their being pro-
hibited from making use of cooking-pots that had been
rendered unclean by the touch of one of another creed or
of inferior caste.

On the 3rd we attended the levée, which was very crowded.
The Minister on this ocrasion, as before, took his place
immediately after the Spanish Ambassador. He had a long
conversation with Sir John Hobhouse, and, amongst other
queries, asked whether the Charter would be renewed. Siv
John replied that the system at present in force worked so
extremely well that he thought it would be renewed, with
some slight modifications. Jung Babhadur then observed
that our police arrangements were very faulty; that two
or three European inspectors placed in a district would be
far more useful than the large native establishment now
maintained, who invariably tyrannize over the people they
are employed to protect. The death of Sir Robert Peel,
which occurred last night, from the effects of a fall from
his horse three days ago, cast a gloom over all society. His
loss was apparently universally lamented. Lady —,
with her usual kindness, called to mention that her own
party had been, in consequence, unavoidably postponed, and
that none of the lady patronesses would attend the ball at
Almack’s, so that it would not be necessary for our party
to put in an appearance.

On the 6th we accompanied Lord Alfred Paget, the
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Commodore of the Thames Yacht Club, down the river to
witness the Regatta. The Minister, however, did not take
much interest in the boats, and we soon returned to town,
Karly the following morning I proceeded to the India
House, where it was arranged that, in the event of Jung
Bahadur deciding upon leaving England in August, after
being warned of the discomfort likely to be experienced in
going down the Red Sea in September, a steamer should be
placed at his disposal from Suez. The decision being com-
municated to the Minister, he adhered to his determination,
and expressed his intention of applying to the French
Government for a vessel to convey him from Marseilles
to Alexandria. T pointed out to him the impropriety of
his doing so without, in the first instance, making known
his wishes to the Court to which he was accredited, upon
which he agreed to consult Sir John Hobhouse; and we
accordingly drove to the office of the Board of Control.
The Minister showed Sir Jobn the memorandum received
from the India House, and inquired how he was to reach
Suez, stating that he would be willing to defray all expenses,
1f the British Government would only make the requisite
arrangements. In reply, Sir John promised to mention the
matter to Sir Francis Baring, with a view to a steamer
being placed at his disposal for the passage from Marseilles
to Egypt. Jung Bahadur then expressed a hope that his
secretary might be presented at Court, upon which Sir
John remarked that it would be necessary for his name to
be submitted by the Chairman of the Court of Directors,
as no person could obtain the honour of an entrée to the
Palace without a recommendation being forwarded through
the proper channel. I at once mentioned my reasons for
declining to place Mr. 's name on the list sent to the
India House—reasons in which Sir John fully concurred,
observing that in my own case, as I had not been previously
duly presented at Court, Her Majesty had made special
inquiries regarding my services, &c., before being pleased
to sanction my admittance to the Audience Chamber. Mr.
, of course, disclaimed having expressed any wish to
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be presented, and manifested astonishment at the request
that had been preferred, apparently quite forgetting the
numerous notes he had addressed to various officials on
the subject. In the course of conversation, Sir John
observed that his Excellency, upon witnessing the review
of large armies on the Continent, more especially in France,
would, doubtless, be inclined to undervalue the power of
the British, upon which the latter promptly replied that
there was little fear of his underrating the strength of that
nation which, firmly planting its standards in fortresses in
every quarter of the globe, stretched over intervening con-
tinents to guard an Empire thousands of miles distant
from the parent State. Notwithstanding.this remark, the
day after the interview I waited on Sir John, and explained
to him my candid opinion as to the unfortunate result likely
to accrue from the Nepalese Mission, unless the Ambassador
should be induced to take a trip into the provinces, stating
that it was my firm belief that, instead of being fully im-
pressed with an idea of our greatness, his Excellency would
leave England labouring under the impression that we were
the most frivolous nation on the face of the earth, and, at
the same time, ascribing, like all Orientals, the courtesy
shown towards him as a stranger merely to the respect
due to his exalted rank, and be thus considerably inflated
with an overweening sense of his own importance. Sir John
expressed great regret at what I mentioned, and, at my
suggestion, promised to write to Jung Bahadur, pointing
out to him the expediency of his visiting the mining and
manufacturing districts, as well as one of our great naval
ports. He then consulted me with regard to the presents
to be forwarded to the Rajah, which, he proposed, should be
portraits of Her Majesty and Prince Albert ; these, I knew,
would be much esteemed by the Jung.

In the evening, when visiting Richmond Terrace, the
Jung desired all the Sirdars to leave the room, and then
conversed with me regarding his intended departure, which
he said, he was afraid was causing me annoyance; at the
same time remarking that, if I wished it, he would solicit



Visit to Woslwich. 139

as a personal favour, the sanction of Government to my
being permitted to return to England from Marseilles. I
told him that I could never consent to his making such
a request, as, having been placed in political charge of the
Embassy, it was my duty to return with it to India; but
that I really was extremely annoyed at his thinking of
leaving England without having seen anything of the
country, or made himself master of the secret of our
immense power and influence. He then promised that he
would leave his officers in town, and, accompanied only by
his two brothers and one or two servants, travel with me
throughout the country, and visit every place worthy of
interest. :

On the 10th we paid a second visit to Woolwich. After
proceeding to the batteries, where the men were working at
gun drill, we rode to the Repository. The Jung was much
interested in the models, more especially with some of the
capstans and anchors employed in drawing guns up steep
heights. He was shown a gun supposed to have been burst
in consequence of a cartridge not having been rammed
home, when loaded by a drummer at St. Lucia, owing to
there being no men fit for duty consequent on the pre-
valence of sickness. He expressed his surprise at the
circumstance, as he said he could not understand how
such an effect could have been produced by the explosion
of the powder, but afterwards, upon seeing the trial
made of a tube, he at once exclaimed, “ Now I perceive
perfectly how that gun burst.”” From the Reposi-
tory we went to the store-rooms, where 100 guns were
kept ready for immediate service, and the Arsenal, where
we entered the different workshops, saw the process of
casting and boring, making percussion caps, &c.; and also
examined a Prussian needle-gun, regarding the general
efficiency of which for military purposes there seemed to
be a difference of opinion, as it was thought by some to be
liable to be easily put out of order, and not to be fit for
the rough usage of war. His Excellency was delighted with
his visit. He remarked that we seemed to have as many
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guns as other nations stones, and that he could now begin
to comprehend the cause of our power. I told him that
we had numerous other establishments, nearly all equally
well worth seeing, if he would only inspect them. The
12th was devoted to visiting St. Paul’s and the Tower.
The Minister was highly delighted with the Cathedral
He climbed to the very top of the dome, where he wrote
his name, and made three salaams to the great City of
London. On descending, he observed that when I told him
that London was about twenty times larger than Calcutta,
he hardly believed me, thinking that, with the pardonable
wish of exaggerating the greatness of my own country, I
had asserted it to be a grander city than it was in reality,
but that he now found that, instead of overrating its size, |
had in truth underrated it considerably. At the Tower he
was much interested with the Armoury; when shown the
chamber in which Lady Jane Grey was confined, he re-
marked that, however barbarous the Nepalese might be,
they mnever had been cruel enough to put a husband to
death before his wife.

On the 23rd we paid another visit to Woolwich. The
troops paraded consisted only of three troops and three
batteries-—a great contrast to the artillery strength that
could now be displayed upon the Common. The following
evening the Minister attended the ball given in his honour
by the directors of the P. and O. Company. There was
somewhat of a mixture as regards the guests, as the
directors had naturally been obliged to show civility to
all their large shareholders; but, in other respects, all the
arrangements were admirable. On the 27th I accompanied
one of the Minister's brothers to the India Oflice to
represent to the Court of Directors the nature of the
articles which, it was hoped, they would cause to be pur-
chased for transmission to Nepal. These included, besides
arms and ammunition of various. descriptions, several
rams and sheep, a thousand worsted yellow epaulettes,
a steam engine, a machine for grinding powder, three
bulls, and three cows. Whilst the Chairman, whom I had
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previously prepared for the application, politely expressed
his regret at his inability to sanction the purchase of mili-
tary stores, any application for which should be made
through, and considered by, the Government at Calcutta,
he at once expressed his readiness to cause the remaining
articles to be supplied. On the 29th we started on our tour
into the provinces, reaching Plymouth, where quarters had
been prepared for the Embussy at the dockyard, the same
evening. At every station at which we stopped crowds were
assembled to see the lion of the season. 'The love of the
Tnglish people for displaying this sort of adulation is cer-
tainly marvellous, and not very creditable to their good
sense.

On the 30th, after receiving visits from the different
naval and military officials, the Jung accompanied Admiral
Lord John Hay over the dockyard. This visit certainly
had a wonderful effect, for, immediately on his return, with-
out my having in any way broached the subject, he observed
that a cat would fly at an elephant if it were forced into a
corner, but that it must be a very small corner into which
the Nepalese would be forced before they would fly at the
British, or cease to be their faithful allies. On the 31st we
first visited the Albion, which was lying in the outer har-
bour. Jung Bahadur was shown over every part of the
ship, with which he was much pleased. On some one
remarking that you might styie the Albion a fort, he replied
that she was the father of forts, as she combined the advan-
tages of a fort, of a carriage, and of a comfortable residence.
From the Albion we proceeded to the breakwater and light-
house, and then ran up the river to the neighbourhood of a
mine, which the Minister was anxious to inspect. The
superintendent was extremely courteous, and at once
offered to show the party over the works, and also to
accompany them down the shaft. The Jung and one or
two others availed themselves of this latter offer, and were
absent about two hours; when they returned they were all
completely exhausted, and cut most ridiculous figures, being
completely covered with dirt. They were, however, kindly
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supplied with some clothes by the captain of the mine and
a neighbouring farmer, and, with the aid of some hot water,
snon made themselves somewhat more respectable-looking.
The Minister’s shoes and stockings, however, having been
perfectly destroyed, he quietly ordered one of his officers to
take off his, which he coolly appropriated, leaving the little
man to get on the best way he could barefooted. During
this trip we were accompanied by Captain T M ,
with whose anecdotes of the Chinese War Jung Bahadur
was greatly interested. He mentioned the incident of a
Tartar chief, who was taken prisoner, ‘and, having been
deprived of his arms in order to prevent his makmo- any
attempt upon his life, actually succeeded in committing
suicide by drowning himself in a washhand basin. In the
evening we attended a party given by the Admiral Superin.
tendent, in the course of which Jung Bahadur, at my insti-
gation, requested that the band might be allowed to play
“ Rule Britannia ”—a request that gave general pleasure.
On the 1st of August we left Plymouth and proceeded to
Birmingham, where Mr. Collis kindly provided comfortable
quarters for the Minister at his own residence in the Crescent.
The following day was devoted to paying a round of visits
to the various local manufactories, including glass and iron
works, and establishments for the manufacture of electro-
plated ware, in all of which Jung Bahadur took the greatest
interest. He was especially minute in his investigations
with respect to the process of casting iron, a process he
alleged they had not succeeded in Nepal, in carrying into
operation. Although we continued our course of inspection
until late in the afternoon, many places of interest remained
unvisited, and it was accordingly arranged that we should
prolong our sojourn at this great centre of industry over
another day. T was, therefore, much surprised, on proceed-
ing to the Crescent in the evening, at finding the Minister,
with his baggage all packed, about to return to town by the
eight o’clock train. I, of course, declined accompanying
him, and joined the dinner party to which I had been invited,
and at which the Mayor and several officers of the 2nd
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Dragoon Guards were present. As usnal, one of the Nepalese
officers, with his servant, missed the train, and returned to
me for instructions. As there was no other train until near
midnight, I thought they could not do better than to accom-
pany us to the theatre, to which we were all going, the
performance having been notified as being under the Am-
bassador’s patronage ; with the aid of our kind hostess we
had smartened up the appearance of the officer, and when
he was scen to descend from the carriage he was at once
taken for his master, and received with corresponding re-
spect. The lessee of the theatre preceded him into the box
that had been set apart for the Embassy, and upon his
entrance the whole of the andience—and every seat throngh-
out the house was filled—rose to welcome him, and when,
in accordance with a hint from myself, he made a profound
salaam, his courtesy was received with enthusiastic applause ;
in fact, under the impression that they had seen the real
Simon Pure, the good people of Birmingham, for that even-
ing at all events, were perfectly satisfied. Unfortunately,
they were subsequently disenchanted as to their illusion, and
felt somewhat annoyed at what they considered the hoax
that had been played upon them. The lessee, however, had
good reason to be well pleased, for he told me the audience
would have been furious if, after the announcement that
had been made, they had been disappointed of seeing the
Indian Prince.

The next morning, after thanking the Mayor for the great
courtesy he had shown us, and the aid he had afforded in
obtaining the requisite permission to visit the several estab-
lishments, I returned to town. On proceeding to Richmond
Terrace I found the Minister seated on the lawn, playing
with his dogs. When I alluded to the hurried way in which
he had left Birmingham, he seemed rather at a nonplus;
but, eventually, made a sort of apology, saying that he had
two hearts during the journey, the one leading him towards
Scotland, whither we were supposed to have been bound, and
the other inducing him to return to London; and that he
was ashamed to tell me of his indecision, but, when he foand
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that he could reach his comfortable home in three hours,
he could not refrain from taking advantage of the oppor.
tunity. Doubtless, with all the pains that were taken to
render him comfortable when travelling, he must have been
subjected to inconvenience in many respects; I was, there.
fore, rather astonished when, as I was leaving, he expressed
his determination to proceed to Edinburgh, and asked me to
make the necessary arrangements for his journey.

On the 6th I accompanied the Minister to call upon the
Chairman of the Court of Directors at the India Office.
Captain Shepherd was most kind, and said that the Court
would do everything in their power to render his Excellency
comfortable during his voyage. At the same time he begged
me to explain fully the contents of the letter received from
the Company’s agent in Egypt, pointing out the inexpe-
diency, in many respects, of his leaving Suez on the 23rd of
September. The Minister, however, stated that he was a
soldier, and quite ready to submit to privations, all that
he required was that the steamer might be permitted to
anchor off the coast, at a spot near Mount Sinai, where he
had been informed that a spring of good water existed.
Captain Shepherd acquiesced in this proposal, and we then
took our leave. On our return, Jung Bahadur, who had
evidently been pondering over the information just received,
inquired why, if he was likely to experience such discom-
fort, the Chairman had not recommended him to postpone
his departure for another month. I said that this recom-
mendation had been given in the first instance, but not
attended to; that, of course, it could not be offered a second
time ; moreover, he could hardly be treated as a mere child,
but must be allowed to act upon his own judgment. He
replied that he was afraid of being considered vacillating,
and this alone deterred him from changing the date of his
leaving, but that he should consult his officers on the subject.
In the evening we started for Edinburgh, where we arrived
about two o’clock on the following afternoon. The Lord
Provost, the Commander of the Forces, and other civil and
military authorities welcomned the Minister at the railway
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station, and subsequently accompanied him on his drive
through the town, with the appearance of which he was
much struck. The next day was occupied in visiting the
Castle, Holyrood Palace, the University, College of Surgeons,
and other public buildings, at all of which a cordial recep-
tion was given to the Minister, and he expressed himself
much pleased. As it was not anticipated that another
audience would be given to the Minister after his return to
town, I took advantage of the permission that had been
granted by the Court of Directors to visit my relatives, and
left in the evening for Ireland, rejoining the Kmbassy on the
17th. The next two or three days were fully occupied in
making arrangements for onr departure from England.
Amongst other duties thut devolved upon me was the
pleasing one of forwarding to the India Office a painting of
the Jung, which he had expressly ordered to be executed for
presentation to the Court of Directors, in recognition of the
kindness he had experienced at their hands, and which he
fully appreciated. On the 20th we started for Paris, where
accommodation had been secured for the Embassy at the
Hotel Sinet, close to the residence of the British Ambassador.
Lord Normanby was absent, but the chargé d’affaires, the
Hon. R. Edwardes, most kindly offered to render me any
assistance in his power. The first ten days were employed
in calling upon some of the French high officials, from all
of whom the greatest courtesy and kindness were experienced,
and visiting the several places of interest in Paris, for which
purpose orders for admission to the several palaces and
other public buildings were kindly forwarded by the Prefect.
The Minister was not so much struck with the beauty of
Paris as I had anticipated, not deeming it in any respect
equal to London. The vastness of the latter city had made
a deep impression upon him, which was never effaced; and
whenever he made any allusion to the delights of Paris, he
always wound up his remark by saying, “ Ah, but London
1s London,” evidently considering that it had no equal. He
felt somewhat inclined to depreciate the French soldiery,
owing to their smallness of stature, and on one occasion,
L
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when Prince

was extolling the appearance of a de-
tachment of the carabiniers—certainly a magnificent corps
—stating that they were the finest troops in the world, the
Jung quietly turned to a brother officer of mine who was
with him, and observed in Hindustani, ¢ That gentleman has
not seen your Life Guards.”

At one time I was afraid that the stay of the Iimbassy at
Paris wmight have been attended with some unpleasantness.
A person, styling himself an artist, had agreed, during the
Minister’s sojourn in London, to paint his two brothers, on
the condition that he was to receive a certain sum for the
painting, provided it was approved of. It turned out a most
wretched daub. whilst the likenesses could not even be in
any way recognized. The colonels naturally refused to take
it, and the painter brought a suit against them. The Court,
however, refused to entertain the case, on the plea of the
claim being preferred against the members of an Embassy.
The plea, of course, would not hold good in France, and in
the hopes of intimidating the colonels, and inducing them
to pay his preposterous demand, proceedings were instituted
against them in Paris. The French authorities, however,
most kindly interested themselves in the matter, and the
claim was withdrawn.

On the 30th of August the Minister paid his respects to
the President at the Elysée. His reception was most kind
and courteous. The Prince inquired what he could do to
make his stay at Paris agreeable, saying that it would have
given him pleasure to have had a ball in his honour; but he
was afraid at that season there would be difficulty in getting
up a really good one. In reply, Jung Bahadur stated that
he was anxious to witness a review of French troops. This
desire the President promised to gratify if he would prolong
his sojourn at Paris until his return from Cherbourg. The
following day we visited the tomb of the Emperor Napoleon,
at the Hotel des Invalides. General Petit, the officer em-
braced by the Emperor on the occasion of his taking leave
of the Guard at Fontainebleau, kindly accompanied us.
Several garlands of immortelles were suspended round the
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coffin. One of these the General presented to the Jung, who
stated that he should have it preserved in a case as a most
precious memento of his visit to a warrior’s tomb. We sub.
sequently waited upon Prince Jerome, who received us most
courteously, and displayed several relics of his illustrious
brother, amongst them the sword and cap worn at Auster-
litz ; several standards taken in that battle ; the sword worn
at Marengo; the snuff-box held in his hand at the time of
his death, on which the marks of the teeth of the King of
Rome were visible ; his crown, and the handkerchief used by
the Pope at his coronation ; also a portrait and a clock orna-
mented with two figures descriptive of the scene between
Napoleon and the Princess Guesclin at Berlin, when the
Emperor placed the letter which was the proof of her
husband’s guilt into the Princess’s hands, and told her to
fling it into the fire. Prince Jerome stated that he was the
aide-de-camp on duty who introduced the lady, for which he
was good-temperedly rebuked by the Emperor. An account,
of the Minister’s interview with the President appeared in
the Constitutionnel. It was stated that when his Excellency
spoke in praise of the Government of France, he was re-
minded that it was a Republic. On my asking why the
editor inserted such a deliberate falsehood, I was told that
1t was a Royalist journal, and the remark was consequently
made in derision.

Mr. Hale, a rocket manufacturer, having failed to supply
some rockets, for which he had been paid, on the plea that
he had a claim against the Minister for instruction that he had
given to one of his officers in the secrets of his patent, with-
out discussing the merits of the particular case, Iattempted
to explain the grounds upon which the plea was based.
Jung Bahadur, however, retained his opinion that it was
incumbent on the British Government either to recover the
amount he had paid, or to compel Mr. Hale to forward the
rockets, and stated that if this was not dome, in future he
should refrain from assisting us in cases of fraud on the part
of the subjects of Nepal. I replied that he would be expected
to act up to the terms of the treaty, whatever they might

L 2
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be, and that he would find that we would also scrupulously
adhere to them. The transactions with Mr. Hale having
been in the first instance conducted in an underhand manner,
with the view, if possible, of concealing them from my
knowledge, I did not feel constrained to interfere actively
in the matter, though I could not altogether approve of the
way in which the Jung had been treated.

Amongstother visitors to the Kmbassy there was a very fine
old French officer, Colonel Le Preaux Locre, the Governor
of the Chateau de Campiégne, which he most courteously in-
vited us to visit. He had been twice severely wounded, the
last time in the square of the Guard at Waterloo, and twice
taken prisoner; the first time by the Knglish, when in the
Marengo on the Indian station, and the second time by the
Russians, when he was sent to Siberia, where he remained two
years. He spoke gratefully of the kindness he had expe-
rienced during his captivity in England, and was proud of
having been exchanged for Sir Charles Napier. Two Pun-
jaubi merchants called several times. On one occa~ion they
commenced an argument relative to the probable duration of
the British power in the East, observing that India was asleep
at present, but that ere long she would awake. The Minister
replied, that so long as England retained her present position
in Kurope, India would never shake off her yoke, for English-
men, although few, were men, whilst Hindustanis were
women. One of the Punjaubis remarked that England
induced Prussia to declare war against Napoleon in order to
divert his grand army at Boulogne from making a descent
upon her coasts; upon which I told him that before he
attempted to instruct others as to points of history, he had
better make himself acquainted with it, as at the time to
which he alluded our political relations with Prussia were not
of the most amicable nature.

Almost every evening the Minister resorted to some place
of amusement. He was much pleased with the display of
horsemanship at the Cirque, where, by the bye, he remarked,
that whilst every English gentleman remained uncovered,
the French, with few exceptions, kept on their hats, and
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snid that he supposed they did so because they were Repuy,.
licans, and every man fancied himself a king. At the
Opera, Cerito with her husband, St. Leon, performed in the
ballet, and the Ambassador was so delighted with the dancing
of the former, that he presented her with the bracelets, worth
five or six hundred pounds, which he himself was at the time
wearing. This was thought by all the members of his suite
to be a very ridiculous piece of extravagance.

On the 12th of September Lord Normanby having
returned to Paris, Edwardes called to ascertain whether the
Minister would pay his Lordship a visit. The Jung evidently
was afraid lest he might lower his dignity by making the
first advances, whilst, at the same time, he was most anxious
to pay all due respect to England’s representative. This
feeling was not unnatural on his part, knowing, as he did,
that by those unacquainted with Indian affairs it was often
supposed that his nation was tributary to England. As how-
ever, Edwardes insisted upon the right of Lord Normanby
to receive the first visit—a right that apparently, according
to diplomatic etiquette, could not be disputed—I persuaded
the Minister that it was incumbent on him to pay his re-
spects at the Embassy, to which he consented; but when
Lord Normanby was made acquainted with his intention, he
requested permission to call on him instead. This, however,
the Jung would not allow, and we accordingly drove over to
the Embassy, where we were most kindly received, his Lord-
ship expressing his regret at having been so long absent, and
his wish to make the Jung’s stay at Paris agreeable. The
latter felt much pleased with his reception. The following
day Lord Normanby paid his return visit, and with my aid
held a long conversation with the Jung, who remarked to
me, after his lordship had taken his departure, that his
mizaj (disposition) was evidently very good.

The day the President returned from Cherbourg, the
detective policeman who had been permitted to accompany
the Embassy to Paris inquired whether I intended visiting
any place of amusement in the evening, and on my asking
the cause of the inquiry, he stated that he had reason te
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believe that an attempt would be made on the arrival of the
President to carry him off to the Tuileries, and proclaim
him Emperor; possibly there might be serious disturbances,
and it was consequently advisable that we should remain at
the hotel. Although the idea was rather scouted at the
British Embassy when I referred to it, I was subsequently
led to believe that the detective was perfectly right. The
plot was all arranged, but one of the parties concerned men-
tioned the matter to General Changarnier, under the im-
pression that he would connive at its being carried into
execution, instead of which the General had so strong a
force drawn up to receive the President at the station of the
Chemin de Fer du Nord, that the plan was utterly frustrated.
Certainly, when the President’s carriage passed down the
Rue Faubourg St. Honoré, it proceeded at a great speed,
and was escorted by a very strong body of cavalry, and, whilst
a large mob ran after it, uttering cries of * Vive Napoleon !
Vive I'Empereur ! ” the cry of “ Vive la République !” was
scarcely heard.

On the 15th Prince Bacciochi called and presented the
Minister, on the part of the President, with a handsome
sword. On the 16th he accompanied us on a visit to Fontaine-
bleau. Amongst other curiosities pointed out, on our passing
through the chéteau, were the beautiful cabinet of Seévres
china which contained the cadeau of the Duchess of Orleans,
the table on which the Emperor Napoleon signed his abdi-
cation, a medallion set in a clock which had been presented
to the Emperor by the Pope, and also some window fastenings
said to have been made by Louis XVI. There were
numerous specimens of Sévres china, all of them very
beautiful. Before returning to Paris, we drove through the
forest, and also witnessed the inspection of a corps of
Hussars, which paraded for the purpose in the courtyard
of the palace.

On the 17th the Minister dined at the British Em-
bassy, several distinguished persons having been invited
to meet him. I was much struck with General Changarnier,
who, although extremely quiet in his manner, appeared to be
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a man of determination. On the 18th the Minister ap-
peared alone at the Opera, and, on my inquiring the reason of
his being unaccompanied by any member of his suite, I dis-
covered that he had not allowed any of his officers to attend,
although they were most anxious to do so, as a punishment,
because they had opposed a wish he had expressed to remain
in Furope for another two years, allowing the Mission to
return to Nepal without him. His brothers were ex-
tremely anxious on this subject, and once or twice requested
me to use my influence with him to expedite his departure,
for fear lest he might determine to remain.

Calling one day at the studio of M. Jacquemont, who was
taking Jung Bahadur’s portrait, I met Lola Montes,who told
me that she was writing her memoirs, for which she had been
offered £3,000, and expressed a great desire to revisit India
in order that she might depict some of the features of Anglo-
Indian society. The Minister afterwards told me that she
had requested him to give her a passage with his suite, but
that he had avoided compliance with her wishes by stating
that he could not do so without my consent, and he knew
that would not be given, as I was very strict with him ; upon
which she became very angry, and intimated her surprise
at his allowing himself to be kept in such a state of
pupilage.

On the 24th of September we started at nine a.M. for
Versailles. After breakfasting with Lord Normanby, we
accompanied the President to the Plain of Sartory, where a
large body of French troops were in position. The President
rode down the ranks ; with the exception of the 1st Regiment
of Infantry, which remained perfectly silent as we passed,
he was loudly cheered by the troops. On the cortége moving
to the front, the force changed front to the left in two lines,
having the great mass of cavalry on the right rear, the front
line being mainly composed of infantry, with cavalry in the
centre and artillery on both flanks. - This line, after making
a movement in advance, was compelled to retire upon the
second line, which was also supposed to have been over-
powered by cavalry and compelled to form squares. The
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cavalry was then brought up from the rear, deployed upon
the leading squadron and charged, but subsequently retired
covered by skirmishers; and, after some cannonading, the
manceuvres were terminated, and the whole force adjourned
to luncheon. Sir Frederick Smith, with some five or six
Indian Engineer officers, were on the ground, and the Pre-
sident kindly sent an invitation to the whole party to par-
take of the refreshments that had been provided. After
an interval of about half an hour we again mounted, and
rejoined the troops. Some little time, however, elapsed
before a sufficient space could be cleared to admit of the
latter passing round in review. When they did march past,
the first corps, as before, preserved perfect silence ; but loud
shouts of “Vive Napoleon!” &c., proceeded from all the
others. We subsequently rode with the President back to Ver-
sailles, where we took our leave and returned to Paris. Jung
Bahadur was much struck with the loose formation and
apparent want of discipline of the French army as compared
with that of the British, and to our superiority in this
respect he attributed much of the secret of our success.

On the 25th of September, whilst engaged in making
preparations for the departure of the Mission for Marseilles,
I was surprised at receiving a visit from two gentlemen con-
nected with the French Foreign Office, who stated that a
person styling himself the Minister’s Secretary had called at
the office and expressed a hope that the French Government
would make the requisite arrangements for his Excellency’s
journey, to meet the expenses of which he was prepared to pay
£40 or £50. The Chef du Cabinet was, of course, some-
what astonished at receiving this intimation, and was desirous
of ascertaining whether he was to consider the message as
emanating from either the Minister or myself. I assured
them that I was not aware of any instructions having been
given to the secretary, and could only suppose that he had
acted on his own responsibility. I thanked them for the offer
they made to render any assistarnce that it might be in the
power of the Government to afford towards facilitating our
movements, and promised to call at the Foreign Office. Upon



Departure from Paris. 153

speaking to the Minister on the subject, I discovered that he
liad given the instructions to his Secretary, and accordingly
informed him that as he chose to comrmunicate with the
French authorities without my being consulted, I must decline
to interfere further in the matter, and must leave him to
make his own arrangements for his journey. He shortly
after sent to inquire whether I would allow his brother,
Colonel Dher Shumshir, to accompany me on my visit to
the Foreign Office. This I agreed to do. Colonel Soleil, by
whom we were received, was, as indeed was the case with all
the French authorities, most cordial and straightforward,
and observed that, whilst the French Government would be
most happy to afford any assistance that might be required,
yet, as the Nepalese were travelling through the country as
the friends of the British, any requisition that might be
made must be received through our Embassy. This message
was duly communicated to the Jung, who at once agreed
to act upon my advice and adopt the plan I had recommended,
with which I made the Secretary to the British Embassy
acquainted, and with his aid the necessary agreement was
soon effected with the Director of the Messagerie Nationale
for the transport of our party to the South of France.

On the 1st of October, the day appointed for our departure,
on leaving my rooms at six A.M., with the hope of finding the
luggage all packed upon the diligences, much to my disap-
pointment I discovered the whole of the packages still in the
courtyard, and the Director of the Messagerie informed me
that his men had been prevented from removing them to the
conveyances in consequence of the non-payment of a demand
for injury to her furniture which had been preferred by the
mistress of the hotel. After a long discussion I succeeded in.
effecting a settlement of this claim, and walked over to the
British Embassy under the impression that all matters had
been satisfactorily arranged. Whilst, however, I was giving
an explanation to the Secretary of Legation relative to the
application of some money left in his hands to meet certain
liabilities likely to be incurred, Jung Bahadur entered the
room in a great passion, saying that his carriage had been
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stopped by some coachmen, who alleged that they had
claims against members of his suite, and that the police
appeared to countenance this proceeding. The inspector of
police, on being sent for and asked the cause of his not pre-
venting the Minister from being insulted, promised that there
should be no further cause for complaint, and the Jung re-
turned to the hotel, which was immediately opposite the
Embassy. Hardly, however, had I recommenced my con-
versation when Colonel Dher Shumsher rushed in and begged
that I would come over, as his brother had been insulted and
had struck his aggressor, and the crowd were in a great state
of excitement. I immediately walked across and found the
court of the hotel filled with a very excited mob, Jung
Bahadur, extremely agitated at the affront which had bccn
offered to him, and the person who had been struck endea-
vouring to get near him to return the blow. With the aid
of the police I managed to clear a way, and persnaded the
Jung to walk by my side to the carriage, and immediately
he was seated, I gave the order to drive off. As we rapidly
passed down the Rue St. Honoré we observed two of the
Nepalese officers walking along as if they were taking a
quiet stroll and time was no object. They never made their
appearance at the railway station, and we were obliged to
start without them. We did not reach Lyons until nine
‘o’clock on the morning of the 3rd, having had nearly two
days’ travelling by diligence, the only incidents in our
journey of any note being the exorbitant charges made by
the landlords of the different hotels at which we stopped for
refreshment, which were only abated after long discussions,
and our finding ourselves one night very much out of the
perpendicular owing to our driver having fallen asleep and
allowed the diligence to leavethe road,and get on a steep slope,
being only extricated from our somewhat perilous position
by the assistance of several men and a team of oxen procured
from a neighbouring village.

At Lyons we found the missing officers, who had travelled
vid Chalons and arrived before us. Shortly after our arrival
Count de Grammont, aide-de-camp to General Count Castel-
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lane, called and delivered a message from the General in-
viting the Minister to attend a review, to be held in the course
of the afternoon. The invitation was gladly accepted, and
about two o’clock we started for the scene of action, escorted
by a detachment of the Guides. After driving down the
principal street and along the bank of the Rhone, we crossed
the river by a fine suspension bridge, and soon reached the
fort which was to be attacked. Here we were received by
the General, who conducted the Jung to the ramparts, where
seats had been prepared for us. Operations then commenced by
a sortie from the garrison, by which the besiegers were driven
out of the second parallel and compelled to cut adrift their
pontoon bridge to save it. Their batteries, however, opened
a heavy fire and the sortie was obliged to retire. The counter-
scarp of the ditch was then blown up at the salient angle and
the pontoon bridge re-constructed. This terminated the day’s
proceedings; and, after walking through the besiegers’
parallels and batteries, where the system of running zigzags
and approaches by the single and double sap, were explained
to the Minister, we returned to the hotel. In the evening the
General called. He was a fine soldier-like old man. It was
said that, having heard that a revolutionary barber, whose
proclivities were kept in check by the strict order maintained
throughout the limits of the General’s command, had often
boasted that he only waited for a suitable opportunity to put
bim out of this world, one afternoon he drove up in front of
his shop, dismounted, walked in, and desired the astonished
Republican to shave him. When the operation had been
completed, whilst paying him for his services, he quietly
pointed out to him that as he had not availed himself of the
opportunity that had been afforded, in future it would be
wiser for him not to give utterance to threats which he had
not the courage to put into force.

In order to prevent any dispute taking place at the moment
of leaving, I called for our account in the course of the
evening, and found that the landlord had charged the Jung,
for the use of a suite of rooms and a kitchen, no less than
1,000 francs. He subsequently reduced it to 900, and, upon
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my representing the matter to the Commissary of Police, to
800 ; but even this the latter considered most exorbitant, and
advised me to resist the claim, leaving, however, the amount
with his secretary ; I acted upon his advice; but as no refund
was ever made, I presume that the landlord’s charge was
eventually admitted; though, doubtless, he had some fees
to pay, and some time to wait ere he received his money,
whilst he was debarred from causing the Embassy any annoy-
ance at the time of our departure.

We reached Marseilles on the evening of the 4th. Here
we found H.M. steamer Growler waiting to convey the Em-
bassy to Alexandria. Her commander was most kind in his
endeavours to make arrangements to secure the comfort of
the whole party during their sojourn on board. It was not
until the evening of the 7th that the Jung was able to em-
bark, for, independent of the delay occasioned by the neces-
sity for allowing the Nepalese to fill their own water casks,
considerable difficulty was experienced in getting some of
the luggage out of the hands of the agent of the Messageries
Company, as he considered that the Company had a lien
upon the boxes until payment had been made for the
journey from Paris to Lyons of the absentees who had
rejoined us at the latter place. As the Company had been paid
the whole amount of their fares from Paris to Marseilles,
this demand certainly seemed most illiberal if not unjust.
However, as the agent would not abate one 70¢a of his claim,
nor even consent to refer the question for the consideration
of his directors at Paris; whilst the Jung, who looked upon
the charge as an utter imposition, was most indignant,
and refused to pay a single franc, finding all my remon-
strances unavailing to secure the release of the boxes, even
the guarantee of the British Consul not being accepted for
the payment of the disputed sum in the event of its being
enforced; eventually I thought it advisable to settle the ques-
tion by paying the amount myself. Throughout our sojourn
in France, although from all the State officials of every class
the greatest kindness and courtesy was experienced, extor-
tion and illiberality marked the proceedings of hotel keepers
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and railway companies to the last. Distinct instructions had
been left at the office of the Messagerie Nationale at Paris
to despatch the heavy baggage belonging to the Embassy
from the nearest port by sailing ship to Calcutta. The Com-
pany forwarded the whole of the boxes to Marseilles, brought
them back again, and then despatched them, as originally
directed, from Havre, but charged the full cost of their con-
veyance to and from Marseilles, thus not only causing con-
siderable delay, but, whilst they derived a large profit from
the transaction, entailing heavy expense upon the Jung as
the result of their own non-compliance with the directions
with which they had been furnished.

One evening, during his stay at Marseilles, Jung Babadur
visited the Opera-house, where he met General and Mrs.
Court and Madame Allard, and, as they all spoke Hindustani,
he was delighted at being able to carry on a conversation
with them. The General and myself conversed in Persian,
which I spoke w'th greater fluency than French, and he than
English. A similar incident once took place in Paris,
one of the visitors at the Embassy having been a savant,
who, although he had never been in the East, had a perfect
knowledge of Oriental languages.

On the 8th of October we steamed out of the harbour.
Jung Bahadur seemed very sorry at leaving Europe, and told
me that he should never forget the pleasure he had enjoyed
from his trip, at the same time expressing a hope that I
would banish from my remembrance any act of his from
which I had experienced the slightest annoyance. He said
that even brothers sometimes did not agree, but that he
could assure me that he had always looked up to me as to
an elder brother. The following day he amused himself by
writing a sort of poetic farewell to Europe, in which he
stated that he should look upon his visit as a dream which
could never recur. At one time he said that he thought he
should endeavour to obtain a large sum from the Nepalesc
Government to enable him to retire and reside in England ;
but, on my pointing out to him that a person holding a posi-
tion in which the destinies of some millions of his fellow-
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creatures were entrusted to his charge, should not think
merely of his own happiness and comfort, he replied that
this was true, and that he was well aware that he was only
indulging in an idle dream in speculating upon a residence
in Europe. He asserted, however, that, if possible, he would
send home some of his children to be educated. Narrating
some of the most eventful circumstances of his life, he
mentioned that for about a year he never slept without two
double-barrelled rifles and a pair of pistols, all loaded, near
his bed, and a guard of 100 picked men on duty at his resi-
dence. His wives were, in consequence, actually afraid to
remain with him. At one time he thought of teaching them
how to use firearms, but was afraid lest, in a fit of jealousy,
they might point them at one another. This remark gave
him an opportunity, by alluding to the danger of placing
firearms in unskilful hands, of informing me of an event
that had taken place at Paris, and which he had hitherto
concealed from me. It appears that one evening, accom-
panied by his brothers, he visited the Jardin Mabille, and
whilst he was practising with a pistol at a shooting-gallery,
a fair damsel entered into conversation with him, and laugh-
ingly remarked that she was as good a shot as he was. He
handed her the pistol to enable her to exhibit her skill, but
throngh nervousness or awkwardness she pulled the trigger
before raising the weapon. The ball lodged in the fleshy
part of the thigh of one of his brothers. The sufferer was
immediately carried home, and Jung Bahadur, who possessed
a case of medical instruments, himself extracted the ball
and applied some healing ointment, which he said was a
sovereign remedy for wounds, and, in the course of a fort-
night or so, the wound had closed and all evil effects had
disappeared ; but, so afraid was the Jung lest the matter
should come to my knowledge, and T should be angry with
him for his folly, that poor Dher Shumsher, although in great
pain, was always required to rise from his couch and wel-
come me whenever I happened to enter the room where he

was reclining, for fear that I might otherwise make inquiries
as to the cause of his ailment.
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On the morning of the 15th of October we anchored in
the harbour of Alexandria. This being the grand day of the
Dusserah festival, all the Sirdars offered nuzzars to the Jung.
It appears that this is the usual custom in Nepal, and, as
every officer of the State, civil and military, is expected to
make a suitable present to the Prime Minister for the time
being, the amouni received is considerable. On this day
also the whole of the troops are mustered, and every one
absent from parade is removed from the service. On the
afternoon of the 16th we left the Growler, in which we had
made a most pleasant voyage, for nothing could have ex-
ceeded the kindness we experienced from all on board, and
embarked on one of the Nile steamers for Cairo, where
we arrived early on the morning of the 18th. In the
course of a conversation that ensued during our river trip,
the Jung stated that, upon the whole, the Nepalese were
well pleased with the defeat of the Seikhs; at the same
time he thought that our placing the Rani Chundah in con-
finement at Chunar was a blot on our escutcheon, it being
the only case in which we had forfeited our reputation for
generosity to a vanquished foe. He asserted that, until the
affair of the Theekah, notwithstanding her aversion to the
Durbar we had formed with Tej Sing at the head, the Rani
was really favourably disposed towards us; but when Law-
rence’s ear had been poisoned against her by the misrepresen-
tations of the Sirdars, she became our most dangerous enemy.
After her escape to Nepal the British Government offered
to allow her a lac and a half a year, provided she would
reside in India under certain conditions; but, although he
strongly recommended her to accept the offer, pointing out
that she might place implicit reliance on our good faith, she
refused to do so.

During our stay at Cairo, Jung Bahadur, with his suite,
was accommodated in a palace which the Pasha had kindly
placed at his disposal, and on the afternoon of the second
day I proceeded there for the purpose of accompanying the
Minister to pay his respects to his Highness. Whilst the
former was preparing for his visit, he begged me to in-
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spect the gifts which he proposed presenting as his nuzzar.
They were, however, in my opinion, not of sufficient values
to be considered a suitable offering, and, as H.M. Consul,
Mr. Walne, fully agreed with me, after some hesitation the
Jung consented to pay his visit empty handed. We were
received at a palace apparently scarcely finished, situated
within the limits of the city. The audience chamber was a
large room with a bow window on one side, round which the
Divan was placed, with chairs on both sides for the Euro-
pean visitors. When we entered, the Pasha advanced to
meet his visitor, and having welcomed him, pointed to the
Divan, upon which they both took np a position, whilst Mr.
Walne and myself, with the other English officers, seated
ourselves on the chairs to the Pasha’s right. Pipes and
coffee were then brought in, and a conversation ensued in
which Jung Bahadur, with his usual savoir faire, insinuated
a little quiet flattery, comparing the Pasha’s troops and
navy with those of European States; his Highness, however,
at once repudiated the idea of there being any semblance of
equality. After the lapse of about half an hour we rose
and took our leave, Jung Bahadur much pleased with his
courteous reception.

We left Cairo on the evening of the 20th, and as orders
bhad been issued for every possible arrangement to be
made for our comfort during the Desert trip, we accom-
plished the journey with ease in less than ten hours. The
21st I was busy all day causing the necessary preparations
to be made for the accommodation of the party on board the
steamer Feroz ; by four p.M., however, the Jung had embarked,
and we steamed out of the roadstead for the harbour of Tor,
which we reached the following morning, and anchored for
a few hours to enable the Nepalese to land and fill their
water casks. Whilst they were thus employed, I made
known to the Minister the contents of the last letter re-
ceived from India. He was much affected upon hearing of
the death of one of the members of the Royal Family, to
whom he was evidently greatly attached. We reached Aden
on the 28th, and Bombay on the morning of the 6th of
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November. No incident of any special interest occurred
during the voyage. In the course of my couversation with
the Jung, he frequently alluded to the nature of the political
relations between Great Britain and Nepal. He considered
that we were perfectly right in moving troops to the frontier
in 1840, as we had great cause of complaint against the
Durbar, letters from the Prime Minister to the several
Native Courts in Hindustan calling upon them to rise against
the British having been intercepted by our authorities.
Moreover, the life of our Resident had been twice threatened.
He gave the greatest credit to Mr. Hodgson for his cool and
determined conduct on one very trying occasion. He was very
anxious that some satisfactory arrangement should be entered
into for the extradition of criminals, stating that, under the
present system, a considerable expense was incurred by Nepal
in providing for the capture of numerous marauders who
cross the frontier from the Oudh jungles, whilst no exer-
tions were made by British officials to seize culprits who
effect their escape into our territories. Possibly these latter
have often been political offenders, whom we should, of
course, refuse to surrender. According to the Jung’s
account, however, he had allowed a very large number of the
adherents of the old regime, his political enemies, who had
sought shelter across the border. to return to Nepal on the
condition of their residing in their respective villages, and
refraining from all interference in political matters. Allud-
ing to the general customs of the people of Nepal, he
stated that there was one sect that buried their dead on the
tops of hills, and another by the sides of rivers; by some
the corpses are placed in coffins previous to interment, others
practise cremation. Suttee, although allowed, is not en-
forced; on the contrary, any one attempting to influence a
widow by threats to sacrifice her life would be severely
punished. He himself urged, although unsuccessfully, every
argument in his power to induce his sister-in-law, on his
brother’s demise, to abandon her intention of immolating
herself upon the funeral pyre. Jung Bahadur certainly

seemed most anxious to act justly towards all the subjects of
M
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Nepal, without reference to rank or family influence. He
submitted to me a case in which a landholder, who had felt
himself aggrieved by the action of a Court official, appealed
to his superior and obtained redress. The official being
greatly annoyed summoned him to his presence, and inflicted
upon him such a severe blow that the unfortunate fellow
died from its effects. He stated that he was determined not
to pass the matter over, and asked me what I should con-
sider a suitable punishment for the officer. I told him that
according to English law he would be found guilty of man-
slaughter, and punished by imprisonment for a long period,
which he appeared to consider perfectly just and proper.

On our arrival at Bombay the Minister received a packet
of letters from Nepal containing news of his brother’s serious
illness, and also of the removal of the Rajah’s favourite wife,
in a dying state, from the palace, to one of the religious
buildings set apart for persons approaching death. He was
much affected on hearing this last intelligence, as he stated
that the Rani’s death would be a public calamity, as she had
great influence, which was always wisely directed, over her
husband, and it was chiefly through her means that he
succeeded in guiding the Rajah rightly. He assured me
that on one occasion he received orders from the Queen-
Mother to declare war against the British; upon remonstrating
with her regarding not only the folly but the injustice of
the proceeding, as the Nepal Durbar had not even the
shadow of a cause for complaint, he was taunted with being
a coward. To this he replied that he was ready to lose his
life in the service of his country, but not to bear the stigma
of having wilfully risked her independence, and that there-
fore he required to be furnished with explicit written instruc-
tions, showing by whose orders he acted, and consequently the
person who was responsible for any disastrous consequences
that might ensue. These instructions were issued under the
signatures of the Rajah and of the Queen-Mother, but, upon
his showing the document to the Rani, she deliberately tore
it in pieces and wrote out a paper to the effect that any
one guilty of an attempt to excite hostilities against their
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old and faithful allies, the British, should be deemed a
traitor. |

On the 8th and 9th of November the Jung attended balls
given in his honour by Sir William Yardley and Sir Erskine
Perry. At the latter a sort of dais had been prepared as a
seat of honour, and he was very much afraid that it would be
considered incumbent on him to remain seated there all the
evening, and was delighted when I told him that in rising
and adjourning to another room he would not be guilty of
any discourtesy to his host. Previous to going to the first
party another packet of letters had arrived from Nepal, but
the Minister requested me to retain it, and would not have
it opened, fearing lest it might bring news of the Rani’s
death, when he and all his suite would have been compelled
to have gone into mourning and to have refused all invita-
tions, and thus caused disappointment to those who had
taken so much trouble to show him kindness. As antici-
pated, the letters contained the announcement of the Rani’s
demise. When they were read the Minister burst into tears,
and was so unhinged that he was obliged to leave the room.
According to the rules of Court mourning, for one year no
subject ought to wear shoes in any way composed of leather,
and for three days no one should enter a carriage or eat food
more than once a day, and even then without salt or spices;
in addition to which the beard must be shaved and the mark
of grief placed on the forehead. I did not see the Minister
again until the 12th, by which time he had recovered his
usual spirits. In the course of conversation, alluding to the
numerous small independent Native States, he related the
following fable as being applicable to the conquest of India
by the British. “ When man first formed the head of the
axe, the trees became all in a state of great alarm. One old
oak alone appeared unmoved. and pacified his neighbours by
informing them that so long as they continued united there
was no cause for fear. Some time after, however, when man
prevailed upon an ash to allow itself to be fashioned into a
handle for the axe, the oak changed his tone and became

more frightened even than his fellows, saying that there was
M 2
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now no hope of their escaping ruin, since one of their relations
had made common cause with their enemy.” This story in
a measure corresponds with an anecdote of lLiord Teign-
mouth, when Mr. Shore. He was asked by a Native what
fruit he liked best in India. His reply was ’hoot, which is
not only the name of a fruit, but also signifies *“ Division.”
The Bombay Government, having placed the Indian navy
steamer Atalanta at the Jung’s disposal, we embarked on
board on the afternoon of the 14th of November for the
purpose of visiting the Temples of Dwarka and Bate. We
anchored off the former shrine on the evening of the second
day. The Minister landed at once, and as he purposed
remaining for a couple of days to pay his devotions, the com-
mander of the steamer took advantage of the opportunity
thus offered, to run down the coast and afford assistance in
getting off the company’s steamer Nuinrod, which had been
cast ashore in a recent cyclone. This operation having been
successfully carried out, we returned to Dwarka, where we
found the Minister and his suite all ready to re-embark, and
then continued our voyage to Bate. The coast being some-
what dangerous, the water in places being very shallow,
the steamer anchored a long way off shore, and we had a
pull in the boats of about eight miles ere we reached the
village. A house near the Janding-place was prepared for
our reception, and shortly after our arrival the headman of
the place, styled the Kamouzdar, made his appearance.
He came down in great state, with much beating of drums
and blowing of trumpets, and accompanied by some sepoys
and matchlockmen. As he approached, Jung Bahadur
turned to me and said, ‘“ Look at that idiot. Hereis a fellow
whose name will never be heard out of this village, and yet
he cannot come to see me without all this stupid noise and
show ; whilst, when the Duke of Wellington paid me a visit,
he walked over from the Horse Guards unattended.” The
Jung evidently cared little for his visitor, and he was soon
dismissed. In the meanwhile the Brahmins attached to the
Temples had collected round us, and sotto voce remarks were
heard in every direction relative to the liberal gifts likely to
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be made by the great Chief who had come amongst them,
After having made a few inquiries, and ascertained the
name of the Cliief Priest, Jung Bahadur addressed the crowd,
caying, “ It is quite true, my friends, that I should not
think of offering up my prayers at your holy shrine without
leaving a handsome sum for distribution amongst the poor ;
in that box,” pointing to a desk in the Secretary’s charge,
‘“are 5,000 rupees, which I purpose devoting to charitable
purposes.” This remark led to a loud murmur of applause;
and, as the Brahmins evidently thought charity begins at
home, their eyes glistened in anticipation of the largesse
they were about to receive. Their countenances, however,
fell a little when, on the desk being opened, only a piece of
paper appeared. Taking the paper, which was a Govern-
ment promissory note for the amount named, in his hand,
the Minister continued : ¢ This paper is an acknowledgment
on the part of the Great Company that I have paid into
the Treasury the sum of 5,000 Rr., and so long as the
Company reigns over Hindustan, which I hope will be as
long as the sun and moon endure, the interest on this sum
will be duly paid every half year. This interest is to be
given only to the poor. For this purpose the names of the
chief Punnahs of the Temple will be endorsed on the note
as trustees; and as trustees are liable to punishment for any
breach of trust, I hope that the money will be properly
applied, the more especially as the nearest British authority
will be occasionally written to on the subject, to ascertain
who have been the recipients of my bounty.” When he
concluded his speech there was perfect silence. It was
clear that the Brahmins were sadly disappointed, still they
could not deny that the donation was a liberal one, and
were consequently obliged to show due respect to the donor,
whom they accordingly accompanied to the fort in which
the Temples were situated. The Jung and his attendants
having to perform certain religious ceremonies, it was near
five o’clock before we re-embarked, and, as the tide was
against us, and the wind had risen, and in the dark it was
difficult to steer for the Atalanta, whose lights occasionally
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disappeared in the trough of the sea, it was close upon eight
when the gig, of which I bad taken charge, came alongside
the steamer, and the other two boats did not make their
appearance for some time after. The chief Punnahs of the
Temple had considered it below their dignity to come out to
receive the Jung, and he was evidently much annoyed at
their apparent discourtesy, for he remarked to me that
they gave themselves greater airs than men who were im-
measurably their superiors—men of the first rank in Kngland
not being too proud to show courtesy to a stranger.

On the 21st of November we again reached Bombay, and,
after remaining there three days, during which time the
Nepalese, with the exception of the Minister, who was on
the sick list, took the opportunity of visiting the Caves of
Klephanta, with which they were much pleased, though
they were puzzled as to the meaning of some of the figures,
continued our voyage to Calcutta. Having encountered
rough weather in the Gulf of Minar, we ran into Colombo,
where the Minister landed. On the day after our arrival he
made a formal visit to the Governor, Sir George Anderson,
who, on his leaving, apologized for the want of Attar, Pan,
&c., usually offered at Eastern Courts, upon which Jung
Bahadur at once said that these outward signs of cordiality
were not needed, Sir George having displayed the friend-
ship of his heart in doing so much to make him comfort-
able. The Governor having placed the Colonial steamer
Seaforth at his disposal, the Jung was enabled to pay his
desired visit to the shrine of Ramesaram, and we conse-
quently did not leave Galle Harbour before the 9th of
December. We had rather a slow passage to Calcutta,
which we only reached on the morning of the 19th. The
voyage was not, however, a tedious one, for much of my
time was spent in conversing with the Minister and his
officers, and gleaning information not only with regard to
Nepal, but to India generally. TUpon the whole, the
Nepalese seemed to think that the natives of India were
satisfied with our rule, for even those who disliked us had
confidence in us, and invested their savings in Government



Fung Bahadur's Rise to Power. 167

Loans.* The Minister informed me that the bitter enmity
existing towards him on the part of the Chountra, now
residing at Chaprah, was caused by the death of his brother,
Fatteh Jung, which occurred under the following circum-
stances :—After the demise of Mahtabar Sing, Fatteh Jung
succeeded to the office of Prime Minister, and became the
bosom friend of Jung Bahadur. About eight months sub-
sequent to his accession to power, in order to ensure the
stability of their administration, the latter advised him to
order one of the Sirdars known to be inimical to their party
to be put to death. This, however, he refused to do, and
the Jung, under the impression that the measure was abso-
lutely necessary to prevent his own overthrow, determined
to carry it into effect unaided, at the same time placing his
friend in temporary durance to preclude the possibility of
his interfering and thus frustrating his design. On the
attempt being made to secure Fatteh Jung, his relatives,
imagining treachery and believing his life to be at stake,
offered resistance. In the mélée that ensued two of Jung
Bahadur’s brothers were severely wounded, upon which a
third brother cut down one of their assailants, who hap-
pened to be a nephew of Fatteh Jung. He, seeing his
nephew slaughtered, rushed upon Bhum Bahadur, who,
having been wounded in the sword-arm, was incapable of
defending himself, as, however, Fatteh Jung raised his
hand for the purpose of delivering his blow with the utmost
force, Jung Bahadur shot him through the chest by a ball
from his rifle. Seven other chiefs were then slain by his
hand by successive shots from the same weapon; as already
mentioned, fear then took possession of his opponents.
They turned and fled. The flight became indiscriminate.
Even the troops, with the exception of a few grenadiers
belonging to one of Jung Bahadur’s own corps, were seized
with a panic, and left their posts. Of this he took advan-
tage to collect some of his own adherents and post them
round the Arsenal, Treasury, and Palace. He then demanded

* I am afraid in this respect a change has taken place, owing to the con-
version of the 5 per Cent. loan in 1852,
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an audience with the Rajah; and, having told him that the
Rani’s party had determined to subvert his authority and
place his youngest son upon the throne, asked for his
approval of the measures he had been compelled to adopt to
frustrate their designs, and obtained his sanction to his
assuming the offices of Prime Minister and Commander-in-
Chief; upon which he directed the whole of the troops to
assemble upon the grand parade, and, pointing to the bodies
of their late commanders, proceeded to harangue them,
intimating his assumption, under the Rajah’s orders, of the
post of Commander-in-Chief, promising that they would
find him a warm friend in the event of their proving faith-
ful, and calling on them to obey him as their General.
This they agreed to do, more especially as they were almost
completely in his power, many being unarmed, whilst the
Jung’s own troops were fully prepared for action, the
infantry with loaded muskets, and the artillery standing at
their guns with lighted port-fires. From that date all
authority has remained vested in his hands, and he thinks
the soldiery will always remain faithful to him, as he has
never attempted to defraud them by retaining in his hands,
for the sake of receiving interest, that portion of their pay
which is issued in cash, or by paying them in copper instead
of silver and gaining by the exchange, practices often
pursued by his predecessors. Although just to his troops,
Jung Bahadur was, I fancy, a strict disciplinarian. Allud-
ing to the ill-treatment experienced by General Haynau
on his visit to a London brewery, he said that it was im-
politic to allow the offenders to escape, and that on one
occasion a British sepoy attached to the Residency, having
been assaulted by a Nepalese artilleryman, the culprit not
having been traced, he, although then only a member of the
Council, strongly recommended that, rather than let him
remain unpunished, the whole corps should be disbanded.
Referring to the political relations existing between Nepal
and China, Jung Bahadur stated that the Mission which
18 sent every fifth year to Pekin is always obliged to consist
not only of the same number of persons, but also of the
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same several ranks ; in all twenty-seven individuals. When
the officers have an audience with the Emperor, they are
forced to kneel and make their salaams. All the Chinese
courtiers kneel in the Monarch’s presence, and are under the
necessity of carrying under their arms small carpets to kneel
upon, none being supplied in the Imperial Palace. All the
expenses of the Mission during its stay in China are de-
frayed by the Chinese Government, and a Chinese officer
accompanies it to and from the frontier. No return Em.
bassy is ever sent to Katmandhoo. There is a Nepalese
Resident stationed at Lassa to watch over the interests of
the Nepalese subjects who are engaged in commerce with
Thibet and reside in that town. There is no doubt that
Jung Bahadur would gladly have severed the connection
between Nepal and China, which he evidently considered
derogatory to his own country. He used to talk of sending
one of his own brothers on the next Mission to China, so
that he might have an opportunity of forming a comparison
between the power of Great Britain and that of the Celestial
Empire, and thus know how to play his cards in the event
of a war again breaking out between the twn countries.
As far as I could judge, the Nepalese are certainly not
bigoted Hindoos. On one occasion, Khurber Khatri, a
member of the Minister’s suite, had been describing to me
a very holy temple, called Budunath, situated in the Hima-
layahs, and close to which there are some famous hot springs.
He said that formerly pilgrims were enabled, by means of a
direct road over the mountain, to prosecute their pilgrimage
to Budunath, after visiting Kedar, another shrine on the
opposite side, but to admit of their availing themselves of
this route, it was incumbent on them to proceed without
breaking their fast. A traveller, however, disobeyed this
Injunction, and the god was so enraged that he blocked up
the road, and it is now necessary to make a detour of several
days’ journey. On my inquiring whether he really thought
that salvation was ensured by departing one’s life at certain
holy places, he said that he was hardly competent to answer
the question, and related the following story :—



170 Reminiscences of an Indian Official.

A certain holy man, well skilled in Brahminical lore, and
who had spent his whole life in the study of the Vedas, and
other religious works, happened to have occasion to proceed
on a journey. At the first town he entered he took up his
quarters in the outer hall of a large mansion, and whilst
resting himself saw a funeral pass, when, to his astonish-
ment, he heard the mistress, from within the house, inquire
from the maidservant whether the deceased had gone to
heaven, upon which the girl went out, and in a short time
returned, giving an answer in the affirmative. A similar
occurrence again took place, but in this instance the reply
was in the negative. Lost in amazement, the sage demanded
how she was able to make known the decrees of the Almighty,
which were to him, notwithstanding all his learning, in-
scrutable. The maid replied that it was an extremely easy
task to ascertain the destination of departed souls, as it
was only necessary to attend at the burial-place, or rather
place of cremation, and listen to the opinion expressed re-
garding them by their neighbours If ten of them concurred
in speaking in praise of the defunct, it was almost certain
that he had gone to the gardens of eternal bliss; if, on the
contrary, they agreed in asserting that he was an evil-doer,
it was equally sure that he was consigned to perdition.

Khurber Khatri thought that, in the course of a few
years, when the Minister’s power was firmly established, he
would prohibit the practice of suttee throughout the Nepal-
ese territories. Even then, he asserted that it was not often
observed, and generally only by the widows of Brahmins to
prevent their being disgraced, or at the instigation of
interested relatives, when the deceased husband may have
died childless, and left wealth to be distributed. He him-
self dissuaded his mother from sacrificing herself on his
father’s demise.

Jung Bahadur, during his stay at Calcutta, resided at
Bulgacheeah, where a house had been secured for his ac-
commodation. My time was fully occupied, for, in addition
to arranging for the audience to be given to the Minister by
the President in Council, and for the despatch of the party
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to Benares, I was instructed to endeavour to obtain the
solution of a question of some importance, which the Govern-
ment was anxious should be settled before the Mission
returned to Nepal.

When the ex-Rani of Nepal with her husband sought
refuge in the British territories, she carried with her jewels
and other articles of considerable value which had been
taken from the Government Toshah Khanah, and might,
therefore, be considered as State property. A large portion
of this property had been made away with, but, when the
ex-Maharajah determined to return to Nepal and make an
attempt to recover the sovereignty, he deposited the remain-
der in the Benares Treasury, under the charge of the Govern-
ment agent, Major Carpenter. The Rani now demanded
1ts return, and even threatened to have recourse to legal pro-
ceedings to enforce her demand. On my first conversation
with the Jung on the subjeet, he represented that, although
the jewellery really belonged to the State, the Durbar were
unwilling to offer opposition to the Rani’s pretensions, and
would readily allow it to be considered as private property ;
but that they were of opinion that she had only a legal right
to one-third, whilst the remaining two-thirds should be
granted to her two sons. Moreover, that it was to prevent
the whole amount being squandered by the Rani’s para-
mour, and also to put an end to an intrigue that they
naturally considered as reflecting disgrace upon their Court,
that the request had been made to the British Government
to dispose of the property by public or private sale, and to
allow the lady and her sons the interest of the proceeds, to
enable them to enjoy the comforts to which their rank entitled
them. Upon my pointing out to him the awkward position,
as respects the possibility of the legality of its act being
impugned in a Court of law, in which the Government would
be placed in the event of its complying with the wishes of
the Durbar, he at once said that it would be better to
permit the Rani to retain the property, than to seize it and
afterwards be obliged to submit to the indignity of refund-
ing it in obedience to a decision of the Supreme Court, more
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especially as, in defending the case, it would be necessary to
expose the Rani, which was certainly not advisable, as,
although her disgrace was known to many, it was not pub.-
lished to the world, and, consequently, the stigma which
attached to the Durbar was mnot notorious. The Rani’s
hostility to himself he attributed to the fact of his having
discouraged her advances, which led to her making an
attempt upon his life, which he was able to frustrate owing
to his having obtained information relative to her intended
plans, through some of her attendants who were in his pay.
I suggested the expediency of prevailing upon the lady to
submit to the decision of a mixed Commission, composed of
two British and one Goorkha officer, to assemble at Benares.
He seemed to think there was little prospect of her agreeing
to the proposal, but consented to write a letter begging her
to come to Benares, when her claim should be formally con-
sidered, and arrangements made for her future comfort. He
stated that he could not call upon her himself, as he was
upon the horns of a dilemma. If he waited upon her at
her own house, after her disgraceful conduct, he would be
ridiculed by all the Sirdars, whilst to ask her to meet him
at any other place would be to offer an insult to one still
formally acknowledged as the wife of one of their kings.
Subsequently this matter formed the subject of a more
formal communication, with a view to 1its being con-
sidered by the Governor-General in Council, when the fol-
lowing very appropriate reply was given by the Minister :—
‘ Although the articles now under the charge of the British
authorities at Benares, having been issued from the Govern-
ment Toshah Khanah at Katmandhoo, may be legally
deemed the property of the State, yet, having been set
aside by the ex-Maharajah for the use of the Rani and her
sons, it is neither the intention nor the wish of the Nepal
Durbar to prefer any claim thereto; at the same time, as
1t appears that during the short period of the Rani’s stay at
Benares she has made away with jewellery, &c., to the value
of about seven lacs of rupees, it is not unreasonable to infer
that in the event of her being granted unlimited control over
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the disputed property, in the course of a few years the whole
will be squandered upon her paramour, and thus a double
disgrace be entailed upon the Nepal Court of having the
wife of their ex-monarch pursuing a career of notorious
profligacy, and his sons reduced to the necessity of leading
a life of exile and penury. Under these circumstances the
Durbar cousider themselves warranted in calling upon their
ally, the British Government, to interpose its authority, and
aid them in effecting the following equitable arrangement:
—The proceeds realized by the sale of the property to remain
as a deposit in the Treasury at Benares, and the interest
accruing thereon divided into three equal shares, paid regu-
larly to the ex-Rani and her sons, until the latter may bave
attained the age of twenty-five years, when the different
parties should be allowed the option. either of continuing to
receive pensions or to be paid their quota of the amount held
in deposit. Should, however, the most noble the Governor-
General be precluded by law from complying with the above
request, the Nepal Government would feel reluctant to
urge the matter upon his Lordship’s notice, and, placing full
reliance upon his friendly feelings towards the Rajah, would
leave it to his judgment to adopt such measures as he might
consider best calculated not only to protect the interests of
the two Princes residing in the British territories, but, as
far as may be in his power, to preserve unsullied the honour
of the Rajah’s family.”

Eventually, during the stay of the Mission at Benares, an
amicable settlement was effected ; an agreement, to which I
was a witness, having been signed, under which the property
was divided into three parts, of which the Rani received
one, and her two sons the other two. Jung Bahadur, in my
presence, spoke most kindly to the young Princes, earnestly
advising them not to draw the amount of their shares from
the Treasury, but to be cortent to receive the annual interest,
promising that if they would follow his advice, he would
pay the expenses of their establishment, and furnish them
with a guard for their protection. He at the same time
pointed out to them that, in the event of his death, there would
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be no one in Nepal to whom they could apply for aid when
they had squandered their money, as, with the exception of
himself—and he merely retained a friendly feeling towards
them out of gratitude for kindness formerly experienced
from their mother—all his own family, and, in fact, all the
principal officers of the State, were unanimous in their
sentiment of hostility against them, and would never show
them the slightest kindness or attention. His good counsel,
however, was perfectly unheeded, and the lads insisted upon
receiving their quotas of the sum deposited in the Treasury.
Another matter which was brought to a happy issue during
our visit to Benares was the Jung’s marriage with a daughter
of the Rajah of Coorg. This had been on the tupis for some
time, but there had been reports that the young lady had
lost caste, and this prevented any formal proposal for her
hand being made; however, her father assured the Jung
that there was no foundation for the rumour, and the
betrothal accordingly took place, the Jung making presents
of jewellery to the value ot 50,000 rupees, and receiving in
return some Kinkaubs, worth alout 1,100 rupees, and at
the same time a paper, in the Persian character, purporting
to be merely a promise to afford the Rajah assistance in
making arrangements for his proposed voyage to England,
which he was requested to sign. Jung Bahadur, however,
was far too shrewd to attach his signature to any document
with the contents of which he was not thoroughly acquainted,
and as neither himself nor any of his suite could read it,
he retained it for my perusal. It proved to be a distinct
promise to pay a certain sum of money, the amount being
unstated. The omission was not perceptible to any one who
could not read Persian, spaces being left vacant at the end
of one line and the beginning. of the next, in which the
amount could afterwards be inserted. When I explained
the nature of the paper, the Minister filled up the blanks
with his initials, leaving no space for any other entries, and
then returned it to the Rajah; he also had a copy made,
which he requested me to place in the hands of the Governor-
General’s agent, so as to prevent the possibility in future of
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any improper use being made of it. He stated that he was per-
fectly willing to give a liberal contribution towards meeting
the expenses of the Rajah’s intended trip, but that he was
not at all disposed to allow the latter to fix the amount.
He evidently had no high opinion of his new father-in-law,
for he told me that I was not to put any faith in his state-
ment as to his reasons for wishing to visit England, for
they were sure not to be the real ones. Although he was
afraid of giving offence to her relatives by introducing me
to his bride whilst we were at Benares, when on the march I
saw her frequently. She was a pretty, light-hearted girl,
and certainly did credit to his choice. She had pleasing
manners, and would, I imagine, have infinitely preferred
mixing in society to leading the life of seclusion to which
she was consigned on her arrival at Katmandhoo. The
Jung himself had become very Kuropeanized in his ideas.
On visiting the new college at Benares he inquired why a
pump had not been erected over a deep well in one of the
towers, and upon being told that in that case many of the
students would not drink the water, he remarked, ¢ If they
are such fools, why do you not let them go elsewhere for
their water ?”

He had a great contempt for the ordinary Hindoo. An
ex-Rajah, having called to pay his respects, although he was
received with the greatest civility, immediately after express-
ing his pleasure at being honoured by the visit and his
regret that his approaching departure would prevent his
returning it, the Minister quietly observed that he had,
unfortunately, important business to transact, then rose, and
conducted his visitor to the door, saying on his return,—
“ That is the way to get over an interview with a native.”

Jung Bahadur had evidently a wholesome dread of our
power, for one day, when I was alluding to the difficulty of
access to Nepal, he stated that, in his opinion, a very fair
road could be constructed through the passes at no great
cost, but he had no intention of making one, because he felt
convinced at some future period a war must ensue between
the British and the Goorkhas. As to the result there could
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be no doubt, for although the Nepalese would bravely defend
their country, they must eventually succumb, and as our
troops would naturally move by the most practicable route,
if there happened to be a made road they would make use of
1t; the Nepalese would ascribe their defeat to its existence,
and thus he and his family become stigmatized as the authors
of their country’s ruin.

The march from Benares to the Nepal frontier occurred
without any incident worthy of notice, except that on our
reaching Ghazipore the Jung informed me that, from in-
formation he had received, be was led to believe that three
men had been despatched by his enemy, the Chountra, with
orders to assassinate him. The magistrate, consequently,
furnished a detachment of mounted police to act as our
escort, and instructions were sent to the different police
stations to detain any travellers that might answer to the
description given of the intending assassins. I wasnot much
impressed with the powers of organization displayed by the
officers of the Nepal army. We had to cross a river, the
Gogra, of which the main stream was about half a mile in
width, and the scene of confusion on its bank was almost
indescribable ; no order of any description—baggage-ani-
mals, camp-followers, soldiers and Sirdars, all mingled indis-
criminately in one mass, and the passage seemed to be almost
utterly hopeless. By speaking to one or two of the most
intelligent of the Sirdars, I, however, caused some little
method to be introduced into their proceedings, and the
crossing was at last effected atter considerable delay.

On the 26th of January the officers of the 10th Regiment
Irregular Cavalry, who, with a very pleasant party, were en-
camped under a lovely clump of trees by which we passed,
with usual Indian hospitality, invited Oliphant and mpyself
to join their picnic. This enabled us to enjoy a day’s pig-
sticking, the most exciting sport in India, requiring skill
both as a horseman and in the management of the spear, for
a wild boar is a formidable enemy. On ome occasion a
brother officer of my own corps, holding his spear too
tightly, was hurled from his saddle to the ground, and in
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this position was attacked by the boar, who literally ripped
up his garments from his heel to his shoulder; fortunately,
they were loose, and he was uninjured, whilst piggy made
off under the impression that he had slain his assailant.

On the 29th we crossed the frontier, and encamped in the
Nepalese territories, where we halted for three days to
enable us to enjoy some sport in the neighbouring forests.
We killed two fine tigers and some deer. One afternoon the
elephants, about 200 in number, which had been caught
during the past season, were drawn up for our inspection,
the best were selected for the Government service, and the
rest ordered to be sold. The administration of the Terai,
or low lands, from which the Nepalese Government derives
a considerable revenue, chiefly from dues for the right of
pasturage and cutting timber, is entrusted to an officer of
high rank, who is assisted by a staff of judicial and fiscal
subordinates.

On the 1st of February we commenced our journey across
the Terai. Our first day’s march lay through heavy jungle,
traversed, however, by a beaten track practicable for bullock
carts. The second day, for the first four miles, we followed
the bed of a hill stream, now reduced to a trickling rivulet.
We then ascended the Churya Ghatta Pass, and thence
proceeded by a very fair track through the jungle to the
village of Hetoundah, situated on the bank of a mountain
stream, and in a basin surrounded by hills about 800 or 900
feet in height. Here we had hoped to have met Lord
Grosvenor and his party, as Jung Bahadur was most
anxious to show his Lordship an elephant hunt, and had
made the necessary arrangements for the purpose; unfor-
tunately, he delayed his departure from Katmandhoo, and,
as a herd of elephants had been driven towards one of the
mountain passes, and might at any moment break through
and escape, the hunt could not be deferred. The Jung was
very sensible of the kindness that had been shown to him
by the Marquis and Marchioness of Westminster, and was
greatly disappointed that his plans for enabling their son

to witness this most exciting sport had been frustrated.
N
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We left our camp at six A.M., and, after proceeding for some
distance on the road towards Makwanpore, took up our
position with a long line of elephants at the mouth of
the pass through which the quarry were expected to
break; shouts and volleys of musketry were soon heard
from the neighbouring hills, and eventually two full-grown
elephants and two young ones broke cover. After a very
exciting chase they were all secured, and left bound for
starvation to have its cffects and so far tame them as to
admit of their being brought under subjection by trained
elephants appointed for the purpose. The elephants in
Nepal are remarkably well trained. Our line must have
numbered some forty or fifty; whilst waiting near the
pass the noise they made, flapping their ears, moving their
legs, &c., was so great that it was difficult to hear any
rustling in the jungle. Wishing to secure perfect silence,
the Jung uttered a low whistle; the effect was magical,
every ear and foot became motionless, and the elephants
seemed converted into statues, and remained perfectly
quiescent, until a second whistle gave the necessary per-
mission to move their limbs.

The following day we continued our journey towards
Katmandhoo. For the first twelve miles our route lay
along the valley of the Raptee, which stream we crossed
about thirty-two times. We then ascended the hill on
which the fort of Shishah Ghurri is situated, and, pass-
ing through some lovely mountain scenery, the Hima-
layahs, with their summits covered with snow and tinged
by the rays of the setting sun, every now and then appear-
ing through the vistas in the forest, or above the ranges of
the hills by which we were surrounded, late at night we
reached Phir Phing, a town in the valley of Nepal, where
refreshments were prepared for us; after partaking of which
we continued our journey to the British Residency, where
we received a warm welcome.

Our first day’s residence at Katmandhoo was devoted to
visiting the Temples of Pasbutti Nath and Bodh, and,
riding through the city. The first-named temple is situated
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on the banks of a pretty stream ; it somewhat resembles a
Pagoda ; the roof is of lead and the ridges are covered with
plates, which appeared to be of copper gilt, though our
escort assured us they were of pure gold. A strange
description of ornament was suspended under the eaves—
viz., the culinary utensils and other articles belonging to
persons dying without heirs. In the centre of the building
were two massive silver doors, having curiously carved
work on each side; in the court-yard were several figures
of Hindoo deities, and at the outer gates two carved
lions; herc all the members of the Royal or of other noble
families are brought to breathe their last. The place of
cremation is within a short distance, and close by is the
sacred jungle, which appeared to be infested with mon-
keys. The temple of Bodh is a strange earthen cupola,
surmounted by a face with staring eyes; the height is
about 150 feet; it is situated within a court-yard, sur-
rounded by buildings inhabited by Bhooteahs, who make
their appearance at Katmandhoo in November, and return
to their homes in March. They were, without exception,
the dirtiest people I have ever seen; their clothes apparently
are never changed until they drop to pieces. The city in
many respects resembles a native town in India, but, upon
the whole, it is cleaner and more regularly built. The
temples, however, are all evidently copied from the designs
of Chinese pagodas, showing the intercourse that exists
with the Celestial Empire. About a mile and a half dis-
tant are the ruins of the town of Patan, the former seat of
power of the Newar dynasty. Here there are two mono-
liths, surmounted by brazen statues—the one of a Newar
monarch, in a sitting position, with a cobra on which a bird
1s standing, rearing its head behind him; the other of a
winged celestial being, in a kneeling attitude. On the sides
of the steps leading to the several temples are figures of
maned lions, very similar to those found at Nineveh, some
of them with beaks like birds.

On the 6th of February a grand Durbar was held, at
which I was introduced to the two mona:chs—the ex and

N 2
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the reigning sovereign. They appeared to be perfect
puppets in Jung Bahadur’s hands. On the 8th the cere-
mony of delivering Her Majesty’s reply to the communica.-
tion of which Jung Bahadur had been the bearer took
place. The two kings, sitting in great State, and surrounded
by all the principal officials—civil and military—bedecked
in gorgeous uniforms, cocked hats and feathers, received us
1n the building used as an audience chamber on grand occa-
sions. After conversing for some time, to do greater honour
to the mission, the two kings, Jung Bahadur and his eldest
brother, the Resident, Assistant Resident, and myself
ascended to a small upper room, where the letter was
opened, and 1its contents read and explained—a salute
of twenty-one guns and three rounds of musketry being at
the same time fired by the troops assembled on the neigh-
bouring parade ground. We then descended, and, after the
usual formalities, the Durbar broke up, and we proceeded
to the parade ground to witness the review. About 6,000
men were present, fine active-looking fellows, but with little
idea of manceuvring; as for the superior officers, though
magnificent in their cocked hats and epaulettes, they hardly
knew which were their respective corps, much less how to
handle them. After the firing, which was steady enough,
was over, the parade was dismissed by an old gentleman,
who stood on a chair in the centre of the parade ground, and,
in a loud voice, desired the troops to return to their respec-
tive lines; which they accordingly did, perfectly independent
of their colonels and generals, who took no part whatever
in the whole proceedings. The review over, I called upon
the two colonels, who displayed their dexterity in cutting
off a buffalo’s head by a single blow; the neck, however,
i1s in a state of tension, so that the feat is not so difficult as
one might imagine. I also paid Jung Bahadur a farewell
visit at his residence at Thappah Talli. Here every
arrangement had been made to do me honour; and, In
wishing me good-bye, he said the greatest griet he expe-
rienced was owing to my refusal to accept any return for
all the kindness I had shown him. Although we never met
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again, we often corresponded, and it always afforded me
pleasure to be of any assistance to him. He was, certainly,
in his ideas, far in advance of all his fellow-countrymen ;
had his life been prolonged, it is not improbable that he
would have removed some of the restrictions that now pre-
clude the development of our commercial intercourse with
Thibet. He was fully alive to the many advantages that
might thus accrue to his own country, but his visit to
England had impressed him with a great idea of our power,
and he could not divest his mind of the belief that, in the
event of free access and transit through Nepal being allowed
to our subjects, disputes would arise which might lead to
hostilities and the ultimate absorption of that State into
our Indian empire; at the same time, he was most anxious
to gain onr good opinion and moral support. When sentence
of death was passed on the conspirators who had plotted his
overthrow immediately after his return from England, he
refused to sanction its being carried into effect, on the plea
that he was unwilling to take human life so soon after his
reception by Her Majesty, and the guilty parties were, with
the consent of our Government, merely banished from
Nepal, and placed under surveillance at Allahabad in the
British territories. Throughout the trying time of the
mutiny, he never wavered in his fidelity to our alliance,
although there can be little doubt that many inducements,
from without and within, must have been urged upon him
to declare against us. This last fact alone, coupled with the
courtesy shown to H.R.H. the Prince of Wales, gave him
a great claim upon our sympathy, and, had he been spared
to carry out his contemplated second trip to Europe, he
would assuredly have again experienced the same kindness
as displayed on the occasion of his presenting himself as
the head of the first mission from a Hindoo State that,
overcoming national prejudices and religious restraints, had
traversed the ocean in order to pay obeisance at the Court
of our most gracious Queen.
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CHAPTER V.

Assume charge of the office of Town and Fort Major—The Burmese Embassy
—Opening of the Railway to Ranigunge — Application to be employed
in Persia— Rumours in the Bazaar—Home on Sick Leave—DBanquet to
Lord Canning— Continental Trip— Review on the Cbamp de Mars—Visit
to Waterloo—Foreign Armies— Visit to Salt Mines near Salzburgh—
Return to India via Trieste—Outbreak of Cholera—The Hidden Trea-
sure— Visits to Govindpur and Deig.

Ox the 5th July, 1854, I assumed charge of my new office.
As the recognized military representative of the Governor-
General in his capacity of Governor and Commander-in-
Chief of Fort William and Calcutta, whatever might be
the rank of the officer commanding the troops, all orders
were issued on my authority, and even the Commander-in-
Chief of India could not inspect a regiment within the limits
of the Governor-General’s command without having previ-
ously obtained permission.

One of the first points to which my attention was directed
was the faulty nature of the accommodation provided for the
European troops. The quarters for married men were espe-
cially deficient in all the properties needed for the preser-
vation of health in a tropical climate. My views were most
heartily supported by Lord Dalhousie, who never grudged
expense when the health or comfort of the troops was con-
cerned, and before I left the fort there was hardly a barrack
or guard-room which had not been improved. In some cases
the old buildings were demolished and replaced by others of
a superior description. In most instances the rooms on the
ground floor were opened out and converted into arcades,
Our space being restricted, some of the barracks were neces-



The Burmese Embassy. 183

sarily lofty, though, as a rule, in India, barracks should be
only one story in height, having bedrooms at each end and a
dining-room in the centre, with space below to contain skittle
alleys, workshops, &c., so as to admit of the men en-
joying exercise and amusement in the open air without being
exposed to the direct rays of the sun or to the inclemency of
the weather in the rainy season.

On the 27th November the Zenobia, having the members
of the Burmese Embassy on board, arrived off Fort William,
and the necessary arrangements were made for their landing
in state on the following afternoon. The Government House
in Fort William having been prepared for their reception, I
was deputed to escort the head of the party to his temporary
abode. As the carriage passed over the drawbridge and
entered the Fort under a salute from the neighbouring
battery, on perceiving that the roadway was lined with troops,
not understanding that they were paraded to do him honour,
my companion was evidently under the impression that I
was carrying him to prison, and, seizing my hand, exclaimed
that he was willing to sign anything that might be required
of him. I at once undeceived him; but I am inclined to
believe that to the last he was under some idea that the
Mission had been lodged within the fortress with a view to
their intimidation.

The dress of the members of the Mission was certainly
somewhat fantastic. Their hats, which were apparently very
heavy and covered with gold or gilding, were shaped like
pagodas ; their jackets were made of party-coloured silk, and
had small wings behind the shoulders; their lower extremities
were wrapped in a silk sheet, somewhat similar to the camboy
worn by the Singalese. Rank in Burmah is denoted by the
number of strings in the necklace and the number of points in
the hat, of the former, the greatest number allowed is twelve,
except in the case of a member of the royal family. Princes
of the blood royal occasionally wear as many as twenty-four.

On the 11th the Governor-General held a grand Durbar
for the reception of the envoys. On the 13th they dined at
Government House, and apparently enjoyed the good things
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offered with great gusto, not being troubled with any
scruples of caste, and on the 18th they attended the grand
parade, at which almost all the troops of the Presidency divi.
sion were present, held before the Governor-General on the
racecourse. 1 was again required to take charge of the
envoys, but did not find them very communicative. They
did not seem to take any interest in the manceuvres, and the
only remark made upon the subject was to the effect that,
as the Burmese Cavalry had large flappers of leather attached
to their saddles, they made much more noise in charging
than our horsemen. I presume that they imagined that the
noise would frighten theinrr enemies.

On the 3rd of February, 1855, the railway to Ranigunge
was formally opened, a large party proceeded by train to that
station, returning, after the usual speechifying, the same day
to Calcutta. I find in my diary the following entry. The
expectations 1t set forth may now fairly be said to be realized,
although, doubtless, their fulfilment was delayed by the crisis
through which India subsequently passed.

‘““ A new era has this day opened upon India. Civilization,
following in the wake of the iron-horse, will henceforward
advance with rapid strides. The great barrier of national
prejudices, consecrated by an existence for centuries, will
rapidly disappear, and, in many years, the distinctions of
caste, which have hitherto, aided by the wiles and machina-
tions of a powerful sacerdotal class, exercised so complete
a thraldom over thousands of our fellow-subjects, must
cease to exist, and the outcast Pariah and the haughty
Brahmin will daily be brought into closer contact. The
apathy inherent in the native character must also give way
to the demands of the tyrant steam, who allows of no delay
in executing his behests. The resources of this great country,
as yet but little known, will become fully developed as the
grand arteries of railway communication connect the great
emporiums of commerce. The grain of Bengal will no longer
be permitted to lie idle in the different marts whilst there
are mouths to be fed in the Upper Provinces, and the cotton-
fields of Central India no longer be allowed to remain half
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tilled for want of carriage to convey their produce to the
sea, whilst a stream of commerce will flow steadily between
England and her greatest dependency, adding to the welfare
and happiness of the inhabitants of both countries, of the
rulers and the ruled.”

My health having given way owing to the effects of my
severe wounds, I was recommended by the Medical Board to
proceed to KEngland. In notifying this decision to the
Governor-General’s military secretary, I pointed out that as a
sea voyage would probably set me up, whilst through my
knowledge of the language my services might be found
useful in Persia, I should be glad of employment with the
force which, consequent on the war in the Crimea, I felt
sure must, ere long, enter the country either as an ally or an
enemy. I received an answer to the effect that there was no
probability of an expedition to Persia. A similar reply was
subsequently sent me to a communication addressed, after
my arrival in England, to the authorities at the Board of
Control.

About this time a native officer of Irregular Cavalry called
on me, and the conversation turning on the Crimean war, he
expressed his surprise that the Government had not made
use of the native troops in the pending struggle, stating that
there would be no want of volunteers if they were called for,
thus showing that the question of their extended employ-
menthad already engaged the attention of our native soldiery,
whilst their minds had not been poisoned by the rumours
relative to proposed attacks upon their religion—which even
then were in circulation, for I had been some weeks previously
informed by a native friend that it was reported in the bazaar
that three enactments were about to be published, viz. :—

1st. Prohibiting the performance of circumcision amongst
the Mahommedans before the age of 18 years.

2nd. Prohibiting the betrothal of females before the age
of 16 years and without their own consent.

3rd. Prohibiting the sale of grain, which was to be made
a Government monopoly.

There can be little doubt that these reports were the pre.
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cursors of those subsequently spread with the view of leading
the sepoys to believe that they were to be deprived of their
caste, and thus inducing them to rise against us.

We left Calcutta on the 28th of April, reaching Galle on the
3rd of May. Here we received a large influx of passengers.
On one side was to be seen an Iipiscopalian Bishop with his
shovel hat; on the other a Catholic Hierarch with his red
stockings; here a Yankee calculates than he aint well fixed ;
there a Frenchman in an excited state rushes in all directions
looking for his berth, which there is not the smallest chance
of his ever finding; several Australians collect together,
looking very jolly, and apparently quite ready to rough it to
any extent that may be necessary. Anxious mammas and
papas were busy lugging about portmanteaus and carpet bags,
and running after little urchins of all colours, from the clear
white to the pure black, whilst an official from Hong Kong
looked terribly put out at finding himself after all a nobody.
We duly reached England early in June. In August I attended
the dinner given by the Court of Directors to Lord Canning,
where I formed the following opinion of his lordship, which
subsequent experience only confirmed, viz., that he was a
man of fair judgment and good abilities, with great kindli-
ness of heart and sincerity of purpose, and would be a
zealous and hard-working servant of the State.

The social gatherings to do honour to their great governors
and commanders enabled the Court of Directors, not only to
show attentions to those civil and military servants who
merited the distinction and thus soothed the feelings of many
a veteran who felt hurt at the neglect he experienced after
having, perhaps, materially aided towards maintaining that
vast Empire of which Englishmen are naturally proud, and
which has certainly added to the national grandeur and
prosperity, but also to ascertain the opinions and acquire some
knowledge of the characters and capabilities of the men on
whom they had to depend for the proper execution of their
instructions. Itis much to be regretted that, at present, the
Secretary of State has no means, through public levees
or otherwise, of makinghimself personally acquainted with the
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members of the great services over which he presides, and
deriving from sources, outside his immediate advisers in the
Council, valuable information relative to several of the vexed
questions upon which his right decision may be of the utmcst
importance, not merely to the safety and welfare of our
Kastern possessions, but to the interests of Great Britain.
On the 22nd I crossed over to France, and having called
upon the Marshal commanding in Paris, was kindly accorded
permission to join his suite on the occasion of the review to
be held in honour of Her Majesty the Queen. Having
fortunately succeeded in hiring a decent charger, on the
afternoon of the 24th I accordingly presented myself
at the Bureau of the Etat Major, in the Place Ven-
dome, and accompanied the Marshal and his staff to the
Champ de Mars. Here we joined the troops, between 30,000
and 40,000 men of all arms, drawn up in columuns, cavalry
on the right and infantry on the left, facing one another, so
as to form a street from the Kcole Militaire to the Pont de
Jena, the horse artillery and field batteries of the Imperial
Guard lining the road close to the bridge. After giving
orders to some of the superior officers, the Marshal, with his
brilliant staff, rode down the street and across the bridge,
where he awaited the arrival of their Imperial and Royal
Majesties. Upon the approach of the carriages we joined
the cortége en route to the Ecole Militaire, where the Queen
alighted and ascended the balcony prepared for her reception,
and the troops commenced to march past in quarter distance
columns of squadrons and grand divisions, the Zouaves of
the Guard, followed by the Chasseurs de Vincennes, leading.
The troops seemed all in first-rate order. The horse artillery
and the cavalry, especially the Guides, were well mounted,
and the infantry, though those of the line were small men,
looked hardy and active soldiers. After the march past the
troops reformed on their original ground, and the Queen,
escorted by the Emperor and the whole of the staff,
again passed down the street and drove to the Hotel des
Invalides. The pace was somewhat rapid. There was a
good deal of tailing off, and when the carriages stopped the
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first rank was almost entirely composed of British officers.
On the 31st I started on a tour through the north of Europe,
in the course of which I visited Brussels, Cologne, Berlin,
Dresden, Prague, Vienna, Salzburg, and Munich, traversed
the Saxon Switzerland and a part of the Tyrol, and
steamed up the Danube and down the Rhine, a most en-
joyable trip.

I, of course, went over the field of Waterloo, and then dis-
covered the cause of Napoleon’s remark that Jerome had
lost him the battle. The French had posted two batteries
on a rising ground in front of Chateau Hougomont, of which
the fire must have rendered the building and adjoining
orchard untenable. These batteries having been annoyed by
the enfilading fire of some guns on the British right, instead
of attempting to silence their assailants, withdrew by Jerome's
orders.

I naturally gave attention to the armies of the various
countries through which I passed. In Belgium the troops,
though young, the period of service heing eight years, ap-
peared to be well set up, and so far as I could judge from a
visit to the barracks of the Chasseurs, their regimental in-
terior economy was of a high standard. The Prussian troops,
at that time, were, as a rule, mere boys, and hardly gave a
promise of becoming the eflicient soldiers they subsequently
proved themselves to be; whilst the Bavarians, though larger
and older men, had not a very military appearance. The
Saxons, on the contrary, though small in stature, were ex-
tremely smart looking, and 1 was particularly struck with
the firm and steady step with which they moved. With the
exception of their cavalry, which was remarkably fine, the
Austrian soldiery, though of fair size and sturdy form, had
a heavy look; every officer, however, as a rule, was in ap-
pearance the beau ideal of a soldier. Unfortunately they
were cvidently educated in the tactics of the old school. I
attended one of their grand manwuavres in the neighbourhood
of Vienna, in which an army, supposed to have been beaten,
was pursued by the victor ; the retreating force properly left
a strong detachment in an old gravel pit on the brow of a
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hill over which it retired, and which commanded the main
road by which the pursuers were advancing ; upon the advance
guard of the latter being received with a sharp fire it retired,
and a battery was brought to the front. The fire of the
artillery naturally could have little effect upon infantry well
under cover, whilst the gunners were much exposed. After
some time, therefore, the guns were withdrawn, and a line of
infantry advanced. Instead of covering their movements by
a cloud of skirmishers overlapping the pit, and then making
a rush to seize it, the line was halted, and continued to fire
volleys, which would have made but little impression upon
their opponents, until after considerable delay a battalion,
which had ascended the hill to the right, advancing along the
ridge, opened a fire which took the pit in flank and reverse,
when its defenders necessarily evacuated the position and
hurriedly retreated ; but, in the meanwhile, they had gained
for their own force most valuable time.

At Potsdam there were several relics of Frederic the
Great, including his gloves, boots, ribands and orders, a book
that caught fire whilst he was reading, a snuff-box that
preserved his life by turning off a ball that would otherwise
have struck him, and his writing-table, of which Napoleon
cut off a piece of the velvet. The room in which the great
monarch dined, when he wished to discuss any important
subject, and in which, it i1s said, be planned the seven years’
war, was most comfortably fitted up, and the table was so
arranged as to sink down when necessary into the kitchen
below, so that the presence of servants could be entirely
dispensed with.

The announcement of the evacuation of the south side of
Sevastopol was not a source of satisfaction to many Germans,
From the caricatures that appeared in the print shops at
Berlin, ridiculing the efforts of France and England to take
the fortress, it was clear that in that capital there was a
strong feeling in favour of Russia. Doubtless, in this respect,
a decided change has of late years taken place.

The scenery passed in the journey from Linz, on the
Danube, to Salzburg, was, in many parts, more especially in
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the neighbourhood of Lake Gmunden and the famous water-
ing place, Ischl, extremely picturesque. The salt mines,
about nine miles from Salzburg, are well worth a visit. In
the first instance, it 1s necessary to ascend a steep hill, at
the summit of which there is a building where the services
of guides can be procured. The traveller, after putting on a
miner’s suit over his own clothes, enters the bowels of mother
earth by a gallery about six feet in height and three feet in
width, well constructed of timber, and having on each side
a large tube for carrying off the water. After walking about
a quarter of an hour he comes to an inclined plane of con-
siderable length, and at an angle of about 75°, down which
he slides at a rapid pace. To prevent falling, which would
be almost certain death, he guides himself by a thick rope
stretched parallel to the wooden plane upon which he sits.
The friction is so great that the hand has to be protected by
a very thick leather glove. As guides and visitors all carry
lighted candles in their hats, the sight from above of a party
gliding one after the other into the dark abyss below is very
startling. The gunides at first objected to my trying the
descent, lest I should be upset by my wooden leg striking
the side during my rapid flight; but their objections were
overcome. After traversing one or two long galleries the
edge of a subterranean lake is reached. This is traversed
by a floating platform, which upon a whistle from a guide is
seen mysteriously crossing from the opposite shore. Then,
after passing through a series of galleries and descending
several inclined planes, as well as visiting a species of chapel
where there are several fine monuments to the memory of
various Emperors cut out in the rock, a hall is reached, in
which there is a trestle upon wheels. The members of a
party all place themselves astride upon this, when they are
drawn at a quick rate through a very narrow passage, at the
end of which an apparently bright star is visible. This star
rapidly increases in size, until suddenly the trestle emerges
into daylight at the foot of the mountain previously ascended.

On the 28th of May, 1856, I started on my return to India
via Paris, Lucerne and Venice, thence down the Adriatic,
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touching at Corfu. At Versailles I had an opportunity of
visiting the quarters of one of the regiments of Carabiniers,
The stables were very good, clean and in capital order, which
was not the case as regards the soldiers’ barracks. The
horses were hardly powerful enough for heavy cavalry. The
men were tall, but not so well knit as Englishmen of the
same height. They were well dressed and equipped in re-
spect to ontward appearance, but due attention was not paid
to their inner garments, which certainly showed a want of
cleanliness. Their rations seemed good, and, owing to their
being better cooked, were possibly more palatable and nutri-
tious than those served out to our own soldiers. At that
time cooking was certainly a weak point in the British
army.

The diligence in which I crossed over the St. Gothard
was the first that had made the journey that season. The
summit of the pass was covered with snow several feet deep,
and the descent appeared very dangerous, as a single false
step on the part of one of the horses might have precipitated
us down a steep precipice. I was the only Englishman in
the conveyance, and on entering the Austrian territories I
found the officials most courteous, for, as on a previous
occasion at Vienna, they appeared to consider the fact of
my being a British officer a suflicient gnarantee for passing
my luggage without examination. The Austrian troops in
Italy wore a uniform consisting of a brown holland tunic
with coloured cuffs and collar, which was very neat and well
suited to the climate.

When visiting one of the public buildings at Milan I
entered into a conversation with an Italian priest, who spoke
French. As it appeared that he was, like myself, engaged in
seeing the lions of the place, I offered him a seat in my
carriage, which he gladly accepted, and acted as my cicerone.
I found him a pleasant companion. We, of course, drove to
the Chapel of St. Maria del Gracia, to see the famous paint-
ing of Leonardo da,Vinci. It bears but little resemblance
to the original picture, having been once or twice almost
effaced and then re-coloured.
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At Alexandria, where I remained some days, T found Sir
James Outram. He appeared very ill, but my visits seemed
to cheer him, and before I left I had the pleasure of noticing
in him a change for the better. At Aden I spent the night
with an old medical friend, who informed me that the pre.
valent disease was a species of heart complaint, which car-
ried off both Kuropeans and Natives, and of which the
symptoms are sometimes similar to those caused by the
effects of strychnine. On the 12th of August I reached
Calcutta, and resumed charge of my office.

On the 1st of September cholera of a most virulent cha-
racter broke out in the wing of H.M. 63rd Regiment, then
quartered in the Fort, nine deaths occurring the first night.
The next day there was heavy rain, and the sickness abated ;
but as it again increased on the 3rd, in addition to occupy-
ing the minds of the men by making them change their
barracks, a large detachment was despatcheq to Chinsurah;
and I proposed, if necessary, sending away the entire wing,
merely retaining a sufficient number to furnish weekly
guards. On the night of the 7th, however, there was a
violent thunderstorm, which seemed to clear the air, and
from that moment there was not a single fresh case of
disease or a single death amongst those who had been pre-
vionsly attacked. Cholera is, certainly, often connected with
atmospheric influences, and when these predisposing in-
fluences exist, fright wiil often engender the disease, hence
it is essential to prevent the minds of soldiers from dwelling
on the sickness around them, and, as far as possible, afford
them occupation and amusement. When mixing with them
I always endeavoured to dispel their fears by pointing out
that I had twice suffered from severe attacks, and yet
recovered.

On the 17th the arrangements for the expedition to Persia
were announced. Had we only adopted a bold policy when
war was first declared against Russia, we should have en-
tered Persia as allies, and enabled the Shah to recover his
lost Provinces, as well as checkmated our great rival as
regards his Asiatic policy. Our influence in Persia, where
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it ought to be paramount, has been allowed to wane. We
have made no endeavours to retain our former political
power, and with Persian troops foreigners now occupy the
position which ordinary foresight and diplomacy ought to
have secured for British officers.

On the 25th of September I received a visit from three
Native gentlemen, one of whom was the agent to the Ulwar
Rajah, who stated that some time back a peasant residing at
the village of Aurungabad, whilst ploughing in his field, had
met with considerable opposition to his ploughshare. Upon
investigating the cause of the obstruction, he came upon some
brickwork forming the top of an underground apartment.
This was discovered to be full of treasure, estimated, as
stated on a copper tablet found near the entrance, to be of
the value of three crores of rupees. The peasant gave in-
formation on the subject to the owner of the village, a banker
named Kirpa Ram, who instructed his agent in Calcutta
to ascertain what amount would fall to his share in the event
of his disclosing the matter to Government. Upon hearing
that he would only be entitled to receive one lac of rupees,
he again wrote begging his agent to keep the matter secret.
The latter had, however, previously mentioned the circum-
stance to one of his friends, through whom it had become

known.
As I was well aware, from conversations with some of

the native officers, when we were en-
camped at Muttra, that it was currently
believed that a large amount of treasure
had been buried in the neighbourhood,
I told my friends that they had better
place themselves in communication with
Mr. Edmonstone, the Secretary in the
Foreign Department, to whom I gave
them anote. It appeared that similar in-
formation had reached the Government
from other sources, and it was accord-
ingly determined, as shown by Lord
Canning’s note, recorded in the margin,

Barrackpore,
Sept. 27, 1856.
My dear Sir,

As you are going to
enact a chapter in the
¢ Arabian Nights,” pray
let me hear privately, as
well as officially, a full
report of your adven-
tures. Possibly there
may be matter to tell
which can be better told
in a privats than in a
public letter.

1 make this request on
the chance of your find-
ing something to detain
you at this mysterious
spot.

I am, my dear Sir,

Yours very truly,
CANNING,

0
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to depute me to Muttra to inquire into the truth of the
story.

I left Calcutta on the 30th of September, and travelling
night and day reached Agra on the 6th of October, the only
incident occurring en route being a conversation at a dawk
bungalow with a son-in-law of the Nawab of Oudh, a chatty,
agreeable native gentleman. Our acquaintance arose from
my supplying him with some tea, of which I was informed
that he was in need. I continued my journey on the 7th,
arriving at Muttra the following morning.

Upon my communicating the object of my visit to my
kind host, Mr. Thornhill, the Collector, he stated that a re-
port as to the discovery of treasure had been made to him
the previous cold weather; that he mentioned the subject
to the Lieutenant-Governor, but that no credence was then
given to the story. We, therefore, determined to endeavour
to elicit the truth from his informant, as well as from Kirpa
Ram, so as to have two strings to our bow.

My first step was to ascertain the position of Arunga-
bad, which I found to be situated about five miles from
Muttra, whilst between it and the river Jumna were the
ruins of an old fort and of a summer house, said to have
been a favourite resort of Alum Gir, by whom, according to
common tradition, a large amount of treasure had been
deposited in the vault below.

When Kirpa Ram presented himself, I was satisfied that he
would give trouble, for although he was a man of respectable
position and family, the signs of duplicity and low cunning
were clearly depicted in his countenance. He acknowledged
that he was aware of the existence of the treasure, but asserted
that he had made a promise to the original discoverer not
to divulge the secret without his sanction, which would take
a few days to obtain; and that, moreover, he should require
a guarantee under the hand of the Governor-General that
he should receive one-half the amount. Mr. Thornhill’s
informant equally spoke positively as to the existence of the
treasure, and stated that the copper tablet was in his posses-
sion. He agreed to produce it on being promised 5 per cent.
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of the sum discovered. He subsequently, however, retracted
everything he had said, whilst Kirpa Ram’s statements at
our several interviews were so contradictory, that I came
to the conclusion that, although he really believed that the
treasure existed, he was possibly the dupe of more wily con-
federates who were playing upon his known avarice and
covetousness. In this opinion I was confirmed on hearing
from a native banker that it was no uncommon practice for
persons to fabricate tablets and, having given them the ap-
pearance of age by the means of corrosive sublimate, to bury
them near old buildings in order that they might afterwards
dig them up and make money on the pretence of having dis-
covered hidden treasure. Notwithstanding his entreaties for
a few more days’ grace to enable him to point out the sub-
terranean apartment, I consequently determined to close the
inquiry, leaving, however, all the parties concerned under the
surveillance of the police.

After my return to Calcutta, the Government received
another communication on thesubject from a Mirza at Patna,
who promised to bind himself under a penalty of 5,000 rs.
to indicate the exact spot where the treasure was concealed,
provided he was guaranteed one-fourth the amount. The
breaking out of the mutiny, however, precluded further in-
vestigation, and the secret,* if there really was one, has not
yet been unravelled.

Owing to the kindness of my host and hostess my sojourn
at Muttra proved very agreeable. In the course of my stay,
besides seeing the ruinous temple at Muttra and its imme-
diate neighbourhood, I visited Gobindhur and Deig. At
the former I witnessed the illumination of the Maun Singh
Tulao. The whole of the different flights of steps round
the tank were covered with small lamps, rows of which
extended in some instances along the walls of the adjacent

* An old friend, a distinguished member of the Civil Service, stated that
on one occasion, a considerable amount of treasure that had been discovered
buried in a field, was brought into his office in a jar of which the descrip-
tion tallied exactly with that given of the vessels said to have been seen at
Aurungabad.

0 2
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temples and other buildings, the dark masses of which, some-
times brought into relief by a flood of light, and at others
remaining in deep shade, had a most picturesque effect; in
fact, I have rarely looked upon a prettier scene. We had a
fine view of the whole sheet of water, which is about half a
mile in circumference. The ghats and the whole of the sides
of the tank, as well as the walls of the neighbouring build-
ings were, of course, covered with natives, and the din from
the tomtoms, singing, &c., was almost deafening.

As we approached Deig, after entering the Bhurtpore
district, the neglected appearance of the country was in
marked contrast to that we had just passed through in the
British territories; for miles it was entirely inundated, whilst
in many places every vestige of a road had disappeared, and we
were obliged to have recourse to elephants to reach the city,
which itself had a very miserable aspect, though it ought to
have been as prosperous as any of the British towns of equal
size, being situated in the midst of a most fertile tract. The
fort, which was composed of a high mud wall sur-
rounded by a wet ditch, and having round towers, with
cavaliers, at the different angles, was apparently fast
falling into decay.. This, indeed, was not to be regretted, as
1t was a sign of the prevalence of peace. The palace, which
consists of a mass of buildings of carved sandstone, is sitnated
in an extensive garden between the fort and the outworks
captured by the British on the occasion of the siege. On
two sides there are large tanks ; the one towards the country
beivg a fine piece of water. The buildings, as respects their
architecture resemble all those erected by Jhats, being a com-
posite of the Hindoo and Mahommedan styles. One small
block appropriated to the zenanah is of white marble;
the pavement and side walls being in many places tesselated,
and also inlaid with precious stones in the form of different
flowers, having a very beautiful effect. On each side there
is a small cistern containing several fountains, of which the
jets reach to the roof. The whole garden is filled with foun-
tains, about 2,000 in number, all of which were playing
when we walked through, the effect being most pleasing to
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the eye and ear. It was sad, however, to notice the evident
want of care evinced by the authorities under whose charge
the palace had been placed.

I reached Calcutta on the 13th November, en route I spent
a day or two at Agra, where I availed myself of the oppor-
tunity of again visiting the Secundra Press, a most in-
teresting institution, the whole process of bookmaking,
from the casting of the type to the turning out of the
work, not even omitting engraving or the most elaborate
binding, was carried on. The superintendent, Mr. Longden,
who was evidently a very superior man, was a great advocate
for making use of the resources of the country, and thus in
a great measure becoming independent of Kurope. He dis-
covered in the hills near Kalka, a very fine bed of gypsum
from which he prepared the plaster of paris for his stereotype
castings, and also procured from the same neighbourhood
some very good specimens of boxwood, which he considered
quite equal to that obtained at home.
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CHAPTER VL

Change in Feeling on the Part of the Natives in the Upper Provinces—

Ox

Sulky Bearing of the Sepoys - Conversation overheard by Sergeant
Patterson on the 26th of January, 1857 — Precautionary Measures
Adopted—Report from Native Non-Commissioned Officer regarding
the Greased Cartridges—Intended Attack on Fort William, 10th of
March—Trial aud Punishment of the Mutineers--The Missionary and
the Sepoys—Mutiny of the 19th Regiment Native Infantry—Gallant
Behaviour of General Hearsey—News of the Outbreak at Meerut—
Correspondence between Rajah Maun Singh and Members of the Suite
of the King of Oudh-—Queen’s Birtbday Parade—Conduct of the Seikhs
—Occupation of the Treasury, Bank, and Mint—Formation of the
Calcutta Volunteers— Seditious Publications in Native Press—Capture
of a Spy on the 13th of June—Calcutta on the 14th of June—Escape
of the Spy— Arrest of the King of Oudh—Sentence of Death upon a
Native Nen-Commissioned Officer—Arrest of three Mahommedans—
Trial of Natives inciting the Sepoys to Mutiny—Sanction for a European
Guard at Government House—Conduct of the Body Guard—Anecdote
of Lord Clyde—Arrival of Reinforcements and Establishment of a
general Canteen—Valuable Services of Medical Officers—The Ma-
lingerer—Mutiny of Commissariat Coolies—Meeting to do Honour to
the Memories of Havelock, Niel, and Nicholson— Troops on the Alert
in Calcutta—The Arrival of Commissioner Yeh—A Native’s idea as
to the Causes of the Mutiny—Dinner given by the Calcutta Volunteers
—Arrival from the Upper Provinces of the Shannon’s Brigade—King
of Oudh’s Opinion on the India Bill—Presentation of the Victoria
Cross to Gunner Connolly—State Prisoners in Fort William — Conduct
of a Native Detachment—Spirit displayed by Civil and Military Officials
— Unfortunate Condemnation of a Loyal Soldier—Self-Abnegation of
Members of the Civil Service.

the 5th of January, 1857, Nawab Amanulluh, who

had accompanied me to Muttra, and whom I left sick at
Cawnpore, paid me a visit. He stated that he had been
much surprised at perceiving the great change that had
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taken place as respects the feeling with which we were
regarded by the natives in the Upper Provinces. Formerly,
though not loved, we were respected as the best rulers they
had ever had ; now the disaffection to our rule was very
general throughout the country, both amongst high and
low, and had even extended to the soldiery. Another native
friend also informed me that amongst the native princes
there was great uneasiness, fearing lest they might suffer
the same fate as the King of Oudh. Even my native
groom once gravely told me that he thought the times must
be out of joint, as he was not now treated by his fellows
with the respect he considered due to the position he occu-
pied in my service. Perhaps, however, his liberal opinions
may have been the cause of this treatment, for he once
informed me that, although the obligations imposed upon
him as one of a brotherhood precluded his openly avowing
his principles, he believed in a future, where all castes and
creeds would be equal, and where all would be suitably
punished according to their deserts with reference to their
conduct in this life. He turned into ridicule the notion of
a person becoming defiled because he ate with men of
another caste, or partook of the flesh of a cow. He
asserted he could see no difference between milk and beef,
both were animal productions.

I had myself, immediately on my return from Europe,
been much impressed with the sulky bearing of the sepoys,
so different to that to which I had been accustomed. Men
were in the habit of passing officers without saluting—a
breach of discipline which, although apparently slight, I never
overlooked, as it always leads to graver acts of insubordi-
nation. I had long anticipated some outbreak on the part
of the native troops, and, in private letters, to members
both of the Board of Control and Court of Directors,
pointed out what must be the natural result of the system
of centralization introduced into the Bengal Army, under
which officers had become mere cyphers, and consequently
ceased to take an interest either in their men or in their
duties.
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Commanded as the sepoys are by officers alien in race and
religion, their loyalty and efficiency must depend almost
entirely upon the influence exercised by their immediate
superiors.

On the forenoon of the 26th I had just entered my office
when an officer was announced, who had arrived on duty
direct from Barrackpore; after transacting his business,
when on the point of leaving, he casually remarked that a
strange occurrence had taken place the previous evening at
that station; the Telegraph Bungalow had been set on fire
apparently by an incendiary; hardly had he left when the
head of my subordinate staff, a steady warrant officer, re-
ported that one of my sergeants had related to his comrades
an extraordinary story, with the purport of which he thought
it right I should be made acquainted, though it might perhaps,
after all, be a matter of no importance.

The sergeant having been summoned to my presence, I
directed him to repeat the statement he had previously
made; it was to the following effect : ‘*“ That, whilst he was
taking his bath, he overheard two natives, evidently sepoys,
conversing ; that they alluded to the fact that myself and
the other principal officers of the garrison, as well as the
arsenal and the different magazines, were completely in their
hands; that the few Europeans in the barracks would be
fast asleep, and could therefore be easily disposed of, and
stated that it was the intention of the mnative troops to rise
that night, seize Fort William, and destroy all the Europeans,
ending by saying that their regiment had commenced the
game by setting fire the previous night to the Telegraph
Bungalow.” Although only separated from the speakers by a
high wall, the sergeant had some distance to traverse before
he could reach the place where they stood. By the time he
had arrived there they had disappeared, though not very
far off was a native guard, to which it was natural to sup-
pose they belonged.

It was clear that the sergeant could not have concocted
the story, whilst the information I had previously received
corroborated the remark regarding the burning of the Tele-
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graph Bungalow. Moreover, although I had not then heard
of the circumstance that had occurred at Dumdum, after
the warnings I had received I could not be surprised at
hearing that it was the intention of the sepoys to revolt.
However, in order to prevent any feeling of alarm, 1 dis-
missed the conductor and the sergeant with the remark, that
natives often talked a great deal of nonsense, at the same
time thanking the former for bringing the matter to my
notice, in which I said he had acted rightly.

At that time the European portion of the garrison of Fort
William consisted only of a weak wing of H.M. 53rd Foot.
The barracks were in course of alteration and reconstruc-
tion, and it had consequently been found necessary to
quarter the other wing at Dumdum and a company at
Chinsurah. There were no European guards at the gate-
ways, the guard-rooms being each tenanted by a solitary
non-commissioned officer, to receive the passes of the men on
leave, &c. There was but a small main guard, whilst the
strength of the arsenal guard, which was only posted at
night, had been reduced to a corporal and three privates. Not
wishing any orders likely to cause apprehension to appear
in the garrison order book, I walked to the quarters of the
officer commanding the 53rd, and, under the authority vested
in me, as the representative of the Governor-General, I
directed him to select five intelligent men, one of whom
should, as it were, saunter down to each gateway and join
the non-commissioned officer already there; to remain
during the night, so that one might keep awake to watch
the movements of the native guard on the opposite side of
the roadway and report any circumstance that appeared
suspicious. I also instructed him, at night, to quietly double
the main guard and the arsenal guard, and so to arrange
that, without harassing the men unnecessarily, two hundred
should always be in the neighbourhood of the barracks ready
to get under arms at a moment’s notice. I then ordered the
officer commanding the main guard to send out patrols, at
uncertain intervals, after dusk, and at once to intimate to
me any incident of importance that might occur. Having
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taken these precautions,which, in all human probability, saved
Fort William and Calcutta, and possibly our Indian Empire
(vide statement of Duriou Sing Jemadar, 34th Regiment
N.L.*), I drove to Government House, and after submitting
a report of my proceedings, took the opportunity of point-
ing out to the Governor-General the serious nature of the
crisis that was pending, as well as some of the causes that
had, I believed, led to the disaffection of the native troops
and the foreign influence that had been brought to bear
upon them. I was subsequently informed that papers found
in the Persian camp at Muhamrah, to some extent, substan.-
tiated the opinion I then expressed. Lord Canning approved
of the measures I had taken, and as I stated that it would
not be wise to relax the precautions I had deemed necessary,
and the duty would therefore fall somewhat heavy on the
few Huropean troops at my disposal, consented to my bring-
ing an additional company of the 53rd Regiment into Fort
William. He also informed me of the discontent that had
been evinced by the men at the School of Musketry, and
mentioned that it was the intention of Government to allow
the men either to make up their own grease or to attend at
the arsenal to witness the preparation of the cartridges.

'On the 28th, whilst I was walking in my garden, I was
accosted by the non-commissioned officer of my guard;
alluding to the new cartridges, he said that the men,
especially the old soldiers, were perfectly aware of the
liberality displayed towards them by Government, and felt
grateful for it. For instance, they remembered that hos-
pital stoppages were abolished ; that sweepers, &c., were

* Q. Were the sepoys aware that unusual precautions were taken in the
Fort *

A. Yes, a sepoy came out and told us that precautions were made.

Q. Have you heard what would have been attempted if these precautlons
had not been taken ?

A. Sabahdar Ramlall would bave taken the Fort.

Q. Have you heard what caused the abandonment of the design on the
26th ?

A. I afterwards heard that a rumour had been sent up to Burrackpore to
tell them that the authorities were on the alert in the Fort ?
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now paid by the State; that the advantages of the invalid
and pension establishments had been increased ; that soldiers
could obtain the Order of Merit, and that their accoutre-
ments had been much lightened and rendered easier. They
also were convinced that wittingly their religious prejudices
would not be offended, still they were all feeling much
aggrieved at the introduction of the new cartridges; that
it was rumoured that they were prepared with hog’s lard
and beef suet ; and though possibly this might not be the case,
yet a report once gaining ground amongst a large body was
difficult to disprove, and the only way to render the men
perfectly satisfied would be to appoint a high caste Hindoo
and a Mahommedan to superintend the making-up of the
cartridges in the arsenal. 1 told him that he must be well
aware that mneither Government nor their officers would
sanction any practice contrary to their religious tenets, and
that probably some such plan as he proposed might be
adopted, upon which he appeared much pleased. He sub-
sequently reported to me that the men’s minds were quite
at ease, consequent on the permission accorded to them to
witness the preparation of the cartridges. Unfortunately,
the arsenal authorities objected to the arrangement, and the
permission was afterwards withdrawn.

On the 3rd of February I spoke to the native officers,
and pointed out the neglect of duty of which they had been
guilty, in not reporting the feeling prevalent amongst their
men. They, to a certain extent, acknowledged their guilt,
but stated in extenuation that they had been unwilling to
bring the discontent existing among the sepoys to my notice,
as, though they were aware that it prevailed, they could not
prove it. They said that the men were satisfied with the
new order that had been issued, allowing them to purchase
their own grease. The non-commissioned officer, however,
seemed to think there was still an uneasy feeling amongst
the sepoys, and mentioned that it was rumoured that they
were to be made Christians, though he could not say how
the report originated. He was an intelligent man; allud-
ing to General Nott’s campaign in Afghanistan, he remarked
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that the native troops were always ready to follow the
general wherever he chose to lead them, because he was
always ready to listen to them and afford them redress in
the case of any real grievance.

The 10th of March, the day originally fixed for the féte
given by the Maha Rajah of Gwalior at the Botanical
Gardens, was the next occasion on which, not knowing that
due arrangements had been made to guard against such
an attempt, and anticipating the absence of most of the
European officers, the sepoys contemplated effecting the
seizure of Fort William. The féte, however, was post-
poned. This, doubtless, shook their confidence in the ex-
pected success of their plans, and the emissaries despatched
during the night to summon the guards* in the town of
Calcutta to the assistance of their comrades in the fort,
instead of being listened to were made prisoners, and sent
back under an escort. They were duly brought to trial
and sentenced to fourteen years’ penal servitude. They
suffered the ignominy of being stripped of their uniforms
and handed over to the charge of the prison authorities, by
whom they were placed in irons, in the presence of their
comrades at a general parade, ordered for the purpose, at
which 1 pointed out to the troops the disgrace they had
brought upon themselves, their regiment, and the whole
army ; the advantages they had lost, and the degradation
they would suffer; concluding my speech by exhorting the
sepoys on all occasions, when any suspicion entered their
minds, to proceed at once to their officers and ask their
advice, and to pay no heed to the instigations of designing
men who might endeavour to incite them to mutiny. A
native officer, who was a member of the court-martial,

* These emissaries belonged to my own guard, which was entirely native.
Through some oversight, intimation of the postponement of the party did
not reach me, and I accordingly drove to Garden Reach before discovering
my mistake. It was supposed that the men left immediately on my depar-
ture, but before they reached the Mint, to which they did not proceed
direct, it was known to others that I had returned to the fort, and it was
thought that my leaving had been a mere ruse.



Mutiny of the Ninetecnth, 205

observed to me, in the course of conversation, that we did
not know how to treat Orientals; that when I had satisfied
myself of the guilt of the prisoners, instead of convening a
court-martial, and thus delaying their punishment, I ought
to have ordered a parade the next morning, and caused them
to be blown away from guns, as such a measure would have
had a vesy beneficial eftect in deterring others from follow-
ing their example. I have little doubt that my friend knew
that the storm was brewing; but possibly he could adduce
no actual proof in support of his assertions, and consequently,
although perfectly loyal, he was afraid of giving a more
distinct warning lest he might be charged with spreading
false reports.

The sepoys of one regiment, stationed in the Upper
Provinces, having become imbued with the idea that the
Government wished to convert them to Christianity, and
with that view intended, in the first instance, to deprive
them by insidious means of their caste, addressed a mis-
sionary on the subject, he perfectly satisfied them of the
utter groundlessness of their fear, by representing that the
want of aid from the officers of the State was the great
obstacle that missionaries had to contend with, and that,
least of all would any interference be permitted with the
native troops. This regiment, which was commanded by
an officer of tact and judgment, although exposed to great
temptation, remained faithful to its allegiance.

The 19th Regiment Native Infantry having mutinied at
Berhampore, was ordered down to Barrackpore to be dis-
banded. This caused great excitement amongst the native
troops at that station. On the 29th of March a murderous
attack was made upon the adjutant of the 34th Regiment
by a sepoy of that corps, within sight of the regimental
quarter guard, which failed to render any assistance to their
officer, who was severely wounded. General Hearsey, com-
manding the division, behaved with great coolness and
gallantry on this occasion. He rode up to the native officer
of the guard with a loaded pistol, and called upon him to
do his duty. Seeing his determination, the men advanced,
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upon which the sepoy shot himself, though the wound did
not prove fatal, and he was afterwards tried and executed.
It was said that for a time the mutineer covered the general
with his musket, and on his aide-de-camp pointing this out,
the brave old man replied, “ Never mind me; the moment
he fires, you rush in and shoot him.” There can be no doubt
that the judgment and determination displayed by the
general prevented an outbreak taking place at Barrackpore
before the European troops could have reached the station
to overawe the mutinous native soldiery.

Although many incidents that occurred—amongst others
the discovery of a treasonable correspondence carried on by a
native officer of the 2nd Regiment Native Infantry—showed
that a feeling of disloyalty was still rife amongst the native
troops, after the disbandment of the 19th and 34th, the
latter too long delayed, the excitement appeared to be some-
what allayed. On the 14th of May, however, a rumour
reached Calcutta of an outbreak at Meerut and Delhi.
This rumour having been confirmed, I represented to the
Governor-General the necessity of our being prepared for
any emergency, recommending that another company of the
53rd should be brought into the Fort to admit of guards
being again posted at the gateways. His Lordship, at first,
seemed hardly to consider the measure necessary, and I was
in hopes that the reports from the north-west had been
exaggerated ; but the next day instructions were issued for
the whole wing of the corps to march in from Dumdum; it
was, therefore, clear that matters were considered serious,
and as a friend, who had been in the navy, had pointed out
to me the facilities for intercepting the troops forming the
Chinese expedition, I at once wrote to Colonel Birch on the
subject, remarking on the great moral effect that their
appearance would produce. I also indicated the necessity
for garrisoning the fort at Allahabad with a couple of com-
panies from the Invalid Battalion at Chunar.

About this time one of my native writers was asked by a
sepoy whether it was really true that the Government had
ordered bones to be mixed with flour with the view of taking



Corvespondence in Cipler. 207

away their caste. As I had learnt from other quarters that
the most extraordinary stories were being circulated, I again
sent for the senior commissioned and non-commissioned
officers and explained to them the absurdity of these reports,
as they well knew that no interference with their religion
would ever be sanctioned. This they acknowledged, and
promised to disabuse the minds of their men of the erroneous
impressions which they did not deny might be prevalent
amongst them, owing to the falsehoods that had been
propagated.

There can be little doubt that communications were taking
place between Rajah Maun Singh and some of the members
of the King of Oudh’s suite. I was informed that the
correspondence was conducted in cipher, a certain series of
letters being substituted for another. Of this cipher I was
furnished with the key. In some cases,the meaning given
to words differed from their ordinary signification; for
instance, the fort was styled the “Red Magazine,” and
European troops, ¢ White clothing.”” Native and European
soldiers were also alluded to respectively as red and white
wheat.

On the 24th of May I waited on the Governor-General to
take his orders relative to the parade to be held the next morn-
Ing in honour of Her Majesty’s birthday. Iproposed that the
balled ammunition in pouch with the native troops, which
would, as usual, be exchanged for the blank cartridges re-
quired for the feu de jote, should not be returned to them;
but his lordship would not sanction this arrangement unless
any symptoms of disaffection were displayed, when I had
discretionary power to act according to my own judgment.
I stated there was not the slightest chance of any overt act
being committed on parade; but, at the same time, in the
event of any disturbance in Calcutta, the fact of the sepoys
being in possession or not, of service cartridges would make
a difference of 200 men in the strength of the European
detachment I should be able to despatch for its suppression.
This argument was not deemed convincing. I could not
help awarding praise to Lord Canning for his great deter-
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mination, though I certainly thought there was some slight
want of prudence, considering that the lid was just begin-
ning, when a large number of Mahommedans would be in a
very excited state.

The parade, as I had anticipated, passed off quietly. The
ball given in the evening at Government House was fairly
attended, but certainly not kept up with the usual spirit.

On the 4th of June my orderly, who was a Seikh, repre-
sented to me that there were nearly « hundred Seikhs in
his corps, and that they were not to be confounded with
the Hindustanis; that they were not trammelled with the
prejudices of caste; and would eat fowls and drink toddy;
whilst they were prepared to go anywhere or do anything
they were ordered, and would be delighted to be incorpo.
rated in one company and attached to a Kuropean regiment;
that, under the existing arrangement, by which they were
distributed amongst different native companies, their services
were lost to the State, as, in the event of a mutiny, they would
be overpowered by their Hindustani comrades. I told him
that I felt assured he and his brother Seikhs would always
do their duty faithfully and well; and, having brought the
subject to the notice of the Governor-General, an order was
subsequently issued, embodying all the Seikhs attached to
the regiments at Barrackpore in a distinct corps, which
was employed in holding the important post of Ranee-
gunge, the then terminus of the railway.

On the forenoon of the 8th of June, Colonel Birch inti-
mated to me the intention of the Government to cause a
portion of the native guards at the Treasury, Bank, and
Mint to be relieved by European details, but directed that
no steps were to be taken to carry the measure into effect
until the receipt of further orders. These orders did not
reach me until eight o’clock p.m. I then marched out of
the fort with the detachment I had warned to be in readi-
ness. On arriving at the Treasury, of which the buildings
form a square, having a court-yard in the centre, I found
all the outer doors closed and locked, the only means of
access being a narrow passage terminating with a closed
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iron wicket, at which a sentry was posted, the guard being
within the court. I was afraid, if the sepoys suddenly
observed the Kuropeans coming up the passage, they might,
even though loyally disposed, become panic-stricken, and
open fire upon us, or, at all events, refuse to give us admit-
tance, in which case we should have been perfectly helpless,
as there were no means of forcing an entrance. I accord-
ingly took advantage of the cover of the building to halt
the detachment out of sight, though within hearing, and
rode alone up the passage; as it was no unusuval thing for
me to visit the gunards at night, the sentry, on receiving
my orders, unlocked the wicket. I then desired the native
officer to draw up his men, I remaining between them and
their arms, which were piled in front of the guard-room.
When they were drawn up, I explained to them that the
Government had determined that a portion of their duty
was to be taken by the Huropean troops, and consequently
that one-half of their number would return to Barrackpore.
I then called out to the officer commanding the European
detail to bring in his men, and therelief was quietly effected.
Under somewhat similar circumstances the necessary arrange-
ments were made at the Bank and Mint, but the duty was
not concluded until long past midnight. Colonel Birch,
who, being anxious as to the success of the measure, had
followed and watched my proceedings, remarked to a friend
that when he saw me ride up the Treasury passage, he did
not expect to see me come out again alive.

On the 11th, I received an order to wait upon the Governor-
General, when his lordship informed me that he proposed
sanctioning the formation of a Volunteer corps, and wished
to know my views respecting its organization. I explained
to him that, in my opinion, the corps should not be highly
drilled, but sufficiently so as to enable the men to act together
and to use their arms; that it should consist both of cavalry
and infantry; that the former should be employed chiefly
as patrols, and the latter stationed as pickets at the most
important buildings in the town, so as to form places of

rendezvous upon which others might concentrate; that
?
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the uniform should be brown holland or blue flannel ; that
old army non-commissioned officers (pensioners and time.
expired men) should be attached, to instil into them some
notions of discipline, and that the corps should be regularly
divided into troops and companies, each man being, as far as
possible, posted to the troop or company composed of persons
living in his own neighbourhood. My suggestions were
generally approved of, and I then took the opportunity of
bringing to his lordship’s notice the seditious nature of
matter that appeared in the native Press, more particularly
referring to the Proclamation published in the Durbin, a
paper I always read with the view of ascertaining the feel-
ings of the native public. The following is a translation of
the proclamation alluded to :—

“ To all Hindoos and Mahommedans, to the people at large
as well as to the servants of the State, from the officers of
the English army at Delhi and Meerut.

“ Liet it be known that the English had determined in
the first instance to deprive the sepoys of their religion with
a view to subsequently converting the whole of the people
to Christianity; on this account the Governor-General
ordered the 